NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY

Inhibition of Caspase Activation by Small Heat Shock Protein, HspB2

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFULLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Field of the

Integrated Graduate Program in the Life Sciences (IGP)

By

Shayna Emily Oshita

EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

December 2007

© Copyright by Shayna Emily Oshita 2007

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Inhibition of Caspase Activation by the Small Heat Shock Protein, HspB2

Shayna Emily Oshita

HspB2 was discovered as a chaperone of muscular dystrophy protein kinase (DMPK) and originally named, DMPK binding protein (MKBP) and presently called HspB2. Functionally, MKBP binds to DMPK and stabilizes its kinase activity, thereby accelerating the progression of muscular dystrophy. Although other binding partners of HspB2 have been found, the MKBP-DMPK interaction is only case where the function of HspB2 has been carefully analyzed. As one of ten small heat shock proteins, HspB2 shares high homology to both Hsp27 and aBcrystallin. These and other heat shock proteins have been shown to accelerate breast cancer progression through inhibition of apoptosis. In contrast to Hsp27 and αB-crystallin, the role of HspB2 in apoptosis has not been examined. The work detailed in this dissertation establishes a new anti-apoptotic function of HspB2 in a breast cancer model. Overexpression of HspB2 results in a novel inhibition of apoptosis in breast cancer cell lines shown by nuclear morphology assays and FACS analysis when stimulated with TRAIL or TNFa. In correlation with in vitro experiments, expression of HspB2 confers resistance to xenograft tumor regression following treatment with TRAIL. Inhibition of both upstream and downstream caspases was demonstrated by fluorogenic caspase activity assays and western blotting of TRAIL treated cells expressing

HspB2. In contrast, mitochondrial cytochrome c release measured by western blotting and ELISA was not prevented by expression of HspB2. Furthermore, the presence of HspB2 conferred partial protection from apoptosis induced by tBid expression. These experiments aided in defining an anti-apoptotic function for HspB2 in downstream caspase inhibition. These results suggest that HspB2 may associate with caspase-3, subsequently inhibiting apoptosis. In summary, HspB2 expression in breast cancer cells inhibits apoptosis induced by extrinsic pathway stimulants and this anti-apoptotic activity has been mapped to caspases downstream of the mitochondria. These studies describe a novel anti-apoptotic function for HspB2 as an inhibitor of caspases in breast cancer.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FIGURES		10
ABBREVIAT	TIONS	12
ACKNOWLE	EDGMENTS	16
1. INTRODU	JCTION	19
1.1	APOPTOSIS	19
1.2	CASPASES	22
1.3	TRAIL AS AN ACTIVATOR OF THE EXTRINSIC PATHWAY	26
	1.3.1 TRAIL as a Therapeutic Agent	
1.4	THE INTRINSIC PATHWAY AND THE BCL-2 FAMILY	31
1.5	INHIBITORS OF APOPTOSIS	
1.6	HEAT SHOCK PROTEINS	
	1.6.1 Hsp 90	
	1.6.2 Hsp 70	42
1.7	SMALL HEAT SHOCK PROTEINS	42
	1.7.1 Hsp 27	43
	1.7.2 αB-crystallin	45
1.8	HspB2-MKBP	46
	1.8.1 Myotonic Dystrophy	47
	1.8.2 HspB2 Binding Partners	49

		1.8.3 HspB2 Localization	51
		1.8.4 HspB2 Regulation	53
2. N	MATERIA	ALS AND METHODS	57
	2.1	CELL CULTURE	57
	2.2	ANTIBODIES AND REAGENTS	58
	2.3	EXPRESSION AND PURIFICATION OF TRAIL	59
	2.4	CLONING OF CONSTRUCTS	60
		2.4.1 FLAG-tagged cDNAs	60
		2.4.2 pSUPER.RETRO.PURO.GFP vector plasmid	61
		2.4.3 HspB2 shRNAs	62
	2.5	STABLE TRANSFECTIONS	63
		2.5.1 MDA-MB-231 Flag-tagged cell lines	
		2.5.2 T47D HspB2 null cell lines	64
	2.6	MEASUREMENT OF APOPTOSIS BY TIMECOURSE AND FACS ANALYSIS	64
		2.6.1 TRAIL and TNFα	64
		2.6.2 Etoposide, doxorubicin, and staurosporine	
	2.7	ANALYSIS OF XENOGRAFT TUMOR GROWTH IN RESPONSE TO TRAIL	
	2.8	MEASUREMENT OF CASPASE ACTIVATION WITH IETD AND DEVD Fluorogenic Assays	67
	2.9	CASPASE CLEAVAGE ANALYSIS BY WESTERN BLOTTING	67
	2.10	MEASUREMENT OF CYTOCHROME C RELEASE	68

	2.10.1 Western blotting	68
	2.10.2 ELISA	69
2.11	ANALYSIS OF APOPTOSIS INDUCED BY TBID TRANSIENT TRANSFECTION	70
2.12	IMMUNOPRECIPITATION OF THE TRAIL DISC	70
2.13	MEASUREMENT OF HSPB2-INDUCED PROTEIN EXPRESSION BY BD POWERBLOT	71
2.14	Expression of HspB2 in a Panel of Cancer Cell Lines	72
2.15	EXPRESSION OF HSPB2 IN T47D CELLS TRANSFECTED WITH HSPB2 SHRNA	73
2.16	Statistical Analysis	74

3.	RESULTS		75
	3.1	HspB2 IS NOT XPRESSED IN TRAIL-RESISTANT BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	75
	3.2	ECTOPIC OVEREXPRESSION OF HSPB2 IN MDA-MB-231 CELLS CONFERS PROTECTION AGAINST TRAIL-INDUCED APOPTOSIS	77
		3.2.1 HspB2 inhibition against TRAIL-induced apoptosis by timecourse	77
		3.2.2 HspB2 inhibition against TRAIL-induced apoptosis by FACS	77
	3.3	EXPRESSION OF HSPB2 DELAYS REGRESSION OF TUMOR GROWTH IN VIVO	81
	3.4	Ectopic overexpression of HspB2 in MDA-MB-231 cells confers protection $TNF\alpha$ -induced apoptosis	83
		3.4.1 HspB2 inhibition against TNFα -induced apoptosis by timecourse	83
		3.4.2 HspB2 inhibition against TNFα -induced apoptosis by FACS	85
	3.5	ECTOPIC OVEREXPRESSION OF HSPB2 INHIBITS FLUOROGENIC CASPASE ACTIVATION	85

		3.5.1	HspB2 inhibits caspase-8 activity (IETD)	85
		3.5.2	HspB2 inhibits caspase-3 activity (DEVD)	87
	3.6	WESTE CLEAV	ERN BLOTTING ANALYSIS SHOWS DELAY OF BROAD CASPASE AGE BY HSPB2	90
	3.7	HSPB2	HAS NO EFFECT ON CHEMOTHERAPY-INDUCED APOPTOSIS	92
		3.7.1	Etoposide-induced apoptosis	93
		3.7.2	Doxorubicin-induced apoptosis	93
		3.7.3	Staurosporine-induced apoptosis	96
	3.8	HSPB2	EFAILS TO PREVENT MITOCHONDRIAL RELEASE OF CYTOCHROME C	96
		3.8.1	Cytochrome c release measured by western blotting	96
		3.8.2	Cytochrome c release measured by ELISA	98
	3.9	HSPB2	2 INHIBITS TBID-INDUCED APOPTOSIS	101
	3.10	TRAII	L-DISC IMMUNOPRECIPITATION	101
4. DIS	CUSSI	ON		104
	4.1	A new	role for HspB2 in apoptosis	104
	4.2	HspB2	confers protection against apoptosis by extrinsic pathway stimuli	105
	4.3	Inhibit	ion of caspase-3 by HspB2	108
	4.4	HspB2	2 inhibits downstream caspase activation	111
	4.5	HspB2	2 and αB -crystallin	116
	4.6	Potent	ial alternative mechanisms for HspB2 in apoptosis	119
		4.6.1	Upstream apoptotic inhibition by HspB2	119

	4.6.2 stimul	Differential inhibition of apoptosis by HspB2 in response to various	21
	4.6.3	HspB2 inhibition of caspase-21	22
	4.6.4	Phosphorylation of HspB2 and the p38/JNK pathway12	24
	4.6.5	HspB2 and a non-caspase protease1	27
4.7	Silenc	ring HspB212	27
4.8	Concl	usion1	31

FIGURES

BACKGROUND

Figure 1	Apoptotic Signaling Pathways	.21
Figure 2	Basic Caspase Structure	.24
Figure 3	Bcl-2 Family Proteins	.33

RESULTS

Figure 4	HspB2 protein expression in breast cancer cell lines	76
Figure 5	HspB2 inhibits TRAIL-induced apoptosis measured by timecourse analysis	78
Figure 6	HspB2 inhibits TRAIL-induced apoptosis measured by FACS analysis	80
Figure 7	HspB2 inhibits the anti-tumor effects of TRAIL in vivo	82
Figure 8	HspB2 inhibits TNFα-induced apoptosis measured by timecourse analysis	84
Figure 9	HspB2 inhibits TNF α -induced apoptosis measured by FACS analysis	86
Figure 10	Ectopically expressed HspB2 confers resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis at the level of caspase-8	86
Figure 11	Ectopically expressed HspB2 confers resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis at the level of caspase-3	89
Figure 12	HspB2 inhibits TRAIL-induced activation of initiator and effector caspases.	91
Figure 13	HspB2 does not inhibit apoptosis induced by Etoposide	94
Figure 14	HspB2 does not inhibit apoptosis induced by Doxorubicin	95
Figure 15	HspB2 does not inhibit apoptosis induced by Staurosporine	97

Figure 16	HspB2 overexpression does not prevent release of mitochondrial proteins	99
Figure 17	HspB2 fails to prevent cytochrome c release by ELISA	100
Figure 18	Apoptotic inhibition by HspB2 is differentially affected by active Bid	102

DISCUSSION

Figure 19	Hypothetical interaction of HspB2 with Caspase-3	109
Figure 20	Endogenous expression of HspB2 in cancer cell lines	118
Figure 21	Expression of HspB2 Increases Protein Expression of p38	128
Figure 22	Silencing of HspB2 in T47D breast cancer cells also causes deletion of α B-crystallin	130
Figure 23	Proposed mechanism of action for HspB2	132

ABBREVIATIONS

AIF	apoptosis inducing factor
APAF-1	apoptotic peptidase activating factor 1
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BAD	bcl-2 antagonist of cell death
BAG	bcl-2 associated athanogene
BAK	bcl-2 homologous antagonist/killer
BAX	bcl-2 associated X protein
BCL-2	b-cell leukemia/lymphoma 2
BCL-x _L	b-cell leukemia/lymphoma X _L
ВН	bcl-2 homology domain
CAD	caspase activated deoxyribonuclease
CARD	caspase Recruitment Domain
CLK4	cdc2/cdc28-like 4
CDM	congenital muscular dystrophy
DcR1/2	decoy receptor 1/2
DD	death domain
DED	death effector domain
DISC	death inducing signaling complex
DKO	double knock out
DM	myotonic dystrophy

DMPK	.myotonic	dystroph	y protein	kinase
			J F	

- DMS.....dimethylsuberimidate
- DR.....death receptor
- EDTA.....ethylene-diamine-tetra-acetic acid
- EGF.....epidermal growth factor
- ER....estrogen receptor
- FADD.....fas associated death domain
- FLIP.....FLICE-inhibitory protein
- FRET.....fluorescence resonance energy transfer
- GFP.....green fluorescent protein
- GM.....geldamycin
- GST.....glutathione S-transferase
- HEK.....human embryonic kidney
- HER-2.....human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
- HOP.....hsp70/hsp90 organizing protein
- HSE.....heat shock response element
- HSP.....heat shock protein
- HTT.....huntingtin protein
- IAP.....inhibitor of apoptosis protein
- ICAD.....inhibitor of caspase activated deoxyribonuclease
- IGFBP-3.....insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3
- JNK.....jun n-terminal kinase

LIT.....lymphocyte inhibitor of tnf receptor apoptosis inducing ligand

- MAPK.....mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MAPKAP.....mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein
- MKBP.....myotonic dystrophy protein kinase binding protein
- MM.....multiple myeloma
- MPT.....mitochondrial pore transition
- NaSCN.....sodium thiocyanate
- NFκB.....nuclear factor kappa b
- OPG.....osteoprogesterone
- PARP.....poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase
- PBS.....phosphate-buffered saline
- PKC.....protein kinase c
- PLAD.....preligand assembly domain
- PMSF.....phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride
- PROMM.....proximal myotonic myopathy
- RIP.....receptor interacting protein
- RIPA.....radio immunoprecipitation assay
- RPTC..... renal proximal tubule cells
- SDS-PAGE.....sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- SMAC/DIABLO.....second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase/direct inhibitor of apoptosis-binding protein with low pI
- TNF.....tumor necrosis factor
- TNFR.....tumor necrosis factor receptor

TR3/4	tumor necrosis-related apoptosis inducing ligand receptor
TRADD	tumor necrosis-related associated death domain
TRAIL	tumor necrosis-related apoptosis inducing ligand
TRAILR	tumor necrosis-related apoptosis inducing ligand receptor

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I have been very fortunate to know many wonderful and inspiring people. Each person I have met has taught me something about life and has helped me along the way to this important accomplishment. First I would like to thank Karen Schenewerk, my ninth grade biology teacher. She was the first teacher to impress upon me the many aspects of science such as the very challenging task of making a viral capsid from a corsage box and pipe cleaners and my very first mammalian dissection. She is responsible for instigating my interest in biology which continues to this day. I would also like to thank Dr. Edward Roy from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. He opened up his lab to me and introduced me to laboratory life. Many hours were spent talking, laughing, and agonizing over mouse surgeries, tail vein injections, and cryosectioning. My experience in his lab led to me to pursue my Ph.D. here at Northwestern University.

In my time at Northwestern I have learned a great deal pertaining both to science and to life. I would like to thank Steve Anderson for helping to make the transition to graduate school smooth and simple. Although I didn't attend as many IGP functions as I wanted, I will always remember the Halloween parties. Aside from the social functions, I greatly appreciate him taking the time to listen and giving helpful advice when I needed it. Thank you to my committee members Nav Chandel, Honglin Li, Chung Lee, and Rick Morimoto, who provided much needed support and guidance throughout my graduate study.

Thank you to the Endocrinology division and all the Cryns lab members both past and present. You have made my time here memorable. To Vince, thank you for accepting me into your lab and providing me with valuable knowledge that will help me in my future. Having good relationships with your co-workers is a blessing and you have created a working environment full of wonderful people that have made my time in the lab both challenging and very enjoyable. I also greatly appreciate your compassion and concern when I was diagnosed with diabetes. You made sure I had the best care and sent me to Mary Gillam who has been a tremendous asset and friend. I would like to extend a heartfelt thanks to Fruma who spent many hours working with me trying to make sense of confusing data and giving much needed assistance. Thank you also for instilling in me the importance of being proactive and to "just do it." You are a tremendous asset and I greatly appreciate all of the time you have spent with me. Thank you to Meri Krevosky, for being a friend and for guiding me through my first experiments in the lab. To Joe, Josh, and Mike, you always made the lab a fun and enjoyable place. Thank you also for your helpful scientific advice and willingness to put blots in the cold room or media in the water bath to save me a commute downtown. To Jose, thank you for your constant assistance with the confocal microscope and for painfully bearing my attempts at speaking Spanish. I promise one day I will be able to have a conversation with you. I am forever grateful to Feng for your willingness to help me and always being a source of optimism and tranquility. To Jaime, Erin, Jennifer, Rhonda, Christy, and Emily, thank you for your friendship and for your help with trouble shooting when science "got hard." To Anne, thank you for your exhaustive work characterizing the cancer cell lines. You were always there for experimental idea pingpong and helping me trouble shoot with your impressive grasp of scientific techniques and

familiarization with every paper known to man, you are a wonderful friend. You are always there to listen and share your experiences. I could not have made it through the years without you.

I would especially like to thank my family. I am very fortunate to have parents and a wonderful sister who love me for who I am and support me in whatever I choose to do. They are always on my side and are willing to lend a helping hand, ear, or car whenever I need it. Finally I would like to thank Jordan. Although you rarely understand when I tell you about my experiments, you still listen and try to help. A great deal has happened since I began graduate school; moving, adoption of many cats, diabetes, and career changes just to name a few. These were much easier to withstand because you were there for me. Thank you for your unending love and devotion.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Apoptosis

Apoptosis or programmed cell death has a wide variety of functions both in normal development and in disease. Under normal physiologic conditions, apoptosis ensures proper development by removing interdigital mesenchymal cells to shape limbs as well as maintaining the immune system through removal of activated T-cells (Chen and Zhao, 1998; Danial and Korsmeyer, 2004; Ellis and Horvitz, 1986; Schultz and Harrington, 2003; Vaux and Strasser, 1996). Early apoptotic studies conducted in *Caenorhabditis elegans* revealed an elegant system of checks and balances regulating development (Ellis and Horvitz, 1986). Four proteins comprise this system: the pro-apoptotic proteins, Egl-1, Ced-3, and Ced-4, and anti-apoptotic protein, Ced-9. These proteins are homologous to mammalian apoptotic BH3-only proteins, caspases, Apaf-1, and Bcl-2 proteins respectively. Egl-1 interacts with anti-apoptotic Ced-9 which is bound to Ced-4 (Chinnaiyan et al., 1997b; Conradt and Horvitz, 1998). This interaction releases Ced-4 which activates Ced-3 and leads to apoptosis (Chinnaiyan et al., 1997a; Chinnaiyan et al., 1997b; Yuan et al., 1993). Mammalian cells posses a more complex system with multiple caspases and survival proteins (Strasser et al., 2000). Apoptosis also differentially affects disease progression. In neurological disorders, an increase in the rate of apoptosis leads to a poor prognosis (Friedlander, 2003). For example, Huntington's Disease is a neurological disorder caused by an expanded CAG repeat in the huntingtin protein (Htt) which is a major antiapoptotic protein in the brain (Pattison et al., 2006). Accumulation of these CAG repeats in Htt

results in the loss of its protective effects and apoptosis ensues to contribute to decreased motor skills, memory, and speech (Pattison et al., 2006). In many types of carcinoma, the lack of apoptotic activity seems to increase the severity of tumorigenesis by maintaining mutated proteins such as p53 and c-Myc, when they should targeted for removal (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; Jaattela, 1999).

The majority of apoptosis occurs through the activation of two different mechanisms activated by different stimuli. The extrinsic pathway responds to external cellular stimuli and is dependent on ligand binding to a receptor, whereas the intrinsic pathway is ligand independent and is activated by internal signals such as DNA damage or heat stress (Fig 1). The ligands of the extrinsic pathway are all members of the TNF superfamily (Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1999). The most studied receptor-ligand pair is Fas/CD95/Apo-1 and Fas ligand/Apo-1L respectively. Another well studied ligand is TNFa which can bind to its TNF receptor-1 (TNFR-1) and TNFarelated apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) that binds to its corresponding receptors, DR4 and DR5 (LeBlanc and Ashkenazi, 2003). Ligand binding results in receptor trimerization and subsequent activation. A death domains (DD) located on the internal portion of the receptor recruits adaptor molecules, TRADD (TNFα associated death domain) and FADD (Fas associated death domain), to the cell surface via protein-protein interactions. These adaptor proteins contain death effector domains which attract monomeric molecules of apical procaspases to the cell surface (Tibbetts et al., 2003). The protein complex of death-inducing ligand, death receptor, adaptor molecules, and apical caspases is known as the DISC or death inducing signaling complex (Medema et al., 1997). FasL and TRAIL bind to their respective receptors



Figure 1: Apoptotic signaling pathways.

The two main pathways of apoptosis are the extrinsic pathway, which uses cell surface receptors, and the internally triggered intrinsic pathway. An additional pathway is also activated via cell surface receptors, but signals through Daxx, Ask-1, and JNK, and is caspase independent.

and recruit adaptor protein FADD in order to form the DISC. Alternatively, TNFα and its receptor have the ability to interact with two adaptor proteins, FADD or TRADD. The canonical pathway of TNFα signaling involves TNFα interacting with its receptor, TNFR-1, which then recruits the adaptor protein TRADD. TRADD then recruits RIP, TRAF2, and FADD which can associate with apical caspase-8 (Chen and Goeddel, 2002). The last step in this pathway is the direct cleavage and activation of downstream effector caspases such as caspase-3 by apical caspases. The active effector caspases then induce degradation of many cellular substrates. Two well characterized caspase substrates are the inhibitor of caspase-activated deoxyribonuclease (ICAD) which releases CAD nuclease and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) (Enari et al., 1998; Kaufmann et al., 1993; Tewari et al., 1995). The targeting of nuclear substrates initiates apoptosis. Internal destruction of cellular contents instigates cell shrinkage and rounding. This is followed by one of hallmarks of apoptosis, condensation of the cell's nucleus. The cellular contents are broken down into small contained apoptotic bodies and are cleared from the body by phagocytosis.

1.2 CASPASES

Caspases (<u>cysteine-aspartic-acid-proteases</u>) are the effectors of the apoptotic cascade. Produced as catalytically inactive zymogens, they become activated at specific aspartic acid residues and cleave their downstream targets, usually additional caspases, resulting in a caspase cascade. Thus far, there are 14 known mammalian caspases named caspases -1 through -14. Although each of these caspases has a unique role, Zheng and colleagues have provided evidence of functional compensation of caspases -2, -6, and -7 upon deletion of caspases -3 and -9 in hepatocytes from mice (Zheng et al., 2000). Knockout mice of caspases -1, -2, -7, -11, or -12 are still viable, and more importantly, they display minimal developmental apoptotic defects giving further evidence for caspase compensation (Bergeron et al., 1998; Kuida et al., 1995; Kuida et al., 1996; Lakhani et al., 2006; Li et al., 1995; Nakagawa et al., 2000; Wang et al., 1998). Caspase-7 knockout mice show a normal phenotype, suggesting that caspase-3 is sufficient for development (Lakhani et al., 2006). Mice null for caspase-3 live to about three weeks of age, but have neurological morphology defects thus has a greater importance in apoptosis (Kuida et al., 1996). Simultaneous deletion of caspase-3 and caspase-7 removes this compensation, resulting in an embryonic lethal phenotype (Lakhani et al., 2006). Caspase-8 or caspase-9 null mice have severe developmental defects and are embryonic lethal (Hakem et al., 1998; Lakhani et al., 2006; Varfolomeev et al., 1998). Mice without caspase-8 expression are embryonic lethal and display severe defects in heart musculature similar to that of caspase-3 and caspase-7 double knock out mice (Lakhani et al., 2006; Varfolomeev et al., 1998). Deletion of caspase-9 in mice results in embryonic lethality in addition to perturbations in brain development (Hakem et al., 1998).

The caspase family can be divided into two groups based on function. Caspases -1, -4, -5, -11, -12, -14 primarily operate in cytokine development (Strasser et al., 2000). Caspases -2, -3, -6, -7, -8, -9, and -10 have pivotal roles in the two main pathways of apoptosis. These can be further subdivided into initiator and effector caspases (Fig 2). Initiator caspases function as monomers containing long prodomains and either death effector domains (DED), as in caspases-



Figure 2: Basic Caspase Structure

Caspases-8 and -10 contain two death effector domains (DED). Caspases-2 and -9 each contain a caspase recruitment domain (CARD). Effector caspases do not contain either DEDs or CARDs and are activated by initiator caspases. 8 and -10, or caspase recruitment domains (CARD), as in caspase-2 and -9 (Hengartner, 2000;
Shi, 2002). Effector caspases -3, -6, and -7, act as dimers, contain significantly shorter
prodomains, lack DED or CARD domains, and have no intrinsic proteolytic activity (Shi, 2002).

The DISC attracts multiple molecules of the proform of apical caspases-8 and -10. The mechanism of apical caspase activation is controversial. One school of thought is that caspase cleavage is sufficient for caspase activation (Chang et al., 2003). However, other evidence supports a model that caspase cleavage is not necessary for activation. The induced proximity model, originally introduced by Salvensen and Dixit, states that apical caspases are activated by the DISC due to the congregation of the apical caspase homodimers (Salvesen and Dixit, 1999). Although this theory has been disputed over the years, Boatright and colleagues have revisited the induced clustering of initiator caspases (Boatright et al., 2003). They found that dimerization was necessary for activation of caspase-8 through the use of kosmotropes, salts which stabilize protein structure. Furthermore, they demonstrated that in contrast to popular belief, activation can be induced in the absence of cleavage. In this experiment, a processed caspase-8 was unable to bind to an affinity agent designed to capture active caspases. In addition, cleaved caspase-8 mutants that were dimerization defective failed to activate apoptosis thus understating the importance of caspase cleavage (Boatright et al., 2003). It is important to note that these findings are dependent on the formation of the DISC to activate caspase-8. Sohn and colleagues have demonstrated that upon mitochondrial activation of effector caspases -3 and -6, caspase-8 can be cleaved and activated without dimerization by the effector caspases (Sohn et al., 2005). Unlike the apical caspases, the downstream effector caspases exist as homodimeric units and are

activated via proteolytic cleavage (Shi, 2002). However, regardless of method of activation, both initiator and effector caspases require dimerization for activation by classical mechanisms (Liu et al., 2005).

1.3 TRAIL AS AN ACTIVATOR OF THE EXTRINSIC PATHWAY

The cytokine TRAIL (tumor necrosis-related apoptosis inducing ligand), is a member of the TNF α superfamily (Pitti et al., 1996). It is normally expressed by immune natural killer (NK) and T cells, on lymphocyte cell surfaces, and by some cancer cells (Jeremias et al., 1998; Pennica et al., 1984; Pitti et al., 1996; Walczak et al., 1999; Wiley et al., 1995). TRAIL binds five known receptors: two of these are signaling competent, DR4 (TRAIL-R1/TR1) and DR5 (TRAIL-R2/TR5), while the other two receptors display a close homology to DR4 and DR5, but have a decoy function (Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1998; Kischkel et al., 2000; Pan et al., 1997; Walczak et al., 1997). DcR1 (TRAIL-R3/LIT/TRID/TR3) is lacking the transmembrane and death domains while DcR2 (TRAIL-R4/TRUNDD/TR4) retains the transmembrane domain, yet has a truncated death domain (Degli-Esposti et al., 1997a; Degli-Esposti et al., 1997b; Sheridan et al., 1997). Thus, both decoy receptors maintain the ability to bind their ligands; however, without the intact, functional death domain, neither receptor can signal or induce apoptosis. The fifth TRAIL receptor is known as Osteoprotegerin (OPG) and also functions as a decoy receptor (Emery et al., 1998). OPG functions mainly in the bone and increases bone density via inhibition of osteoclastogenesis. Decoy receptors are believed to bind the TRAIL ligand via death domains and prevent formation of the DISC by inhibiting adaptor protein association.

While this function is evident for DcR1 and OPG, a recent study has suggested that DcR2 does not bind to TRAIL, but to DR5 through N-terminal interactions in a TRAIL-independent manner (Clancy et al., 2005). This TRAIL-DR5 complex is formed by interaction of preligand assembly domains (PLADs) with both active and decoy TRAIL receptors. This complex formed independent of ligand binding and prevented the active TRAIL receptor from signaling. Using PLAD deletion mutants and protein interaction studies in Jurkat T cells and 293 fibroblasts a new mechanism was proposed for receptor regulation of TRAIL-induced apoptosis independent of ligand binding (Clancy et al., 2005).

Following functional receptor engagement by TRAIL, formation of the TRAIL DISC begins. Caspase-8 and caspase-10 are recruited to the DISC (Sprick et al., 2002). However, caspase-10 is not a fully functional substitute for caspase-8 in signaling downstream caspases revealing a possible difference in function and signaling (Sprick et al., 2002). This data was contradicted by a different group which found that only caspase-8 was recruited to the TRAIL DISC (Bodmer et al., 2000). Nevertheless, both studies observed caspase-8 recruitment to the TRAIL DISC for subsequent activation (Seol et al., 2001). Similar to FasL, TRAIL signals through the extrinsic pathway by way of FADD to trigger apoptosis. This step has been disputed as the need for FADD to bind both TRAIL receptors is controversial (Harper et al., 2003a; Pan et al., 1997). DR4 does not associate with FADD upon TRAIL stimulation as seen by immunoprecipitation in human embryonic 293 cells; however it is required in MCF-7 breast cancer cells (Pan et al., 1997). Similar experimental studies provided evidence that FADD was

dispensable for TNF-induced DISC formation using DISC immunoprecipitation in Jurkat cells (Harper et al., 2003a).

Downstream of DISC assembly, TRAIL induction of apoptosis also requires mitochondrial proteins. Mitochondrial signaling requires Bax although there is no need for Bak in HCT116 human colon carcinoma lines that are stimulated with TRAIL (LeBlanc et al., 2002). A recent study reveals a novel mechanism for TRAIL-induced mitochondrial protein release. TRAIL activation of caspase-8 or caspase-3 in wild type HCT116 cells induces a degradation of anti-apoptotic Mcl-1 which normally sequesters pro-apoptotic Bim and prevents it from activating Bax (Han et al., 2006). Degradation of Mcl-1 releases Bim to activate Bax and subsequent release of mitochondrial contents (Han et al., 2006). However, TRAIL treatment of HCT116 cells null for Bax increases expression of anti-apoptotic proteins, Mcl-1 and cIAP2 (inhibitor of apoptosis) (Ricci et al., 2007). c-Myc expression increases TRAIL-induced apoptosis in Bax null HCT116 cells through inhibition of Mcl-1 and cIAP2 protein expression (Ricci et al., 2007).

1.3.1 TRAIL as a Therapeutic Agent

While there are many death receptor stimuli of apoptosis, some such as Fas and TNF α have toxic side effects precluding their usage as a therapy for cancer. TRAIL exhibits tremendous potential as a cancer therapy drug given its ability to induce apoptosis almost exclusively in cancer cells and not in normal cells (Marsters et al., 1996; Pitti et al., 1996; Wiley

et al., 1995). TRAIL also displays limited systemic toxicity in normal tissues making it an attractive target for cancer therapy (Ashkenazi et al., 1999; Kelley and Ashkenazi, 2004; LeBlanc and Ashkenazi, 2003; Walczak et al., 1999). Although TRAIL is very effective in many types of cancer cell lines, most breast cancer cell lines are resistant to its effects. The reason behind this resistance remains undetermined. It has been proposed that activation of the protein kinase C (PKC)-mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway can inhibit TRAILinduced apoptosis through a variety of mechanisms ranging from recruitment of apical caspases to post mitochondrial activities (Harper et al., 2003b; Meng et al., 2002; Soderstrom et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2003). Recent work shows that activation of the PKC-MAPK pathway prevents the mitochondrial translocation Bid, a necessary step in Bid activation, in response to TRAIL stimulation in MCF-7 cells (Ortiz-Ferron et al., 2006). Stimulation with epidermal growth factor (EGF) in HEK 293 and MDA MB 231 cells caused an inhibition of cytochrome c release in response to TRAIL treatment although the exact mechanism was not determined (Gibson et al., 2002). In colon cancer, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 (IGFBP-3) increases TRAIL-induced apoptosis via inhibition of NFkB signaling (Williams et al., 2007). Thus determining how to sensitize cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis is a pertinent issue for the cancer biology community.

Currently, a soluble, recombinant form of TRAIL (PRO1762) is in phase I clinical trials (Genentech, San Francisco, CA; Amgen, Thousand Oaks, CA). TRAIL has been shown to inhibit growth and induce cytotoxicity in many human tumor cell lines (Ashkenazi et al., 1999; Gazitt et al., 1999; Keane et al., 1999). Studies in breast carcinoma lines showed induction of

apoptosis when doxorubicin was used in conjunction with TRAIL treatment (Keane et al., 1999). Using multiple myeloma (MM) cell lines and cells isolated directly from myeloma patients, treatment with TRAIL-induced apoptosis and demonstrated no cytotoxicity in hematopoietic stem cells (Gazitt, 1999). Scheduled treatment of cynomolgus monkeys with recombinant TRAIL showed no lypmphatotoxicity or hepatotoxicity in addition to leukocyte count and serum chemistry over seven days (Ashkenazi et al., 1999). Taken together, these preclinical studies demonstrate the potential of TRAIL as a cancer therapeutic.

Presently, there is promising work being done with human agonistic monoclonal antibodies designed to bind the TRAIL receptors DR4 and DR5. Targeting the DR4 receptor, HGS-ETR1 (mapatumumab; Human Genome Sciences, Rockville, MD), is currently in phase II trials and its effectiveness has been demonstrated in carcinomas from a wide variety of tissues (Pukac et al., 2005). HGS-ETR1 induces apoptosis via both extrinsic and intrinsic pathways in lymphoma cell line ST486 and colon cancer cell line SW480 by binding to DR4 (Pukac et al., 2005). In addition, combinatorial antibody treatment with chemotherapy induced apoptosis in ES2 ovarian and TTn oesophageal cell lines that were not sensitive to HGS-ETR1 alone. Lung, renal, and colon xenograft tumor models were subjected to treatment with HGS-ETR1, which displays a long half life and caused a reduction of growth in these tumor models. Overall, HGS-ETR1 has been shown to be effective both in vitro and in vivo. The agonistic antibodies toward DR5, HGS-ETR2 and HGS-TR2J (Human Genome Sciences, Rockville, MD) have been analyzed in phase I trials and have yielded promising results. HGS-ETR2 induces apoptosis in a variety of primary and cultured lymphoma cell lines (Georgakis et al., 2005). In combination with doxorubicin or bortezomib, the killing was enhanced in both Jurkat and Hodgkin's lymphoma HD-LM2 cell lines (Georgakis et al., 2005). This apoptotic induction was independent of receptor, Bax, caspase-8, and cFLIP expression. Similar findings have also been shown in colorectal cancer. Marini and co workers use both colorectal tumors and cell lines to analyze the effects of the HGS-ETR2 agonistic antibody on apoptosis (Marini et al., 2006). They demonstrated that the antibody was able to effectively induce apoptosis alone, and this effect was increased in combination with radiation therapy. In both of these studies, the HGS-ETR1 agonistic antibody was also analyzed and similar results were found in this case. In addition, the two antibodies were tested in combination with each other, although this did not yield significant changes in apoptosis compared to the individual antibodies. Given these results, the agonistic TRAIL antibody has excellent potential as a therapeutic agent used alone or even more promising, to be used in conjunction with chemotherapy.

1.4 THE INTRINSIC PATHWAY AND THE BCL-2 FAMILY

Whereas the extrinsic pathway is dependent on external signals in order to function, the intrinsic apoptotic pathway is induced by DNA damage or other cellular stresses, such as heat stress or hypoxia. These stressors induce the translocation of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members, Bax and Bak, to the mitochondrial membrane through an unknown mechanism (Scorrano and Korsmeyer, 2003). Once in the membrane, Bax and Bak cause a release of mitochondrial proteins such as cytochrome c, Smac/DIABLO (second mitochondria-derived activator of caspases/direct IAP binding protein with low pl), Omi/HtrA2, and AIF (apoptosis

inducing factors) through a complex mechanism which remains poorly understood (Du et al., 2000; Liu et al., 1996; Lorenzo et al., 1999; Susin et al., 1999; Susin et al., 1996; Verhagen et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2003).

The Bcl-2 family of proteins are fundamental regulators of apoptosis. This family is divided into three groups based on the number of the Bcl-2 (B-cell leukemia/lymphoma protein 2) homology (BH) domains: the anti-apoptotic, the pro-apoptotic, and the BH3-only groups (Fig 3) (Danial and Korsmeyer, 2004). The most well studied anti-apoptotic members, Bcl-2, Bcl- x_L , and Mcl-1, contain all four Bcl-2 homology domains. These proteins inhibit apoptosis through the intrinsic pathway by interfering with the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members, Bax and Bak, thereby preventing the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria.

In contrast to the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members, the pro-apoptotic proteins function to aid in the release of cytochrome c and other mitochondrial proteins subsequently leading to cell death. The pro-apoptotic members of the family consist of two groups: the multidomain proteins (MDP) and the BH3-only proteins. The multidomain proteins, Bax and Bak, contain three of the four BH domains, BH1-BH3. The MDP are monomers which upon activation form homo- or hetero-oligomers that directly cause mitochondrial disruption and cytochrome c release (Antonsson et al., 2001; Reed, 2006; Wei et al., 2000). Early studies proposed that Bax and Bak form a pore in the mitochondrial membrane, thus disrupting the stability of the mitochondria and releasing its contents into the cell. A new theory states that the pro-apoptotic MDP members do not form an organized pore in the mitochondrial membrane, but



Figure 3: Bcl-2 Family Proteins

Bcl-2 homology (BH) domain map of anti- & pro-apoptotic proteins.

rather form polymer chains that can cause a random disruption and breakdown of the membrane (Kuwana et al., 2002). In accordance with this theory, anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL can bind to these polymers and terminate chain formation. The BH3-only domain members are so named since they contain only the BH3 domain. The exact mechanism for how these proteins regulate the multidomain proteins has yet to be defined. One view divides this group into activators and sensitizers/derepressors. In this scenario, the cell's default action is to survive. The activators Bid, Bim, and in some cases Puma have the ability to directly activate the MDP protein Bax and Bak (Certo et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2006; Kuwana et al., 2005). Peptides corresponding to the BH3-only regions of activator and derepressor proteins showed that activator peptides could induce Bax oligomerization and cytochrome c release in vitro (Kuwana et al., 2002). Peptides to Bad could only induce Bax oligomerization in the presence of Bid (Kuwana et al., 2002). Taking these findings further, Certo and colleagues demonstrated that BH3-only proteins interact with specific anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family such as Bcl-2 and Mcl-1 (Certo et al., 2006). There are different sensitivity levels of peptide binding thus allowing displacement of the activator BH3-only proteins Bid and Bim from their antiapoptotic counterparts. According to this data, cells can be rendered sensitive to the effects of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members through selective binding of specific Bcl-2 proteins by their corresponding BH3-only proteins (Certo et al., 2006). Additional work using in vitro transcribed and translated BH3 proteins were incubated together showed that Bid, Bim, and Puma could directly activate mitochondrial release of cytochrome c whereas the derepressors Bad, Noxa, Bmf and others could not (Kim et al., 2006). Similar to the other studies, this group found that

these derepressor BH3 proteins could displace activator BH3s that were bound to antiapoptotic proteins (Kim et al., 2006).

Alternatively, it is thought that BH3-only proteins do not bind Bax and Bak at all. In this model, anti-apoptotic proteins are bound to Bax and Bak and BH3-only proteins bind antiapoptotic Bcl-2 thereby releasing Bax and Bak to oligomerize and ultimately induce apoptosis. Utilizing BH3 domain peptides, Willis and colleagues demonstrated that Bid, Bim, and Puma peptides either do not bind Bax at all, or weakly bind to Bax after a conformational change, while the interactions of these peptides with anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 are readily detected. Moreover, Bid and Bim induce apoptosis in the absence of Bax or Bak binding (Willis et al., 2007). They also showed that Noxa and Bad could cause apoptosis in the absence of Bid and Bim which contradicts the previous model. In further support, another group demonstrated that both activator and derepressor BH3-only peptides could trigger cytochrome c release equally (Uren et al., 2007). Mutations of the BH3 domain could attenuate the apoptotic activities of these peptides whereas combinations of Mcl-1 and Noxa or Bcl-X_L and Bad could induce apoptosis. Moreover, association of Bak with Mcl-1 and Bcl-X_L could be disrupted with the introduction of BH3 peptides (Uren et al., 2007). Although the first model is the favored mechanism for BH3only proteins, the second is gaining momentum, and together these studies enforce that this is a highly contested topic and that BH3-only proteins play a pivotal role in intrinsic pathway apoptosis.

While the mechanism of release of mitochondrial proteins is still being disputed, the end result remains that pro-apoptotic cytochrome c, Smac/DIABLO, Omi/HtrA2, and AIFs are released into the cytosol. Electron transport chain member, cytochrome c, is one of the major proteins released. The accumulation of cytochrome c in the cytoplasm attracts the scaffolding protein Apaf-1 (apoptotic protease-activating factor-1) through its WD40 domain (Zou et al., 1999). This causes an ATP-dependent conformational change resulting in the oligomerization of Apaf-1. Apaf-1 has a CARD domain which interacts with procaspase-9. This complex is known as the apoptosome and is essential for the enhanced activation of caspase-9. Activated caspase-9 cleaves caspase-3 into its active form. Aside from cytochrome c, other pro-apoptotic proteins released from the mitochondria are Smac/DIABLO and Omi/HtrA2 (Du et al., 2000; Verhagen et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2003). These proteins enhance apoptosis by sequestering IAPs (inhibitor of apoptosis proteins). Omi/HtrA2 translocates from the mitochondria to the nucleus to induces chromatin condensation (Lorenzo et al., 1999). Thus, all of these proteins contribute to the manifestation of apoptosis.

Although, the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways can function efficiently independent of one another, they are also closely linked by BH3-only protein, Bid. Although the two pathways are stimulated by very different mechanisms, the extrinsic pathway is able to activate the intrinsic pathway and amplify the effects of the apoptotic caspase cascade. Upon ligand binding to its death receptor, the DISC forms and caspase-8 is activated. Active caspase-8 cleaves and activates caspase-3; however, it can also cleave another Bcl-2 family member, Bid, into tBid (truncated Bid) causing its translocation to the mitochondrial membrane where it induces Bax
and Bak activity (Li et al., 1998). Once these proteins are activated, Smac/DIABLO and cytochrome c are released. Cytochrome c can then trigger apoptosome formation and subsequent activation of caspase-3.

1.5 INHIBITORS OF APOPTOSIS

Apoptosis is a tightly regulated process both by positive and negative regulators. There are several negative regulators of cell death. In the extrinsic pathway, c-FLIP (Flice inhibitory protein) binds the adaptor protein through a death effector domain and prevents DISC assembly and caspase activation. c-FLIP has three known isoforms all of which contain death effector domains; the full length, c-FLIP_L, and two shorter forms, c-FLIP_S and c-FLIP_R (Djerbi et al., 2001; Golks et al., 2005; Rasper et al., 1998). Both of the shorter isoforms of c-FLIP lack Cterminal signaling regions and therefore cannot activate apoptosis. c-FLIP_L has been shown to have both pro- and anti-apoptotic functions (Jin et al., 2004; Micheau et al., 2002; Sharp et al., 2005). Downstream of the mitochondria there are inhibitors of apoptosis (IAPs), specifically, XIAP (X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein) (Deveraux et al., 1997). XIAP acts to inhibit the activation of caspases-9, -3, and -7 by preventing cytochrome c release (Deveraux et al., 1999; Deveraux et al., 1998; Deveraux et al., 1997). Smac/DIABLO, which is released from the mitochondria upon membrane disruption binds to XIAP via its BIR (baculoviral IAP repeat) domain (Liu et al., 2000; Wu et al., 2000). This binding prevents XIAP from binding caspases and inhibiting their activation.

Heat shock proteins are involved in many aspects of physiology from cell growth to cell death. In *E. coli*, heat shock proteins DnaK, and Hsp70 homolog, releases λP to initiate DNA replication and in mice and HeLa cells, heat shock protein is increased prior to cellular proliferation (Pechan, 1991). Additionally, mammalian heat shock proteins Hsp27, Hsp70, and Hsp90 have been found to be active at different stages of the cell cycle and in promoting cell growth through association with proteins such as MAPK, Cdk4, and p53 (Helmbrecht et al., 2000). The more well known function of heat shock proteins is to act as chaperones by providing protection from cellular stresses such as heat and hypoxia. Hsp90 can sequester misfolded proteins until they are refolded by other heat shock proteins such as Hsp70 or destroyed. Heat shock proteins 70 and 90 have also been shown to be involved in cellular metabolism control by increasing kinase activity of other binding partners. There are six families of heat shock proteins which are categorized according to their molecular size: Hsp100, Hsp90, Hsp70, Hsp60, Hsp40, and the small heat shock proteins. Many of the larger heat shock proteins are dependent on their N-terminal ATPase domains for chaperone function (Prodromou et al., 1997). ATP hydrolysis is required for heat shock proteins to bind and release cochaperones and target misfolded proteins. In addition to their roles physiological role of maintaining protein structure, members of the Hsp family such as Hsp90 and Hsp70 have been implicated in disease states such as neurological diseases, myopathy, muscular dystrophy, and most notably, cancer.

Hsp90 has been extensively studied in cancer. One of its primary functions in cancer is to aid in self sufficient cancer cell growth by acting as a chaperone. Commonly, Hsp90 forms large molecular weight complexes in order to carry out this function such as the structure of Hsp90, Hsp70-40, Hop, and p23 (Pratt et al., 2004). Through these large complexes, Hsp90 acts as a chaperone to stabilize proteins thereby allowing continuous signaling to cell growth proteins like survival protein, Akt. Akt is activated in response to growth signals in the cell are held in their active conformation by Hsp90 (Neckers and Ivy, 2003; Pratt and Toft, 2003). In cancer cells, there is a higher affinity for Hsp90 to form complexes and signal to Akt than in normal cells (Kamal et al., 2003; Vilenchik et al., 2004). Hsp90 interacts with Akt in its phosphorylated form. It holds Akt and prevents its dephosphorylation and subsequent inactivation by phosphatase 2A (Sato et al., 2000). The requirement of Hsp90 for stability of protein kinases Akt, c-Src, and Raf-1 has linked Hsp90 to the stabilization of HER-2, a protein that has been linked to breast cancer (Neckers and Ivy, 2003). HER-2, a receptor tyrosine kinase, is expressed in 20-30% of breast cancers and its overexpression is indicative of poor prognosis (Press et al., 1997). It has also been shown that Hsp90 contributes to cancer by stabilizing the mutant forms of other proteins such as v-Src, Bcr-Abl, and p53 by stabilizing their mutant state (Neckers, 2002; Nimmanapalli et al., 2001). In addition to preventing protein degradation and stabilizing kinase activity in cancer cells, Hsp90 also promotes cancer cell progression by inhibiting apoptosis. Pandey and colleagues demonstrated that Hsp90 inhibits the intrinsic apoptotic pathway by sequestering Apaf-1 and preventing apoptosome formation resulting in failure to

activate downstream caspases (Pandey et al., 2000b). In tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-induced apoptosis, Hsp90 binds to and stabilizes RIP (receptor-interacting protein) thereby promoting activity of NF κ B (nuclear factor κ B) and cell survival (Lewis et al., 2000). Hsp90 also chaperones survivin, which has been shown to promote proliferation in cancer cells and prevent apoptosis (Fortugno et al., 2003). Caspase-9 and Bad, a Bcl-2 family member becomes inactive due to phosphorylation by Akt which is kept from degradation by Hsp90 (Cardone et al., 1998; Neckers and Ivy, 2003; Pratt and Toft, 2003). Hsp90 is also found to inhibit Bid cleavage and release of cytochrome c when NIH3T3 cells are stimulated with TNF α (Zhao and Wang, 2004).

In light of its role in cellular survival, Hsp90 is a promising drug target. Although there are many ways to inhibit Hsp90, the most promising inhibitors are those that bind its N-terminal ATP pocket (Chiosis, 2006). It is speculated that these inhibitors maintain their heat shock protein specificity due to the unique folding of an ATP pocket known as the Bergerat fold. This fold is not found in Hsp70 or other kinases (Chene, 2002). Ansamycin antibiotics (geldamycin (GM) and its derivatives 17AAG & 17DMAG) and Radicicols (KF55823, cycloproparadicicol) are the main Hsp90 N-terminal ATP pocket binding potential therapeutics (Isaacs et al., 2003; Neckers et al., 1999; Schulte et al., 1998; Stebbins et al., 1997). The derivatives of GM are currently in Phase I & II clinical trials. 17DMAG has the benefit of being water soluble and has potential to be used for oral administration (Kaur et al., 2004). However, 17AAG is being favored over GM due to its decreased hepatotoxicity (Solit et al., 2002). Hsp90 isolated from tumors has a higher affinity for 17AAG and another inhibitor PU24FC1 compared to Hsp90 from normal tissue (Kamal et al., 2003; Vilenchik et al., 2004). Additionally, tumor isolated

Hsp90 is already complexed to co-chaperones compared to solitary Hsp90 in normal tissues. Therefore, inhibitors can interfere with the formation of functional Hsp90 complexes, thus sensitizing cancer cells to cell death (Kamal et al., 2003; Vilenchik et al., 2004). Hsp90 inhibitors can induce expression of other heat shock proteins such as Hsp72 and Hsp27 (Zaarur et al., 2006). Zaarur and colleagues have found that using Emunin and NZ28 which inhibit both Hsp72 and 27 provide an additive effect to Hsp90 inhibitors' abilities to treat cancer (Zaarur et al., 2006).

Although Hsp90 is one of the main heat shock proteins targeted for potential therapeutics, it does not act alone. As stated earlier, Hsp90 forms large complexes with other heat shock proteins such as Hsp70, thus making Hsp70 an attractive drug target as well. Hsp90 and Hsp70 both contain a highly conserved C-terminal regulatory sequence, EEVD, which is imperative for binding in complex formations (Chen et al., 1998; Freeman et al., 1995). This conserved sequence is the binding site for the adaptor protein, Hop. Hop can bind the C-terminus of both Hsp90 and Hsp70 therefore hastening complex formation and chaperone activities (Scheufler et al., 2000). Hsp70 enters the complex already bound by Hsp40 family members. Hsp40 is involved in the regulation of the ATPase activity of Hsp70 (Fan et al., 2003). Together, these proteins make up a large chaperone complex that contributes jointly to the survival of cancer cells.

Similar to Hsp90, Hsp70 family members have a major role in the regulation of protein folding and in inhibition of apoptosis. Hsp70 binds to BAG-1 which binds to the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 thereby inhibiting apoptosis (Takayama et al., 1997; Takayama et al., 1995). Although Hsp70 does not inhibit the release of cytochrome c, it prevents activation of caspase-3 by binding Apaf-1 (Beere et al., 2000; Li et al., 2000; Saleh et al., 2000). Furthermore, Hsp70 prevents cell death in the absence of Apaf-1 by binding to apoptosis inducing factor (AIF) in the caspase-independent death pathway (Ravagnan et al., 2001). All of these studies showed that the C-terminal peptide binding domain is essential for the anti-apoptotic actions of Hsp70. Another family member, Hsp72 inhibits apoptosis independent of the C-terminal EEVD domain by interacting with JNK and prevents Bid activation and downstream apoptotic events in human lung and murine embryonic fibroblasts (Gabai et al., 2002). Similarly, Hsp70 inhibits JNK activated translocation of Bax to the mitochondria in human acute lymphoblastic T cells thus inhibiting apoptosis (Stankiewicz et al., 2005). However, in these studies there was no apoptotic inhibition downstream of cytochrome c release. It is therefore evident that the Hsp70 family acts at different levels of inhibition of apoptosis.

1.7 SMALL HEAT SHOCK PROTEINS

Small heat shock proteins are so named due to their small molecular weights ranging from 15 kDa to 30 kDa (Taylor and Benjamin, 2005). Most small heat shock proteins have

chaperone functions that are carried out in large oligomeric complexes and this

oligomerization occurs via the N-terminal end of the proteins (de Jong et al., 1998). Toward the C-terminal end, these small heat shock proteins contain a highly conserved domain known as the α -crystallin domain, thus these proteins are also classified as the α -crystallin family of heat shock proteins. The carboxy terminal domain, which mediates substrate binding, varies in length amongst the different family members. Recently it was determined by chimeric small heat shock proteins that both the N-terminal portion of small heat shock protein structure can contribute to substrate binding as well as chaperone function (Basha et al., 2006). To date there are 10 mammalian members of this family and are termed HspB1-10 (Kappe et al., 2003; Taylor and Benjamin, 2005). Similar to Hsp90 and Hsp70, some members of this family can regulate cell death. Two of the most extensively studied are the small heat shock protein family members Hsp27 (HspB1) and α B-crystallin (HspB5).

1.7.1 Hsp27

Hsp27 has the capability to inhibit apoptosis in the intrinsic pathway. Different studies show that Hsp27 inhibits the apoptotic pathway at various places by diverse mechanisms. Bruey and colleagues found that Hsp27 inhibits apoptosis in a cell free system as well as in response to etoposide treatment in U937 leukemia cells (Bruey et al., 2000). This inhibition is due to binding of cytochrome c following release from the mitochondria preventing apoptosome formation and subsequent activation of downstream caspases. In contrast, it was reported that in human U 937 leukemia cells, HEK 293 fibroblasts and L929 murine fibroblasts, Hsp27 has no

effect of apoptosome formation and inhibits apoptosis by binding to caspase-3 (Pandey et al., 2000a). Another level of apoptotic inhibition by Hsp27 is through Bid. It is postulated that Hsp27 binds to and stabilizes F-actin filaments thereby preventing translocation of Bid to the mitochondrial membrane (Paul et al., 2002).

Hsp27 also displays involvement in an alternative apoptotic pathway according to its phosphorylation status. Early work determined Hsp27 has three phosphorylation sites controlled by MAP kinase-activated protein kinase-2 (MAPKAP kinase-2) that regulate its functions (Gaestel et al., 1991; Lambert et al., 1999; Landry et al., 1991; Ludwig et al., 1996; Rogalla et al., 1999; Stokoe et al., 1992). For example, in receptor mediated signaling, there are two divergent pathways. One pathway is caspase dependent and requires Fas ligand-receptor binding and subsequent recruitment of adaptor protein, FADD, and caspase-8. There is an alternate caspase independent pathway where Fas binds to Daxx and activates the p38 and JNK kinase cascade through Ask-1 (apoptosis signal regulating kinase-1) (Chang et al., 1998; Khelifi et al., 2005; Yang et al., 1997). When phosphorylated, Hsp27 binds to Daxx thereby preventing activation of JNK (Chang et al., 1998; Charette et al., 2000). Phosphorylated Hsp27 dissociates from Akt leading to increases apoptosis (Rane et al., 2003). In contrast, unphosphorylated Hsp27 binds Akt and promotes its activation and cell survival. Furthermore, when RNAi against Hsp27 is used, there is an enhanced release of cytochrome c and induction of VP-16mediated apoptosis in TF-1 leukemia cells (Schepers et al., 2005). Taken together, this data shows that Hsp27 functions at various points along the apoptotic pathways to affect both cell death and survival.

1.7.2 αB-crystallin

αB-crystallin is another small heat shock protein that displays anti-apoptotic functions. α B-crystallin is homologous to Hsp27 in the highly conserved α -crystallin domain. Like Hsp27, α B-crystallin is widely expressed in various tissues and exhibits high levels of expression in the lens. αB-crystallin also contains phosphorylation sites in its N-terminal domain, which, similarly to Hsp27, are phosphorylated in response to heat stress (Ito et al., 1997). aB-crystallin and Hsp27 form large oligomeric complexes to trap misfolded proteins with Hsp20 and upon heat stress, the complex is dissolved (Kato et al., 1994; Zantema et al., 1992). Regarding its role in apoptosis, α B-crystallin acts at the junction of the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways in response to death receptor ligands and etoposide. In response to both TNF α and etoposide treatment, α Bcrystallin over expression resulted in a marked reduction in apoptosis. Unlike Hsp27 and Hsp70, which inhibit caspase-9 cleavage, aB-crystallin did not. Instead, aB-crystallin inhibits caspase-3 cleavage by binding to the zymogen and intermediate p24 form of caspase-3 and preventing its maturation to the active state (Kamradt et al., 2001). This inhibitory function was also demonstrated in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Interestingly, when mutants of aB-crystallin were overexpressed in C2C12 myoblasts, apoptotic inhibition was eliminated (Kamradt et al., 2005). These results showed that the two mutants, R120G, which is thought to cause desminrelated myopathy, and a pseudophosphorylation form 3XSE, are necessary for the anti-apoptotic function of *a*B-crystallin (Kamradt et al., 2002). Furthermore, *a*B-crystallin was able to inhibit apoptosis induced by TRAIL in MDA-MB-231 and -435 breast cancer cells via the same

mechanism (Kamradt et al., 2005). Taken together, studies of α B-crystallin and Hsp27 highlight how small heat shock proteins regulate apoptosis.

1.8 HSPB2 - MKBP

HspB2 is a relatively new member of the small heat shock protein family. Like most proteins in this family, it is expressed at high levels in muscle tissue (Iwaki et al., 1997; Suzuki et al., 1998). It also forms large oligomeric structures with other small heat shock proteins (Sugiyama et al., 2000). HspB2 shares a high level of homology with Hsp27 and αB-crystallin, although this homology is mostly within the α -crystallin domain. Iwaki et al first cloned HspB2 while analyzing an area upstream region of α B-crystallin (Iwaki et al., 1997). In glial cells, analysis of two DNase I hypersensitivity sites located upstream of the transcription initiation sites of α B-crystallin revealed a new member of the α -crystallin family. This gene did not contain a TATA box, but did have a GC box. Two HSE were identified, along with two E boxes for binding to MyoD family transcription factors. Through Northern blot analysis, expression of HspB2 mRNA was found in skeletal and smooth muscles, but not in the lens (Iwaki et al., 1997). Using a yeast two hybrid system, Suzuki et al found a protein that bound to DMPK (myotonic dystrophy protein kinase) in skeletal muscle tissue thereby stabilizing its expression (Suzuki et al., 1998). Sequencing analysis revealed a protein of identical sequence to the one found by Iwaki. This protein was termed MKBP (myotonic dystrophy protein kinase binding protein). HspB2 binds directly to DMPK making it thermoresistant thereby allowing activation of its kinase activity when the body is subjected to heat stress such as fever. Through this function,

HspB2 advances disease progression of some myotonic dystrophy patients (Suzuki et al., 1998). This may be a replenishing mechanism in response to the decrease or absence of DMPK in myotonic dystrophy patients. To date, nothing else is known about the link between HspB2 and DMPK.

1.8.1 Myotonic Dystrophy

Myotonic dystrophy (DM) is a very prevalent form of muscular dystrophy. An estimated 1 in 8000 people suffer from myotonic dystrophy (www.myotonicdystrophy.org). People afflicted with myotonic dystrophy exhibit symptoms of progressive muscle weakness and myotonia. Myotonia occurs when there is an activation of the muscle followed by hyperexicitation caused by repetitive action potentials. This results in the inability of the muscle to relax. In addition to myotonia, myotonic dystrophy has a number of other symptoms including insulin resistance and cardiac defects. There are two types of myotonic dystrophy, DM1 and DM2. DM1 effects the distal parts of the body such as limbs and has two subtypes, one can affect patients from birth, congenital DM1 (CDM1), and the other presents during adulthood (DM1) (Mankodi and Thornton, 2002). CDM1 causes mental retardation and impaired muscle development. The other subtype of myotonic dystrophy is DM2 or PROMM (proximal myotonic myopathy) which mainly effects the proximal or trunk of the body. Both types are caused by untranslated nucleotide expansion. DM2 has a CCTG expansion in the ZNF9 gene on chromosome 3 (Liquori et al., 2001). DM1 is caused by a CTG expansion located in the 3'-untranslated region of DMPK on chromosome 19 (Brook et al., 1992). Several

mechanisms have been proposed for how the trinucleotide expansion causes myotonic dystrophy (Gatchel and Zoghbi, 2005).

The first is haploinsufficiency of DMPK, which theorizes that the 3' mutation may cause a change in the expression of DMPK and that the altered expression level could be the cause of the effects (Fu et al., 1992; Hofmann-Radvanyi et al., 1993; Novelli et al., 1993). However, DMPK knockout mice failed to exhibit the multi-symptom phenotype therefore arguing against the role of expression of DMPK in the disease (Jansen et al., 1996; Reddy et al., 1996). These studies only explain the existence of cardiac defects, but fail to show responsibility for the other clinical symptoms.

In order to explain the other symptoms, the second theory states that the expansion of the trinucleotides effects not only DMPK, but also neighboring genes. The CTG expansion is located at the 3' end of DMPK and can vary in the number of repeats and the longest expansions seen in some CDM1 cases are greater than 1000 repeats. Longer repeats can overlap onto the promoters of the neighboring genes, specifically, the gene SIX5 (Klesert et al., 1997; Thornton et al., 1997). Mice with SIX5 knocked down develop cataracts (Klesert et al., 2000; Sarkar et al., 2000). Assuming that the CTG expansion can affect a number of neighboring genes, this suggests a possible theory for the multiple symptoms of DM.

The third and most favored hypothesis is that the expansion causes RNA pathogenesis. According to this theory, there is a nucleic accumulation of transcripts made up of the CUG repeats that congregate into foci and interfere with cellular functions such as gene splicing. Support of this model was found by Mankodi et al using transgenic mice with mutant DMPK messenger RNA that contained multiple CUG repeats. They found that retention of the repeats in the cellular nuclei of these mice and that their accumulation cause the phenotype of myotonic dystrophy (Mankodi et al., 2000). Since none of these models explains all of the symptoms of myotonic dystrophy, another theory combines the three models to explain the various clinical manifestations. This model is called the additive model, and as the name implies, each of the aforementioned theories contributes a small part in explaining the larger more encompassing symptoms of myotonic dystrophy. Supporting data is still needed in order to prove or disprove this theory. Regardless of the mechanism, what is known is that DMPK activity results in myotonic dystrophy. Thus, it was postulated that the increase of MKBP seen in these patients is a negative feedback response in the body's attempt to replenish DMPK expression and activity (Suzuki et al., 1998).

1.8.2 HspB2 Binding Partners

Due to the fact that heat shock proteins tend to function as large oligomeric complexes, it is likely that HspB2 has many binding partners. While only a few have been discovered so far, they have very different functions. As stated earlier, DMPK binds to HspB2 (MKBP) to hasten the development of muscular dystrophy. In *Psammomys obesus*, the beacon protein interacts with HspB2 and CLK4 as shown by a yeast two hybrid assay (Kantham et al., 2003). Beacon is expressed in the hypothalamus and has been linked to obesity. Increased food consumption and

weight gain occurred in *Psammomys obesus* upon increasing levels of Beacon (Collier et al., 2000). CLK4 (CDC2/CDC28-like 4) is a serine/arginine rich protein which can autophosphorylate as well as phosphorylated serine, threonine, and tyrosine residues on other proteins (Schultz et al., 2001). Given these findings, it is possible that HspB2 may be involved in stabilizing the Beacon/CLK4 complex and promote obesity. Aside from DMPK and Beacon, other known HspB2 binding partners are heat shock proteins.

It was speculated that since HspB2 shared an enhancer region with α B-crystallin, it was possible that they could bind to each other. However, results from a yeast two hybrid system using a human skeletal muscle cDNA library conclude that HspB2/MKBP does not interact with Hsp27 or α B-crystallin (Suzuki et al., 1998). Since α B-crystallin is expressed in the lens where there is no HspB2 expression and HspB2 does not bind to either α B-crystallin or Hsp27, Suzuki speculated that HspB2 is forming an independent oligomeric complex (Suzuki et al., 1998). This was later confirmed through a discovery of sequencing errors, when a former member of the HspL27 family was correctly reclassified as HspB3 (Sugiyama et al., 2000). HspB3 is a 17kDa novel member of the small heat shock protein family that exhibits mRNA expression patterns similar to those of HspB2 in adult human tissues (Sugiyama et al., 2000). Like all of the members of the α -crystallin family, HspB3 is expressed in the human heart tissue and has low expression in human skeletal muscle. HspB2 and HspB3, but not Hsp27 or Hsp20 have induced expression levels during differentiation in mouse C2C12 myoblasts (Sugiyama et al., 2000).

While HspB2 does not interact with Hsp27 or α B-crystallin, it does interact with Hsp20 in rat heart tissue demonstrating another hetero-oligomeric state of small heat shock proteins. In contrast to Hsp27 and aB-crystallin, HspB2, HspB3, and Hsp20 are not heat inducible and do not form the same oligomeric complexes. Upon the discovery of a new small heat shock protein, Hsp22 (HspB8), Sun and coworkers showed that it is a binding partner of HspB2. The N-terminal portion of Hsp22 binds to the full length MKBP but not the single N- or C-terminal portions using two hybrid and immunoprecipitation in both human 293T epithelial and COS-7 monkey kidney cells. Interestingly, follow-up work performed by Fontaine and colleagues showed that the binding of Hsp22 to HspB2 and HspB3 was not always consistent (Fontaine et al., 2005). Hsp22 did show an interaction with HspB3 by a yeast two hybrid assay, but failed to show an interaction by FRET (fluorescence resonance energy transfer). It was reasoned that due to the smaller size requirement for the yeast two hybrid system, potential binding proteins would encounter less interference than in the FRET. Nevertheless, HspB2 does function independently of α B-crystallin and thus is likely forming a separate heterogeneous complex.

1.8.3 HspB2 Localization

Unlike other members of the α -crystallin family, heat shock does not induce an accumulation of HspB2 mRNA, but rather causes a translocation of HspB2 to an insoluble fraction and to the Z-membranes of skeletal muscle (Sugiyama et al., 2000). This study also reported that HspB2 does localize to actin bundles like α B-crystallin and Hsp27. In contrast,

both HspB2 and Hsp20 are partially extracted from the myocardium following treatment with 1M NaSCN and actin filament can also be extracted with the same treatment demonstrating that these small heat shock proteins may have an affinity for actin-related proteins (Golenhofen et al., 2004). However, they provided no direct evidence of an interaction between actin and HspB2. Another localization study provides evidence that HspB2 localizes to the mitochondria in both mouse C2C12 myoblasts and human KNS-81 glioma cells under normal conditions by immunofluorescence (Nakagawa et al., 2001). HspB2 localizes to the outer membrane of the mitochondria, but not to the matrix. In heat stress, an increase in expression of HspB2 increases the survival of C2C12 myoblasts under heat stress and that this enhances the association of HspB2 with the mitochondrial membrane (Nakagawa et al., 2001). In addition, the number of mitochondria are higher in slow-twitch (cardiac and soleus) versus fast-twitch (femoral and gastrocnemius) muscle. mRNA staining of samples of these tissues were compared with NIH3T3 cells constitutively expressing HspB2. There were higher levels of HspB2 mRNA in the slow-twitch muscle enforcing the claim that HspB2 associates with the mitochondrial outer membrane under heat stress conditions. Other members of the small heat shock protein family have been shown to localize to the mitochondria. In *Neurospora crassa*, small heat shock protein, Hsp30 was found to localize to the mitochondrial membrane in response to cellular heat shock (Plesofsky-Vig and Brambl, 1990). In plant cells from Chenopodium rubrum L. and potato, Hsp23 localizes to the mitochondrial matrix under heat shock conditions (Debel et al., 1997). Similarly, *Pisum sativium L*. contain a 22-kD small heat shock protein that translocates to the mitochondrial matrix following heat shock exposure (Lenne et al., 1995). A corresponding molecular weight protein was also discovered in *Drosophila melanogaster*. DM-Hsp22 also

localizes to the mitochondrial matrix under heat stress conditions (Morrow et al., 2000). Since all of these small heat shock proteins localize to the mitochondria in response to cellular stress, it is possible that they, along with HspB2, do so in order to protect the mitochondria and its contents from degradation induced by these stresses.

1.9.4 HspB2 Regulation

Since data suggests that HspB2 both localizes and functions in a different manner than other small heat shock proteins, the question of how it is regulated arises. As stated earlier, αB crystallin and HspB2 share promoter regions, thus it is possible that HspB2 is regulated in a similar manner as αB-crystallin (Iwaki et al., 1997). Through deletions and inversions of the enhancer region between α B-crystallin and HspB2 transiently transfected into C2C12 myoblasts and α -TN4 epithelial cells dual-reporter luciferase results provide evidence that the enhancer favors the αB-crystallin promoter and its native enhancing effects are directionally dependent (Swamynathan and Piatigorsky, 2002). However, these experiments were performed in artificial settings in cell lines. In vivo expression of the enhancer region deletions and inversions in transgenic mice caused decreased HspB2 promoter activity (Swamynathan and Piatigorsky, 2002). This indicated that the shared promoter region controls both genes significantly in vivo in contrast to in vitro experiments. This intergenic region is conserved in all mammalian species and in some avian species and suggests that transcription factors and other elements within this region are interdependent, thus very resistant to evolutionary separation of the genes (Doerwald et al., 2004). Since this region selectively enhances the α B-crystallin promoter in the lens yet

enhances the promoter activities in both the αB-crystallin and HspB2 genes in muscle tissue, there are elements within this region that are specific to α B-crystallin yet the genes have retained their head-to-head orientation over time in many species. What the exact reasons are for conserving this region over time can only be speculated; however it is clear that this region is required for the function of both αB-crystallin and HspB2 (Doerwald et al., 2004; Swamynathan and Piatigorsky, 2002). A 2001 study by Brady and co-workers sought to determine the effects of knocking out the αB-crystallin gene; however, through targeted deletions of the αB-crystallin gene in embryonic stem cells, they inadvertently eliminated HspB2 in the process due to its close proximity and shared promoter region (Brady et al., 2001). This double knockout mouse displays normal development and fertility. Surprisingly, even with the absence of α B-crystallin the lenses of the mice are normal. Although initial development is normal in the absence of both heat shock proteins, upon 40 weeks of age, the mice began to show postural problems which are attributed to the musculo-protective roles of both proteins. This same system utilized by another group analyzed the effects of ischemia-reperfusion on the mouse myocardium (Morrison et al., 2004). The αB-crystallin/HspB2 knockout mice display normal heart morphology and function. Upon induction of ischemia, the wild type and knockout mice appear to have similar reactions. The apparent differences are seen when reperfusion occurs. The mice without α B-crystallin and HspB2 have a higher level of apoptosis and necrosis compared to wild type mice. This study provides evidence that together or separate, aB-crystallin and HspB2 provide protective effects against cell death upon recovery from ischemia. In further support of this data, Kadono and colleagues examine the role of Ca^{2+} uptake in the mitochondria of wild type and knockout mice (Kadono et al., 2006). They hypothesize that the increase in Ca^{2+} levels induce the

mitochondrial pore transition (MPT) in knockout mice since the MPT contributes greatly to myocyte injury from ischemia-reperfusion (Joseph et al., 1997). α B-crystallin/HspB2 knockout mice show an increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake and this increase rendered the mice more susceptible to MPT. These findings support the previous work by Morrison where they demonstrated an increase in cell death (Morrison et al., 2004). The observation that HspB2 associates with the mitochondrial membrane may also support this hypothesis (Nakagawa et al., 2001). In myocytes, HspB2 may act to prevent Ca²⁺ uptake by associating with the outer mitochondrial membrane thus preventing MPT.

As illustrated above, the protective capacity of heat shock proteins in normal physiology and apoptosis is a growing field. The role they play in regulating apoptosis is of particular interest to the study of cancer progression and prevention. To date, Hsp90, Hsp70, Hsp27, and α B-crystallin have been shown to exert inhibitory effects through pro-survival pathways as well as stabilization of pro-apoptotic proteins downstream of the mitochondria. Understanding how these proteins function to maintain cell survival in disease settings is vital to potential therapeutic development. Hsp90 is a prime example of how knowledge of protein function can aid in therapy. Described earlier, Hsp90 has a wide variety of functions in cancer progression from stabilizing pro-survival proteins such as mutant p53 and RIP to inhibiting apoptosis through Apaf-1 (Lewis et al., 2000; Neckers, 2002; Nimmanapalli et al., 2001; Pandey et al., 2000b). Inhibitors of Hsp90 are in clinical trials and are showing promising potential in cancer treatment (Isaacs et al., 2003; Neckers et al., 1999; Schulte et al., 1998; Stebbins et al., 1997). Since only some of the heat shock proteins have been studied in cancer and many of these proteins have similar structures and work together in large hetero-oligomeric complexes, it is easy to speculate that there are other members of the heat shock protein family that similar functions in both cellular survival and death. Of the small heat shock proteins, only α B-crystallin and Hsp27 have been studied extensively. There are eight other members of this family that have potential roles in cancer progression. HspB2 is a newly discovered member of this family that has only been shown to promote myotonic dystrophy (Iwaki et al., 1997; Suzuki et al., 1998). This work explores a new functional role for HspB2 in apoptosis.

2.1 Cell Culture

Human MDA-MB-231 cells were grown in DMEM (Gibco - Invitrogen #11965-118, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS #16140-071, Gibco – Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine (# 10378-016, Gibco - Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Human T47D breast carcinoma cells were obtained from ATCC and grown in RPMI 1640 (#11875093, Gibco - Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, #16140-071, Gibco - Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (#30-002-CI, Cell Grow – Mediatech, Herndon, VA). Phoenix-Ampho packaging cells were purchased from ATCC and cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS (#16140-071, Gibco – Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine (# 10378-016, Gibco - Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). 2LMP, LCC6, DY36T2, A549, NCIH226, NCIH358, NCIH1299, NCIH2122, MIA PaCa2, PANC1, PC3, BxPC3, SW948, U87MG, D54MG, LG11, & BT474 cancer cell line lysates were generously provided by Dr. Patsy Oliver (University of Alabama, Birmingham, Alabama). U373 & DiNTC (Rat glioma) were provided by Dr. Linda Van Eldyck (Northwestern University, Chicago, IL) and U251 cells were obtained from Dr. Olga Volpert (Northwestern University, Chicago, IL). All three cell lines were cultured in DMEM/F12 (#11320033, Gibco - Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), containing 10% FBS (#16140-071, Gibco – Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (#30-002-CI, Cell Grow – Mediatech, Herndon, VA).

Mouse monoclonal antibodies against caspase-3 (#610323), -7 (#551241), MLH-1 (#551091), MKBP (#611298), FADD (# 556402), and cytochrome c (#556433) were purchased from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA). Monoclonal mouse antibody against caspase-2 (#2224) and polyclonal antibody against caspase-10 (#9752) were purchased from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). Polyclonal antibody against caspase-9 was purchased from Cayman Chemical (#160790, Ann Arbor, MI). Mouse monoclonal α-Tubulin (#T6074), mouse monoclonal FLAG-M2 (#F1804), and Rabbit polyclonal FLAG (#F7425) antibodies were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Rabbit polyclonal antibody against TRAIL was purchased from Abcam (#2435, Cambridge, MA). Mouse monoclonal antibody against caspase-8 was kindly provided by Dr. Marcus E. Peter (University of Chicago, Chicago, IL). Rat polyclonal antibody against Bid was kindly provided by Dr. Honglin Li (Northwestern University, Chicago, IL). Goat polyclonal antibodies against DR4 and DR5 were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotech (DR4 #sc-6824, DR5 #sc-7192, Santa Cruz, CA). Mouse monoclonal antibody against CoxIV was purchased from Molecular Probes, Inc (#A-21348, Eugene, OR). The horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti mouse (#1010-5), rabbit (4010-5), rat (#3010-5) were purchased from Southern Biotechnology (Birmingham, AL). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated donkey anti goat secondary was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (#sc-2020, Santa Cruz, CA). Rabbit IgG control Santa Cruz Biotechnology (#sc-2027, Santa Cruz, CA). TNFa was purchased from R&D Systems (#210-TA, Minneapolis, MN). Etoposide (#E1383) and protease inhibitor cocktail (#P8340) were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO).

Recombinant soluble His-tagged TRAIL (amino acids 95-281) was expressed in E. coli by transforming BL-21 cells (#69449, EMD Biosciences, San Diego, CA) with pET15b plasmid (#69661-3, EMD Biosciences, San Diego, CA) containing a partial TRAIL cDNA (Pan et al., 1997). A single clone was isolated and grown to log phase, at which time 1mM IPTG was added to induce protein expression. Following cell growth for and additional 2hr, bacteria were lysed and the His-tagged protein was purified under native conditions using the QIA express Type IV kit (QIAGEN #32149, Valencia, CA). Briefly, bacteria were suspended in lysis buffer (50mM NaH₂PO₄, 300mM NaCl, and 10mM imidazole (pH 8.0)) with 100 µg/mL PMSF and 10 µg/mL lysozyme. The lysate was them incubated on ice for 30 minutes, sonicated, and centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C to pellet cellular debris. Next, the lysate was incubated with Ni-NTA resin (QIAGEN #30230, Valencia, CA) for 90 minutes at 4°C with gentle shaking. The lysate-Ni-NTA mixture was then loaded onto a column, washed twice (50mM NaH₂PO₄, 300mM NaCl, and 20mM imidazole (pH 8.0)), and His-tagged TRAIL was eluted in 250mM imidazole. Following elution, fractions which contained high concentration of purified TRAIL (as determined by SDS-PAGE Western analysis and protein assay (BioRad, Hercules, CA)) were pooled and stored in aliquots containing 10% glycerol at -80°C.

2.4.1 Flag-tagged cDNAs

To generate cDNA encoding wild type HspB2, human skeletal muscle cDNA was subjected to PCR amplification with the following primers. The restriction enzyme sites for EcoRI and XhoI are underlined:

MKBPECO (forward): 5'-GGCCGAATTCATGTCGGGCCGCTCAGTG-3'

MKBPXHO (reverse): 5'-GGCCCCCCGAGTCAGGGCTCAACTATGGC-3'

Following amplification, the product was subjected to 1% agarose gel electrophoresis. The product was then extracted from the gel using a QIAGEN gel extraction kit (#328704, Valencia, CA), digested with EcoR1 (#R6017) and Xho1 (#R6165, Promega, Madison, WI) and purified with a QIAGEN PCR purification kit (#28104, Valencia, CA). The pcDNA3-FLAG vector was double digested with EcoR1 and Xho1 and purified with a QIAGEN PCR purification kit. For size confirmation, an aliquot of undigested and digested vector and the digested PCR product were run on a 1% agarose gel. Ligation of the digested vector and PCR product was performed using T4 ligase (New England Biolabs # M0202S, Ipswich, MA). The ligation was transformed using *E. coli* HB101 competent cells (Invitrogen #18925-014, Carlsbad, CA). Positive clones were confirmed by sequencing using HspB2 Gene Bank Accession Number NM 001541.

To generate the pSuper.retro.puro.GFP vector plasmid, the GFP was isolated from the pSIREN-RetroQ-ZsGreen vector (Clontech #632455, Mountain View, CA). PCR amplification of the GFP was performed using the following primers:

GFP HindIII Forward:

5'- CCGG<u>AAGCTT</u>GGATCCTAGTTATTAATAGTAATCAA-3'

GFP HindIII Reverse: 5'-CCGGAAGCTTCCCCCTTTTTCTGGAGAC-3'

The GFP product was digested with HindIII (underlined) (New England Biolabs #R0104S, Ipswich, MA) and DNA was isolated using a QIAGEN gel extraction kit. The pSUPER.RETRO.PURO vector was purchased from OligoEngine (#VEC-PRT-0001, Seattle, WA). The pSUPER.RETRO.PURO vector was linearized by digestion with HindIII ((New England Biolabs #R0104S, Ipswich, MA) and treated with Antarctic phosphatase to remove 5' phosphate groups (New England Biolabs # M0289L, Ipswich, MA). The digested GFP product was ligated into the digested pSUPER.RETRO.PURO vector using T4 ligase (New England Biolabs # M0202S, Ipswich, MA). The ligation was transformed using subcloning efficiency DH5α competent cells (Invitrogen #18265-017, Carlsbad, CA). Orientation was determined by digestion with SalI (New England Biolabs #R0138S, Ipswich, MA). The plasmid was purified using a QIAGEN endonuclease free maxi kit (#12362, Valencia, CA) and confirmed by sequencing. HspB2 shRNAs were designed using a base template sequence from OligoEngine (see supplemental material for #VEC-PRT-0001, Seattle, WA) and HspB2 target sequences were substituted for the target sequence in the template. HspB2 target sequences were obtained from Openbiosystems (# RHS3979-9572505 and RHS3979-9572506, Huntsville, AL). The resulting oligo sequences were ordered through Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA):

HspB2 3814 forward: 5'-GATCCCCGAGGTGACTGTGAGGACTGTTTCAAGA

GAACAGTCCTCACAGTCACCTCTTTTA-3'

HspB2 3814 reverse: 5'- GATCCAAAAAGAGGTGACTGTGAGGACTGTTCTC TTGAAACAGTCCTCACAGTCACCTCGGG-3'

HspB2 3815 forward: 5'- GATCCCCGACTGTGAGGACTGTGGATAACTTCAAG AGAGTTATCCACAGTCCTCACAGTCTTTTTA-3'

HspB2 3815 reverse: 5'- GATCCAAAAAGACTGTGAGGACTGTGGATAACTCTCT TGAAGTTATCCACAGTCCTCACAGTCGGG-3'

HspB2 scrambled forward: 5'- GATCCCCGAAGACCAGTTACGGTGTTGGATTCAA GAGATCCAACACCGTAACTGGTCTTCTTTTA-3'

HspB2 scrambled reverse: 5'- GATCCAAAAAGAAGACCAGTTACGGTGTTGGA

TCTCTTGAATCCAACACCGTAACTGGTCTTCGGG-3'

Each oligo primer was resuspended in TE to a concentration of 3 μ g/ μ L. 20 μ g (6.7 μ L) of the forward and reverse oligo primers for each construct was added to 2 μ L 5M NaCl and water to a total volume of 20 μ L in microfuge tubes. Tubes were placed in a heat block at 100°C for 5

minutes then the block was removed and placed on the bench top overnight to allow the tubes to cool slowly. The resulting annealed constructs are diluted 1:500 in 500mM TRIS in TE. Each of the shRNA constructs was ligated into the digested pSUPER.RETRO.PURO.GFP vector. The p.SUPER.RETRO.PURO.GFP vector was digested with BamHI and BgIII and treated with Antarctic phosphatase and ligations were performed using T4 DNA ligase. Post ligation, constructs were transformed into subcloning efficiency DH5 α competent cells (Invitrogen #18265-017, Carlsbad, CA) and plasmid purification was performed using a QIAGEN endonuclease free maxi kit (#12362, Valencia, CA) and confirmed by sequencing.

2.5 STABLE TRANSFECTIONS

2.5.1 MDA-MB-231 Flag-tagged cell lines

MDA-MB-231 breast carcinoma cells were plated at 30% confluency and transfected with 1ug of pcDNA3-FLAG control vector or pcDNA3-FLAG-HspB2 using LipofectAMINE and Plus reagent according to manufacture instructions (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) in serum free DMEM and allowed to recover for 48 hours. Cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10 % FBS, 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 800 ug/mL G418 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) for three weeks to selected for clones expressing these vectors. Expression was confirmed by Western blotting.

The pSUPER.RETRO.PURO.GFP vector alone, shRNA HspB2 3814, shRNA HspB2 3815, or shRNA Scrambled constructs were transfected into Phoenix-Ampho cells in DMEM using calcium chloride. Transfected cells were placed in a 32°C incubator for 24 hours to enhance viral particle production. T47D target cells were plated at 25% confluency. The virus particle containing media was filtered (0.45 µM filter) and polybrene (Hexadimethrine bromide, Sigma #H9268, St. Louis, MO) was added at 4 µg/mL. This mixture was overlayed onto the target cells and incubated at 37°C for 5 hours. 24 hours after adding the virus, the media was changed again. Following the media change, the cells were collected and sorted for GFP positive cells using the DakoCytomation MoFlo machine and the 48 laser (Dako United States of America, Carpinteria, CA). Each cell line yielded 10-20% positive cells that were expanded for use in experiments.

2.6 TIMECOURSE AND FACS ANALYSIS OF APOPTOSIS

2.6.1 TRAIL & TNFα

Cells stably expressing pcDNA3-FLAG empty vector, α B-crystallin, or HspB2 were plated onto 6-well plates at 0.4 x 10⁶ cells/well. These cells were treated with DMEM alone for control or DMEM with 500 ng/mL TRAIL from 0-24 hours or 10ng/mL TNF α (R&D systems #210-TA, Minneapolis, MN) and 1µg/mL Cycloheximide (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) from 0-24 hours. Both floating and attached cells were collected by 0.05% Trypsin (Invitrogen #23500-112, Carlsbad,

CA) and fixed with glutaraldehyde (Sigma #G6257, St. Louis, MO) for 15 minutes. Cell pellets were washed 1X in PBS (phosphate buffered saline) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and cell nuclei were stained with 10 μg/mL bisBenzimide (DAPI) (Sigma #H 33258, St. Louis, MO) for 30 minutes at 37°C. Percent apoptosis was determined by scoring cells alive or dead based on their apoptotic nuclei as determined under fluorescent microscopy (NIKON). A total of 200 cells were counted for each condition and experiments were performed in triplicate.

As a confirmation of apoptosis, Annexin V-PE apoptosis detection kit I (BD Biosciences #559763, San Jose, CA) was used for the TRAIL and TNF α treatments. MDA-MB-231 cells over expressing empty pcDNA3 vector, α B-crystallin, or HspB2 were left untreated or treated with either 500 ng/mL TRAIL or 10 ng/mL TNF α and 1 µg/mL cycloheximide for four hours. After four hours, both adherent and floating cells were collected by 0.05% Trypsin. Cells were then washed twice with cold PBS and resuspended in the 1X Binding Buffer as directed by the manufacturer. Annexin V-PE and 7-AAD were added too 100uL aliquots followed by a 15 minute incubation at room temperature and analysis by flow cytometry (Beckman Coulter Epics XL-MCL, Northwestern University Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center Flow Cytometry Core Facility).

2.6.2 Etoposide, doxorubicin, and staurosporine

Cells stably expressing pcDNA3-FLAG empty vector or HspB2 were plated onto 6-well plates at 0.4×10^6 cells/well. These cells were treated with DMEM alone for control or DMEM plus

50 μM Etoposide (Sigma #E1383, St. Louis, MO) from 0-72 hours, 750 nM Doxorubicin (Sigma #D1515, St. Louis, MO) from 0-72 hours, or 750 nM Staurosporine (Sigma #S4400, St. Louis, MO) from 0-24 hours. Both floating and attached cells were collected by 0.05% Trypsin (Invitrogen #23500-112, Carlsbad, CA) and fixed with glutaraldehyde (Sigma #G6257, St. Louis, MO) for 15 minutes. Cell pellets were washed 1X in PBS (phosphate buffered saline) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and cell nuclei were stained with 10 μg/mL bisBenzimide (DAPI) (Sigma #H 33258, St. Louis, MO) for 30 minutes at 37°C. Percent apoptosis was determined by scoring cells alive or dead based on their apoptotic nuclei as determined under fluorescent microscopy (NIKON). A total of 200 cells were counted for each condition and experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.7 ANALYSIS OF XENOGRAFT TUMOR GROWTH IN RESPONSE TO TRAIL

MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing FLAG-empty vector or HspB2 were injected into the mammary fat pads of 4-5 week old female athymic nude mice and tumor development was monitored weekly. After two weeks, tumors were excised and dissected into 1 mm³ pieces. These pieces were transplanted subcutaneously into both mammary fat pads of 4–5-week old female athymic nude mice (Harlan Sprague-Dawley) 5 mice per group. Two weeks later, mice with established tumors (expressing vector or HspB2) were treated with PBS (vehicle) or TRAIL 5 mg/kg/day by intraperitoneal injection. Tumor volume was measured weekly for a 5 weeks.

MDA-MB-231 cells were plated at a concentration of 2 x 10⁶ in 10 cm dishes and grown overnight. Cells were then treated with TRAIL 200 (DEVD)-500 ng/mL (IETD) for 0-4 hours at 37°C. Following treatment the cells were collected using 0.05% Trypsin (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and the assay was performed as directed by the manufacturer for DEVD or IETD Fluorogenic assay kits (R&D Systems DEVD # BF1100, IETD # BF2100, Minneapolis, MN). Percent fluorescence over control was determined by spectrophotometer (IBB, Atlanta, GA – Spectra Max Gemini Microplate Spectrofluorimeter) excite at 405nm read at 500nm.

2.9 CASPASE CLEAVAGE ANALYSIS BY WESTERN BLOTTING

MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing pcDNA3 FLAG vector or HspB2 were plated at 2 x 10⁶ in 10 cm plates and grown overnight. Cells were left untreated or treated with 500 ng/mL TRAIL for 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8 hours. After 8 hours, both floating and adherent cells were collected by 0.05% Trypsin (Invitrogen #23500-112, Carlsbad, CA) and pelleted by microcentrifugation. Cells were washed 1X with ice cold 1X PBS supplemented with 1mM PMSF and pelleted by microcentrifugation. The cell pellets were resuspended in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Deoxycholic acid, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 1mM PMSF, 1X protease inhibitor cocktail) and incubated on ice and at 10 minute intervals samples were vortexed. At the end of 30 minutes, the samples were spun in a microcentrifuge at 13,200 rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatants were transferred to new tubes. Protein quantification was performed using

Pierce BCA assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. #23225, Rockford, IL) and analysis was read on plate reader at 595 nm (Biorad). Following quantification, an equal volume of 2X sample buffer (100 mM Tris pH 6.8, 4% SDS, 200 mM DTT, 20% glycerol, 0.01% Bromophenol blue) was added. Samples were then boiled for 5 minutes in a 100°C heat block and subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis (sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) on 13.3% acrylimide gels, semidry transfer 1 hour, block in 5% milk in TBS-Tween 1 hour, incubated with primary antibodies as directed, 3-10'washes, secondary incubation 1:2000 1 hour, 4 washes of 10 minutes each, and developed with Perkin Elmer Western Lightning Chemiluminescence (#NEL 101, Boston, MA).

2.10 MEASUREMENT OF CYTOCHROME C RELEASE

2.10.1 Western blotting

MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing pcDNA3 FLAG vector of HspB2 were plated at 5 x 10⁶ cells per 15 cm dish. Cells were left untreated or treated with 500ng/mL TRAIL for 1, 2, 4, & 6 hours. Following the timecourse, both adherent and floating cells were collected using 0.05% Trypsin. Cells were washed with cold PBS with protease inhibitor added (Sigma #P8340,) and resuspended in cold lysis buffer (20 mM Hepes pH 7.5, 10 mM KCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM PMSF, 1X protease inhibitor cocktail, 4 mM DTT) and incubated on ice for 1 hour with intermittent vortexing. Samples were then spun in a microcentrifuge for 15 minutes at 13,200 rpm. Supernatant was placed into new tubes and the pellets were

resuspended with RIPA (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Deoxycholic acid, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 1mM PMSF, 1X protease inhibitor cocktail) and protein quantification was performed using Pierce BCA assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. #23225, Rockford, IL) and analysis was read on plate reader at 595 nm (Biorad). Samples were resuspended in 2X sample buffer (100 mM Tris pH 6.8, 4% SDS, 200 mM DTT, 20% glycerol, 0.01% Bromophenol blue) and equal amounts of protein were loaded onto 15% acrylimide gels and analyzed by SDS-PAGE analysis for cytochrome c, Cox IV, and Smac/DIABLO.

2.10.2 ELISA

MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing pcDNA3 FLAG vector or HspB2 were plated at 5 x 10⁶ cells per 15cm dish. Cells were left untreated or treated with 500 ng/mL TRAIL for two hours. Following the timecourse, both adherent and floating cells were collected using 0.05% Trypsin. Cells were washed with cold PBS with protease inhibitor added (Sigma #P8340, St. Louis, MO) and resuspended in 5 volumes of cold isolation buffer pH 7.4 (0.3 M mannitol, 0.1% BSA, 0.2 mM EDTA, 10 mM HEPES, 1X protease inhibitor cocktail). Samples were homogenized with a 2 mL glass homogenizer and dounced 5 times loose and 7 times tight. Whole cells and nuclei were removed by microcentrifugation for 10 minutes at 1000g. The supernatant was subjected to further microcentrifugation for 15 minutes at 14,000g to separate the cytosolic and mitochondrial fractions. Mitochondrial fractions were washed twice with cold isolation buffer and resuspended in RIPA buffer and protein concentration was determined using Pierce BCA assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. #23225, Rockford, IL) on a plate reader at 595 nm (Biorad). Using these

fractions, relative levels of cytochrome c were determined using the Quantikine Human Cytochrome c ELISA kit as directed by the manufacturer (R&D Systems # DCTC0, Minneapolis, MN).

2.11 ANALYSIS OF APOPTOSIS INDUCED BY TBID TRANSIENT TRANSFECTION

MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing pcDNA3 FLAG vector or HspB2 were transiently transfected with pEGFP-N1 (Clontech Laboratories #6085-1, Mountain View, CA) and either pCMV-5a empty vector or pCMV-5a-tBid (kindly provided by Honglin Li, Northwestern University). Both adherent and floating cells were collected using 0.05% Trypsin and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde. Following fixation, the cells were stained with 10 µg/mL bisBenzimide (DAPI) (Sigma #H 33258, St. Louis, MO). Apoptosis was determined by scoring GFP positive cells for condensed nuclear morphology.

2.12 IMMUNOPRECIPITATION OF THE TRAIL DISC

In order to isolate the TRAIL DISC, a protocol for isolating the Fas DISC was kindly provided by Christine Feig of the Marcus Peter Lab at the University of Chicago and modified for our purposes. 25 x 10⁶ cells per condition of MDA-MB-231 cells stably over expressing HspB2 or pcDNA3 FLAG vector were cultured. Both cell lines were used for treatment with 500 ng/mL TRAIL for 10, 30, & 60 minutes. An untreated condition as well as untreated IgG controls were used. Prior to TRAIL treatment, cells were trypsinized and resuspended in 5 mL of complete DMEM for each condition to which TRAIL was added. Following the end of the time course, enough ice cold PBS was added to fill each tube and centrifuged at 1500rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. Cell pellets were washed once with cold PBS and transferred to microfuge tubes. Cells were microcentrifuged for 5 minutes at 2000rpm at 4°C. Washed cells were resuspended and lysed for 10 minutes in 1mL TritonX-100 lysis buffer (For 1L: 10% glycerol, 30 mM Tris pH 7.5, 160 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA pH 7.5, 1% Triton X-100) supplemented with 1mM PMSF and a 1:100 dilution of protease inhibitor cocktail. Cell membranes and debris were removed by microcentrifugation for 10 minutes at 13,200rpm at 4°C. A 50 uL input lysate aliquot was taken, 2X sample buffer added, and boiled for 5 minutes. 20 µg polyclonal TRAIL antibody was added to each 1mL sample and samples were rotated at 4°C overnight. 90uL Immobilized Protein A beads (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. # 20333, Rockford, IL) were added to each sample and rotated at 4°C for 2 hours. Beads were washed 4 times with cold Triton X-100 lysis buffer. Following the last wash, the beads were suspended in 90 µL 2X sample buffer and boiled for 5 minutes. 40 µL of each sample was loaded onto 13.3% acrylimide gels and analyzed by SDS-PAGE with antibodies against DR4, DR5, FADD, caspase-8, and HspB2.

2.13 MEASUREMENT OF HSPB2-INDUCED PROTEIN EXPRESSION BY BD POWERBLOT

MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing pcDNA3 FLAG vector, αB-crystallin, or HspB2 were cultured in 2-300 cm² flasks per cell line. Cells were collected using 0.05% Trypsin and washed with cold PBS with protease inhibitor added (Sigma #P8340, St. Louis, MO), resuspended in cold lysis buffer (20 mM Hepes pH 7.5, 10 mM KCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM

EGTA, 1 mM PMSF, 1X protease inhibitor cocktail, 4 mM DTT) and incubated on ice for 1 hour with intermittent vortexing. Samples were then spun in a microcentrifuge for 15 minutes at 13,200 rpm. Supernatant was placed into new tubes and the pellets were resuspended with RIPA (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Deoxycholic acid, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 1 mM PMSF, 1X protease inhibitor cocktail) and protein quantification was performed using Pierce BCA assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. #23225, Rockford, IL) and analysis was read on plate reader at 595 nm (Biorad). 6mg samples were aliquoted for each cell line and frozen at -80°C overnight. Samples were shipped to BD Biosciences for PowerBlot analysis.

2.14 EXPRESSION OF HSPB2 IN A PANEL OF CANCER CELL LINES

U373, DiNTC, and U251 cells were cultured and collected with 0.05% Trypsin (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and pelleted by microcentrifugation. Cells were washed 1X with ice cold 1X PBS supplemented with 1mM PMSF and pelleted by microcentrifugation. The cell pellets were resuspended in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Deoxycholic acid, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 1M PMSF, 1X protease cocktail inhibitors) and incubated on ice and at 10 minute intervals samples were vortexed. At the end of 30 minutes, the samples were spun in a microcentrifuge at 13,200 rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatants were transferred to new tubes. Protein quantification was performed using Pierce BCA assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. #23225, Rockford, IL) and analysis was read on plate reader at 595 nm (Biorad). Following quantification, an equal volume of 2X sample buffer (100 mM Tris pH 6.8, 4% SDS, 200 mM DTT, 20% glycerol, 0.01% Bromophenol blue) was added. In addition, 2LMP, LCC6, DY36T2,
A549, NCIH226, NCIH358, NCIH1299, NCIH2122, MIA PaCa2, PANC1, PC3, BxPC3, SW948, U87MG, D54MG, LG11, & BT474 cancer cell line lysates were included. All cell line samples were boiled for 5 minutes in a 100°C heat block and subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis (sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) on 13.3% acrylimide gels, semidry transfer 1 hour, block in 5% milk in TBS-Tween 1 hour, incubated with primary antibodies as directed, 3-10'washes, secondary incubation 1:2000 1 hour, 4-10'washes, developed with Perkin Elmer Western Lightning Chemiluminescence (#NEL 101, Boston, MA).

2.15 EXPRESSION OF HSPB2 IN T47D CELLS TRANSFECTED WITH HSPB2 SHRNA

T47D cells stably expressing HspB2 shRNA or scrambled sequence control were plated onto 6well plates at 0.4 x 10⁶ cells/well. Cells were collected by 0.05% Trypsin (Invitrogen #23500-112, Carlsbad, CA), washed 1X with ice cold 1X PBS supplemented with 1mM PMSF, and pelleted by microcentrifugation. The cell pellets were resuspended in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Deoxycholic acid, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 1 mM PMSF, 1X protease inhibitor cocktail) and incubated on ice and at 10 minute intervals samples were vortexed. At the end of 30 minutes, the samples were spun in a microcentrifuge at 13,200 rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatants were transferred to new tubes. Protein quantification was performed using Pierce BCA assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. #23225, Rockford, IL) and analysis was read on plate reader at 595 nm (Biorad). Following quantification, an equal volume of 2X sample buffer (100 mM Tris pH 6.8, 4% SDS, 200 mM DTT, 20% glycerol, 0.01% Bromophenol blue) was added. Samples were then boiled for 5 minutes in a 100°C heat block and subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis (sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) on 13.3% acrylimide gels, semidry transfer 1 hour, block in 5% milk in TBS-Tween 1 hour, incubated with primary antibodies as directed, 3-10'washes, secondary incubation 1:2000 1 hour, 4 washes of 10 minutes each, and developed with Perkin Elmer Western Lightning Chemiluminescence (#NEL 101, Boston, MA).

2.16 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Unless otherwise stated, all statistical analysis of the data was analyzed by two-way anova followed by a Bonferroni post test to compare experimental results to vector controls. Analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA).

3. RESULTS

3.1 HSPB2 IS NOT EXPRESSED IN TRAIL-RESISTANT BREAST CANCER CELL LINES

The role of HspB2 in apoptosis has not been defined. Previously, a variety of breast carcinoma cell lines were analyzed for their sensitivity to TRAIL (Kamradt et al., 2005). It was found that of the tested cell lines, MDA-MB-435 and -468, MCF-7 and T47D were resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. MDA-MB-231 cells, however, were sensitive to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Further analysis showed that there were similar expression levels of DR4, DR5, FADD, caspase-8, Bax, Bcl-XL, and Hsp27 and 70. Given these findings, HspB2 expression levels were determined in the above mentioned cell lines. RIPA lysates from these cell lines were subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis and probed for HspB2 expression by western blot. Low levels of HspB2 were expressed in both the MDA-MB-435 and -468 cell lines and high levels were expressed in the MCF-7 and T47D cell lines (Fig 4). Interestingly, HspB2 was not expressed in MDA-MB-231 cells, the only TRAIL sensitive line that was tested. Thus HspB2 expression correlated with resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in a similar manner to what had been previously reported for αB-crystallin (Kamradt et al., 2005).



Figure 4: HspB2 is not expressed in TRAIL-resistant breast cancer cell lines.

Immunoblot of MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-435, MDA-MB-468, MCF-7, and T47D breast cancer cell lines were probed for HspB2 expression. Tubulin was used as a loading control.

3.2 ECTOPIC OVEREXPRESSION OF HSPB2 IN MDA-MB-231 CELLS CONFERS PROTECTION AGAINST TRAIL-INDUCED APOPTOSIS

3.2.1 HspB2 inhibition against TRAIL-induced apoptosis by timecourse analysis

To determine if overexpression of HspB2 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells would render these cells resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis, FLAG-tagged HspB2 cDNA was constructed and stably transfected into MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig 5A). It had been previously shown that α B-crystallin expression in these cells rendered them resistant to apoptosis. Therefore, cell lines expressing α B-crystallin were used as a positive control in these assays. Empty vector, two HspB2 clones, or α B-crystallin were individually plated in 6-well plates and left untreated or treated for various time points with 500 ng/mL TRAIL over the course of 24 hours. Samples were subsequently scored for apoptosis by nuclear morphology as described in the methods. In the cells overexpressing HspB2, there was a decrease in the level of apoptosis compared to the vector control (Fig 5). After 24 hours, the vector cells had 46% ± 14% SEM apoptosis while cells expressing HspB2 A2, HspB2 A3, or HspB2 A4 had 10% ± 5% SEM, 7% ± 1% SEM, and 18% ± 11% SEM apoptosis respectively. HspB2 expression protected from apoptosis to similar levels as what was observed in cells overexpressing α B-crystallin.

3.2.2 HspB2 inhibition against TRAIL-induced apoptosis by FACS analysis

To further confirm these results, FACS analysis was used to quantitate the levels of apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 FLAG-tagged cell lines. Empty vector, αB-crystallin,



В



Figure 5: HspB2 inhibits TRAIL-induced apoptosis measured by timecourse analysis.

A Immunoblot of MDA-MB-231 cells stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. The ectopically expressed proteins were detected using the Flag M2 monoclonal antibody.

B MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. α B-crystallin was used as a positive control. Cells were treated with 500 ng/mL TRAIL from 0-24h. Both floating and adherent cells were collected, Hoecsht stained, and scored for apoptotic nuclei. The data represents the mean +/- SEM of three independent experiments (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001 versus vector control for each time point).

or HspB2 overexpressing cells were plated and left untreated or treated with 500ng/mL TRAIL for 4 hours. Cells were collected, stained with Annexin-V-PE and 7AAD, and analyzed by FACS. When cells are undergoing apoptosis, an early event is the translocation of phosphatidyl serine phospholipids from the inner plasma member to the outer side. Annexin-V binds to the phosphatidyl serines and is conjugated to PE, a fluorochrome that can be detected by flow cytometry. Therefore, cells that are negative for Annexin-V-PE are alive and as they become positive, they are undergoing apoptosis. 7AAD is a vital dve that is used in conjunction with Annexin V-PE in order to distinguish early and late apoptosis. When cells are negative for both Annexin V-PE and 7AAD, they are counted as live cells and appear in the bottom left quadrant. Early apoptotic cells that are Annexin-V positive and 7AAD negative appear in the bottom right quadrant. Late stage apoptotic cells are positive for both Annexin V-PE and 7AAD and appear in the top right quadrant. The two right quadrants are added together for the total amount of apoptotic cells. In the untreated condition, 87% of the cells expressing vector were alive (Fig 6). When these cells were treated with TRAIL, the amount of viable cells decreased to 64%. In comparison to vector control cells, untreated α B-crystallin expressing cells showed similar levels of viability at 82%, but that changed only marginally to 78% upon treatment with TRAIL due to the protection conferred by aB-crystallin. HspB2 cells were protected in a similar manner from TRAIL treatment. Cells expressing HspB2 declined only 5% in cell viability when treated with TRAIL. These results confirm that ectopic overexpression of HspB2 in MDA-MB-231 cells inhibits of TRAIL-induced apoptosis.



Figure 6: HspB2 inhibits TRAIL-induced apoptosis measured by FACS analysis.

MDA-MB-231 overexpressing empty vector, α B-crystallin, or HspB2 were left untreated or treated with 500ng/mL TRAIL for 4 hours. After 4 hours, both adherent and floating cells were collected and stained with AnnexinV-PE and 7AAD and analyzed by flow cytometry.

If HspB2 plays a physiological role in apoptosis, the anti-apoptotic in vitro effects of HspB2 should also be apparent in vivo. To demonstrate this, a xenograft experiment using nude mice was designed. MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing either empty vector or wild type HspB2 were cultured for subsequent transplant into the mammary fat pads of female nude mice in order to establish start-up tumors. These tumors were then excised and dissected into 1mm³ pieces implanted into both mammary fat pads of new nude mice. These new mice were divided into four treatment groups of 5 mice per group. In the control groups, there were those injected with either tumors established from empty vector expressing cells or from HspB2 expressing cells. These mice were given PBS over the length of the study. The experimental groups were injected with tumors from the same groups as the controls; however, these mice were given injections of TRAIL at 5 mg/kg/day instead of PBS. The mice were subjected to treatment for five weeks. Tumor size was measured weekly. After five weeks, the data was analyzed and the results were as follows (Fig 7). Mice injected with empty vector tumors showed a steady increase in tumor growth when treated with PBS as a control. Similarly, when mice injected with HspB2 expressing tumors and treated with PBS also showed an increase in tumor growth over five weeks. When treated with TRAIL, the vector tumors immediately decreased in size and were almost unapparent throughout the experiment. In contrast, when mice with HspB2 expressing tumors were given TRAIL, these tumors showed an initial decrease similar to empty vector tumors following treatment with TRAIL. Between 2 and 3 weeks there was an increase in tumor growth, and this increase continued until the end of five weeks. However, these tumors



Figure 7: Expression of HspB2 delays regression of tumor growth in vivo.

One mm³ pieces of MDA-MB-231 xenograft breast carcinomas expressing vector or HspB2 were transplanted subcutaneously into both mammary fat pads of 4–5-week old female athymic nude mice (Harlan Sprague-Dawley). Two weeks later, mice with established tumors (expressing vector or HspB2) were treated with PBS (vehicle) or TRAIL 5 mg/kg/day by intraperitoneal injection (4 groups of 5 mice each). Tumor volume was measured weekly. Data represents the mean +/- SEM of 10 tumors/group (* p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001 versus HspB2 TRAIL condition).

never reached the size of the tumors treated with PBS. Overall, HspB2 expression conferred resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in vivo.

3.4 Ectopic overexpression of HspB2 in MDA-MB-231 cells confers protection TNFa-induced Apoptosis

3.4.1 HspB2 inhibition against TNFα-induced apoptosis by timecourse analysis

Since the ectopic overexpression of HspB2 was able to inhibit TRAIL-induced apoptosis both in vitro and in vivo, it was postulated that HspB2 would also be effective against other extrinsic pathway apoptotic inducers such as TNF α . As mentioned earlier, TNF α binds to the TNF receptor (TNFR) and initiates DISC formation and subsequent activation of apoptosis. MDA-MB-231 cells were stably transfected with empty vector, α B-crystallin, or HspB2 and left untreated or treated with 10 ng/mL TNF α and 1µg/mL cycloheximide over the course of 24 hours (Fig 8). Following each time point, the cells were collected and stained with Hoecsht. Apoptosis was determined by scoring nuclear morphology. Following this, the percent apoptosis was calculated. Similar to TRAIL, the vector cells treated with TNF α had an increased percentage of apoptosis and plateau at 42% ± 1% SEM apoptosis after 24 hours. α B-crystallin expressing cells showed 25% ± 5% SEM apoptosis and both HspB2 cell lines reached only 17% ± 6% SEM apoptosis after 24 hours. This demonstrated the ability of HspB2 to confer protection against TNF α -induced apoptosis as well as apoptosis induced by TRAIL.



Figure 8: HspB2 inhibits TNFα-induced apoptosis measured by timecourse analysis.

MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. aB crystallin was used as a positive control. Cells were treated with 10ug/mL TNF α and 1ug/mL cycloheximide from 0-24h. Both adherent and floating cells were collected, Hoecsht stained, and scored for apoptotic nuclei. The data represents the mean +/- SEM of three independent experiments (*** p < 0.001 versus control at each time point).

3.4.2 HspB2 inhibition against TNFα-induced apoptosis by FACS analysis

To further characterize this phenotype, FACS analysis was performed to quantitate apoptosis. Empty vector, α B-crystallin, or HspB2 expressing MDA-MB-231 cells were left untreated or treated with TNF α and cycloheximide for 4 hours. Cells were then collected and stained with Annexin V-PE and 7AAD and submitted for FACS analysis. In the vector untreated cells, 85% of the cells were viable (Fig 9). When these cells were treated with TNF α , viability decreased to 61%. α B-crystallin maintained 70% viability with and without treatment and in HspB2 expressing cells, untreated the cells were 80% viable and when treated with TNF α , viability only decreased to 73%. Therefore, HspB2 expression in these cells also conferred apoptotic protection against TNF α . This provides further evidence that HspB2 is able to protect against death receptor induced apoptosis.

3.5 ECTOPIC OVEREXPRESSION OF HSpB2 INHIBITS FLUOROGENIC CASPASE ACTIVATION

3.5.1 HspB2 inhibits caspase-8 activity (IETD)

Given the ability of HspB2 to protect against both TRAIL- and TNFα-induced apoptosis, identification of the site of action for HspB2 was ascertained by caspase activity assays. MDA-MB-231 cells expressing empty vector or HspB2 were plated and were left untreated or treated with 50 ng/mL TRAIL for various time points over 4 hours. Cells were then incubated with a fluorogenic substrate, AFC, which contains a caspase-8 cleavage site, IETD. When caspase-8 is



Figure 9: HspB2 inhibits TNFα-induced apoptosis measured by FACS analysis.

MDA-MB-231 overexpressing empty vector, α B-crystallin, or HspB2 were left untreated or treated with 10ng/mL TNF α and 1µg/mL cycloheximide for 4 hours. After 4 hours, both adherent and floating cells were collected and stained with AnnexinV-PE and 7AAD and analyzed by flow cytometry. active, it is cleaved after the last aspartic acid residue, releasing the fluorogenic AFC. This fluorescence was measured via spectrophotometer and the relative amounts over control are calculated (Fig 10). In the vector line, there was an increase in relative fluorescence of about 2-fold over the course of 4 hours. In contrast, the HspB2 line showed a minimal increase in fluorescence, reflecting low amounts of caspase-8 activation. This result showed that when overexpressed, HspB2 is capable of inhibiting caspase-8 cleavage in response to TRAIL.

3.5.2 HspB2 inhibits caspase-3 activity (DEVD)

The next step was to examine the cleavage of downstream executioner caspase-3. For this assay, the same protocol was used except the fluorogenic AFC tag was conjugated to a DEVD target site which is specific for caspase-3. MDA-MB-231 cells expressing empty vector or HspB2 were plated and were left untreated or treated with 200 ng/mL TRAIL for various time points over 3 hours. Cells are then incubated with a fluorogenic substrate, AFC, which contains a caspase-3 cleavage site, DEVD (Fig 11). When caspase-3 is active, the fluorogenic AFC is released and the relative amounts of this fluorescence over control are measured and calculated. In the vector line, there was a noticeable increase in relative fluorescence of approximately 6 - fold immediately at the 30 minute time point. In contrast, the HspB2 line again showed a minimal increase in fluorescence, reflecting low amounts of caspase-3 activation. These results illustrated that overexpression of HspB2 prevented activation of both caspase-8 and caspase-3 in response to TRAIL treatment.



Figure 10: Ectopically expressed HspB2 prevents activity of caspase-8.

MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. Cells were treated with 50 ng/mL TRAIL for 0-3h. After treatment, both adherent and floating cells were collected and incubated with a fluorogenically tagged caspase-8 cleavage sequence, IETD. Active caspase-8 levels were measured using a spectrophotometer as percent fluorescence over control. The data represents the mean +/- SEM of three independent experiments (* p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001 versus control at each time point).



Figure 11: Ectopically expressed HspB2 prevents caspase-3 activity.

MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. Cells were treated with 200 ng/mL TRAIL for 0-3h. After treatment, both floating and adherent cells were collected and incubated with a fluorogenically tagged caspase-3 cleavage sequence, DEVD. Active caspase-3 levels were measured using a spectrophotometer as percent fluorescence over control. The data represents the mean +/- SEM of two independent experiments (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 versus control at each time point).

To further map HspB2 activity in the apoptotic pathway the major members of programmed cell death, the caspases, was analyzed. SDS-PAGE was used for analysis. MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing empty vector or HspB2 were plated and left untreated or treated with 500 ng/mL over the course of 8 hours. Cells were collected at each time point and RIPA lysates were made. Representative cells were simultaneously treated with TRAIL and collected for Hoecsht staining. The percentage of cells undergoing apoptosis at each time point was calculated by nuclear morphology. Blots were probed with various antibodies against several caspases and regulatory proteins in the caspase cascade (Fig 12). Vector expressing cells showed cleavage of apical caspase-8 as early as one hour after treatment. By 8 hours, most of the full length caspase-8 had been cleaved. In contrast, the cells expressing HspB2 show limited caspase-8 cleavage over 8 hours consistent with the IETD fluorogenic assay results. Apical caspase-10 also showed a similar cleavage pattern. By 6 hours, the vector expressing cells showed no full length caspase-10 while the cells expressing HspB2 maintained the level of caspase-10 throughout the 8 hours. Since active caspase-8 can cleave pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member, Bid, we tested the kinetics of Bid cleavage. While vector expressing cells lost full length Bid levels by 6 hours, HspB2 expressing cells exhibited full length Bid, albeit at a low level. Once cleaved, Bid induces cytochrome c and Smac/DIABLO release from the mitochondria. Release of cytochrome c triggers apoptosome formation and activation of caspase-9. When vector transfected cells were treated with TRAIL, there was a disappearance of the pro-form of caspase-9 by 4 hours. In contrast, HspB2 expressing cells showed a different pattern. Full length caspase-9 was maintained over the course of 8 hours. As stated earlier,



Figure 12: HspB2 inhibits broad caspase cleavage in response to TRAIL.

MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flagtagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. Cells were treated with 500 ng/mL TRAIL for 0-8h. At each time point both floating and adherent cells were collected and subjected to immunoblotting and scoring of apoptotic nuclei by DAPI. Immunoblots were probed with antibodies against the following: caspase-8, caspase-10, Bid, caspase-9, caspase-3, and MLH-1. Tubulin was used as a loading control. Arrows indicate cleavage fragments. Data is representative of three independent experiments. HspB2 expression inhibited caspase-3 activation by DEVD fluorogenic assay. Inhibition of caspase-3 cleavage by western blot supported this data. In accordance with this kinetic profile, the proform of caspase-3 disappeared in vector transfected cells by 4 hours. Additionally, MLH-1, a protein involved in DNA mismatch repair and a caspase-3 substrate, disappeared in vector transfected cells, but was maintained in cells expressing Hspb2 (Chen et al., 2004). Moreover, overall levels of percent apoptosis were 20% lower in cells expressing HspB2 as compared to vector alone. These observations demonstrate that HspB2 delays apoptosis throughout the entire caspase cascade beginning at the apical caspase level as well as providing further support of the previous data.

3.7 HSPB2 HAS NO EFFECT ON CHEMOTHERAPY-INDUCED APOPTOSIS

We have shown that ectopic expression of HspB2 in a TRAIL sensitive cell line can render cells resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. To explore the mechanism of action of HspB2, the next step was determine if inhibition was restricted to drugs that stimulate the extrinsic pathway, or if HspB2 expression can protect cells from intrinsic pathway stimulation by chemotherapy agents etoposide, doxorubicin, and staurosporine. MDA-MB-231 transfected with either empty vector or HspB2 and treated with each of the indicated drugs (Fig 13A). MDA-MB-231 transfected with either empty vector or HspB2 were examined via a 0-48 hour timecourse analysis for their ability to protect against 50 μ M etoposide, a topoisomerase II inhibitor. Apoptosis was visible after 24 hours with vector cells showing 54% ± 12% SEM and both HspB2 A2 and HspB2 A4 clones displaying 65% ± 15% SEM (Fig 13B). No significant difference in apoptosis levels compared to vector even 48 hours post treatment.

3.7.2 Doxorubicin-induced apoptosis

A similar experiment was carried out studying apoptosis following treatment with doxorubicin. Using the same cell lines and time points, we treated these cells with 750 nM doxorubicin over 48 hours (Fig 14). Following the timecourse, cells were collected, stained, and analyzed for apoptosis by nuclear morphology as above. Similar results were obtained showing that HspB2 was unable to protect against doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. Interestingly, the cells which expressed HspB2 had higher levels of apoptosis than the vector alone. Most notable was the HspB2 A2 clone which showed $54\% \pm 4\%$ SEM apoptosis after 48 hours compared to vector and HspB2 A4 cell lines which exhibited $19\% \pm 4\%$ SEM and $37\% \pm 2\%$ SEM apoptosis respectively.



Figure 13: HspB2 does not inhibit apoptosis induced by etoposide.

A Lysates of MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing empty vector or HspB2 were subjected to western analysis and probed for Tubulin or HspB2 expression.

B MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flagtagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. Cells were treated with 50 μ M etoposide or vehicle control (not shown) over 48 hours. Both adherent and floating cells were collected. Apoptosis was measured by scoring for nuclear morphology. The data represents the mean +/- SEM of three independent experiments. Statistical analysis revealed no significant differences between vector and HspB2 expressing cells.



Figure 14: HspB2 does not inhibit apoptosis induced by doxorubicin.

MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. Cells were treated with 750 nM doxorubicin or vehicle control (not shown) for up to 48 hours. Both adherent and floating cells were collected. Apoptosis was measured by scoring for nuclear morphology. The data represents the mean +/- SEM of three independent experiments (** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001 versus control at each time point).

To provide further support with another potent inhibitor, an experiment was performed using staurosporine. A 24-hour timecourse with 750 nM staurosporine revealed that HspB2 expression did not inhibit apoptosis (Fig 15). At 8 and 16 hours both clones of HspB2 displayed no apoptotic inhibition. By 24 hours, cells expressing vector had 44% \pm 4% SEM apoptosis, and HspB2 A2 and HspB2 A4 showed 60% \pm 13% SEM and 57% \pm 13% SEM apoptosis respectively. Together, these experiments show that in response to chemotherapy drugs, HspB2 is unable to inhibit apoptosis.

3.8 HSPB2 FAILS TO PREVENT MITOCHONDRIAL RELEASE OF CYTOCHROME C

3.8.1 Cytochrome c release measured by western blotting

Since HspB2 expression was unable to prevent apoptosis induced by chemotherapy drugs, the effect of HspB2 on cytochrome c release was investigated to further map its antiapoptotic mechanism. MDA-MB-231 cells ectopically over expressing HspB2 or empty vector were treated with 500 ng/mL TRAIL for 0, 1, 2, 4, & 6 hours. Both floating and adherent cells were collected, lysed, and separated into cytosolic and mitochondrial fractions by centrifugation. Cytochrome c release was analyzed by SDS-PAGE analysis with antibodies against cytochrome c, Smac/DIABLO. CoxIV and tubulin were used as controls. Further observation



Figure 15: HspB2 does not inhibit apoptosis induced by staurosporine.

MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. Cells were treated with 750 nM staurosporine or vehicle control (not shown) over 24 hours. Both adherent and floating cells were collected. Apoptosis was measured by scoring for nuclear morphology. The data represents the mean +/- SEM of three independent experiments. Statistical analysis revealed no significant differences between vector and HspB2 expressing cells. showed an increasing release of both cytochrome c and Smac/DIABLO over the time in the empty vector cells (Fig 16). TRAIL treatment of HspB2 transfected cells resulted in release of cytochrome c and Smac/DIABLO with comparable kinetics to vector expressing cells treated with TRAIL. These results would suggest that HspB2 inhibits apoptosis downstream of the mitochondria, perhaps at caspase-3.

3.8.2 Cytochrome c release measured by ELISA

To confirm this result, further analysis was carried out by a more sensitive assay, the cytochrome c ELISA. MDA-MB-231 cells expressing either empty vector or HspB2 were treated with 500 ng/mL TRAIL for 2 hours (Fig 17A). Following the timecourse, both floating and adherent cells were collected and mitochondrial isolation was performed by fractionation to obtain a supernant representative of the released cytochrome c, and a pellet representative of the non-released cytochrome c. The amount of released cytochrome c was determined by ELISA (Fig 17B). Vector transfected cells treated with TRAIL had an average of 3 fold increase in cytochrome c release as compared to control treated cells. HspB2 A2 transfected cells had an average of 2.5 fold and HspB2 A4 averaged 1.5 fold increase in cytochrome c release as compared to their respective untreated conditions. Although there was less cytochrome c release in HspB2 A4 corresponding with a higher expression of HspB2 protein, the results were not significant when compared to vector. Since this experiment, in conjunction with the western blot data, demonstrates that HspB2 does not inhibit the release of cytochrome c upon TRAIL stimulation, HspB2 may inhibit apoptosis downstream of the mitochondria.



Figure 16: HspB2 expression does not prevent release of mitochondrial proteins by western blotting.

MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flag-tagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. Cells were treated with 500 ng/mL TRAIL for 0-6h. Following treatment, both adherent and floating cells were collected and separated into mitochondrial (pellet) and cytoplasmic (supernatant) fractions by centrifugation. These fractions were then subjected to immunoblotting antibodies against monoclonal antibodies against cytochrome c (A), Smac/DIABLO (B), and cox IV (C). Tubulin was used as a loading control. Data is representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 17: HspB2 does not prevent cytochrome c release by ELISA.

A Lysates of MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing empty vector or HspB2 were subjected to western analysis and probed for Tubulin or HspB2 expression.

B MDA-MB-231 cells stably overexpressing empty vector or HspB2 were treated with TRAIL for 2 hours. Following treatment both adherent and floating cells were collected and fractionated by centrifugation. Cytosolic fractions were analyzed by cytochrome c ELISA and results displayed as relative fold increase of cytochrome c levels. Data represents the mean +/- SEM of 5 independent experiments. Statistical analysis revealed no significant difference between TRAIL-treated vector and both clones of HspB2.

To further investigate the mechanism of HspB2 in apoptosis, the ability of HspB2 to confer protection downstream of the mitochondria was examined. MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing either empty vector or two individual clones of HspB2 were co-transfected with GFP and increasing amounts of tBid, and cell were examined for apoptosis by nuclear morphological analysis. A clonal variance in apoptotic protection was observed (Fig 18). HspB2 A2 clones transfected with tBid showed no inhibition of apoptosis with levels equaling vector levels. In contrast, HspB2 A4 clones transfected with pCMV5a-tBid exhibited decreased apoptosis compared to both vector and HspB2 A2 cell lines. This discrepancy in apoptotic protection may be explained by the higher levels of HspB2 expression in the HspB2 A4 clone. Protection from tBid induced cell death was seen in the clone expressing high levels of HspB2, thus perhaps the expression level was not high enough in the HspB2 A2 clone to have an effect against such a strong apoptosis inducer such as tBid. These results support the cytochrome c release assays and suggest a mechanism for HspB2 downstream of the mitochondria, perhaps at the level of caspase-3 activation.

3.10 TRAIL-DISC IMMUNOPRECIPITATION

Hypothesizing that HspB2 inhibited apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells upstream in the caspase cascade, the next course of action was to see if HspB2 was physically associating with components of the DISC. MDA-MB-231 cells over expressing either HspB2 or





Figure 18: HspB2 inhibits apoptosis induced by transient transfection of active Bid.

A Lysates of MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing empty vector or HspB2 were subjected to western analysis and probed for Tubulin or HspB2 expression.

B MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were stably transfected with empty vector or Flagtagged wild type HspB2 plasmids. These cells were transiently co-transfected with GFP and increasing amounts of tBid or empty vector. Transfected cells were allowed to recover for 12-14 hours. Cells were then fixed with paraformaldehyde and stained with DAPI. GFP positive cells were scored for apoptosis by nuclear morphology. Data represents the +/- SEM of three independent experiments (* p < 0.05 versus control at each time point). empty vector were treated for 0, 5, 15, 30, and 60 minutes with 500 ng/mL TRAIL and subjected to immunoprecipitation with a TRAIL antibody to isolate the DISC. Immunoprecipitated complexes were probed for TRAIL receptors DR4 and DR5, FADD, caspase-8, and HspB2. Immunoprecipitations using antibodies for DISC components or HspB2 were also performed. Due to many technical difficulties, there was no clear evidence of HspB2 association with the proteins in question. Multiple problems were encountered with the immunoprecipitation itself, but those obstacles were over come; however, background interference by controls prevented a clear conclusion. Although preliminary data showed no association of HspB2 with the tested proteins, results provided consistent proof could not be obtained.

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 A NEW ROLE FOR HSPB2 IN APOPTOSIS

To date, heat shock proteins play roles in many aspects of cellular death and survival. Hsp90 targets a number of apoptotic regulators such as Apaf-1, Bid, and RIP (Lewis et al., 2000; Pandey et al., 2000b; Zhao and Wang, 2004). Hsp70 also inhibits apoptosis through Apaf-1, AIF, JNK signaling, and by stabilizing Bcl-2 through BAG-1 (Beere et al., 2000; Gabai et al., 2002; Ravagnan et al., 2001; Saleh et al., 2000; Stankiewicz et al., 2005; Takayama et al., 1997). Hsp27, a member of the small heat shock protein family, inhibits apoptosis in many ways such as interacting with caspase-3, preventing Bid translocation to the mitochondria, and regulation of Akt (Pandey et al., 2000a; Paul et al., 2002; Rane et al., 2003). It has been previously shown that α B-crystallin suppresses apoptosis by preventing processing and subsequent maturation of caspase-3 (Kamradt et al., 2002). These studies clearly portray the intricate roles that heat shock proteins have in the regulation of apoptosis. Of the small heat shock proteins, only α B-crystallin and Hsp27 have been extensively studied in apoptosis. Therefore determining the functions of other small heat shock proteins may uncover new roles for this family in cell fate. HspB2 is a relatively unstudied small heat shock protein. Its only known role to date is to act as a chaperone of DMPK in muscular dystrophy. A putative role for HspB2 in cancer and cell death regulation has been, until now, left unexamined.

The main goal of this study was to analyze the role of HspB2 in apoptosis. MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells have been previously shown to be sensitive to TRAIL-induced cell death (Kamradt et al., 2005). TRAIL is a promising therapeutic for certain types of cancer; however breast cancer is one type that remains insensitive to its effects. Most breast cancer cell lines are resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis ((Kamradt et al., 2005)and unpublished data). Breast cancer is second most common cancer and one of the leading causes of death (Ries, 2007). The four main treatment options are surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, and hormone therapy. However, these are not always effective and many breast cancers are resistant to chemotherapy causing an urgent need for different treatment options. One of these options is to target the programmed cell death pathway. Interestingly, HspB2 is not expressed in MDA-MB-231 cells; therefore ectopic overexpression HspB2 in MDA-MB-231 was used to determine if HspB2 expression protects breast cancer cells from TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Fig 4). Following treatment, HspB2 expression reduced sensitivity to TRAIL (Fig 5 and Fig 6). Thus, MDA-MB-231 cells acquire apoptotic resistance with the ectopic overexpression of HspB2. This finding was also demonstrated in an in vivo xenograft experiment where athymic nude mice were injected with cells over expressing HspB2 or vector and given TRAIL to see how tumor growth was affected (Fig 7). Tumors from the HspB2 group were more resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis than the vector group where the tumors were almost eliminated. Significantly, this demonstrated that HspB2 overexpression in breast cancer cells not only reduces TRAIL-induce apoptosis in vitro, but also has physiological relevance in vivo.

In addition to TRAIL, it was found that HspB2 was able to inhibit apoptosis in response to TNF α , another activator of the extrinsic pathway (Fig 8 and Fig 9). This demonstrated that HspB2 was able to attenuate the apoptotic effects of both TRAIL and TNF α . Since both drugs activate apoptosis via similar DISC components, the results from these experiments give consistent support that HspB2 can inhibit the extrinsic pathway. MDA-MB-231 cells also lack expression of α B-crystallin and its introduction into these cells resulted in apoptotic inhibition that occurred through preventing the full maturation of caspase-3 (Kamradt et al., 2005). In addition to α B-crystallin, the small heat shock protein Hsp27 has also been shown to prevent apoptosis by inhibiting caspase-3 (Pandey et al., 2000a). Given this information, it was possible that HspB2 also prevented apoptosis through a similar mechanism. To further explore this possibility, a fluorogenic caspase-3 activity assay was performed to determine if HspB2 over expression would inhibit apoptosis at the level of caspase-3. As expected, HspB2 overexpression yielded a strong inhibition of caspase-3 activity (Fig 11). Thus, HspB2 could inhibit activation of caspase-3 similar to what has been shown with α B-crystallin and Hsp27.

Although heat shock proteins function with a certain level of redundancy, they may also have process-specific roles. To seek out what specific function HspB2 might have in apoptosis, analysis of apical caspase-8 activity was performed since this is the first caspase activated in the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis. Expression of HspB2 in MDA-MB-231 cells treated with TRAIL concurred with prevention of caspase-8 activity although to a lesser degree than was shown by caspase-3 (Fig 10 and Fig 11). This experiment showed that HspB2 inhibited

activation of caspase-8 where α B-crystallin has been shown to be ineffective (Kamradt et al., 2005).

These results revealed potential for a unique anti-apoptotic mechanism for HspB2. In order to look more closely at the caspase inhibition by HspB2, western analysis was used to examine the major cell death proteins throughout the apoptotic caspase cascade (Fig 12). In confirmation of the results seen by IETD assay, HspB2 was able to mediate cleavage of initiator caspases -8 and -10 and inhibit their activation. Interestingly, Bid, a target of caspase-8, also exhibited delayed activation by cleavage. Active Bid translocates to the mitochondria and releases cytochrome c. Cytochrome c associates with Apaf-1 to activate caspase-9 and form the apoptosome. Consequently, Bid can activate caspase-9 and as expected, attenuation of Bid cleavage also affected caspase-9. As demonstrated by DEVD assay, executioner caspase-3 maturation was also prevented. Cleavage of MLH-1, which is a substrate of caspase-3, was also delayed. These experiments suggested that HspB2 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells delayed TRAIL-induced apoptosis throughout the entire caspase cascade. This pattern of caspase inhibition has not been previously demonstrated, thus providing evidence for a new role for HspB2 in apoptosis.

So far, the data has shown that HspB2 inhibits apoptosis from the level of apical caspases through the effector caspases. This insinuates that HspB2 could hinder apoptosis at the apical caspase level prior to mitochondrial activation and cytochrome c release. In order to map the activity of HspB2 in apoptosis, release of cytochrome c and Smac/DIABLO from the

mitochondria was analyzed after cells expressing HspB2 or empty vector were treated with TRAIL. HspB2 expressing cells showed a basal level of both cytochrome c and Smac/DIABLO released in the untreated samples as well as an increase in the release of both proteins over time (Fig 16). This result suggested that HspB2 does not inhibit activation of apical caspases since it was unable to prevent release of cytochrome c and Smac/DIABLO. For further confirmation of this result, a more sensitive measurement of TRAIL-induced cytochrome c release by ELISA was used. Cytochrome c release measurements by ELISA indicated that there was no significant difference between the vector expressing cells and either HspB2 clone; however, there seemed to be a correlation between the amount of HspB2 expressed and the level of cytochrome c release (Fig 17). Taken together, the results of two independent methods of cytochrome c release indicate that expression of HspB2 does not inhibit apoptosis prior to mitochondrial disruption and cytochrome c release. This would imply that apoptotic inhibition of HspB2 occurred downstream of the mitochondria.

4.3 INHIBITION OF CASPASE-3 BY HSPB2

The Human Interactome Map (HiMap) is a web browser that allows the user to find protein-protein interactions that are both known and predicted through the use of a database of literature-confirmed interactions and Bayesian analysis (Qin et al., 2003; Rhodes et al., 2005). Using this browser, predictions showed a hypothetical protein-protein interaction between HspB2 and caspase-3 giving evidence that the structures of these proteins are compatible (Fig 19) (Rhodes et al., 2005). Taking this into consideration, if HspB2 inhibits caspase-3


Figure 19: A Hypothetical Interaction of HspB2 with Caspase-3.

The predicted protein-protein interaction between HspB2 and caspase-3 as well as other proteins produced using HiMAP.

maturation, then the inhibition of caspases upstream of caspase-3 needs to be explained.

There is evidence for a feedback loop in the apoptotic pathway whereby caspase-3 can activate caspase-8 to amplify apoptosis (Cha et al., 2001; Slee et al., 1999; Tang et al., 2000; Viswanath et al., 2001; Wajant, 2003; Yang et al., 2006). This being said, if HspB2 inhibits caspase-3, then any caspase that caspase-3 induces would also be inhibited, such as caspase-8. Cleavage of Bid, which is instigated by caspase-8, would also be inhibited and that would in turn hinder caspase-9 activation. This could also explain why the inhibition of caspase-3 shown by DEVD assay was so much stronger than caspase-8 inhibition shown by IETD assay. HspB2 expression would correlate with stronger inhibition of the caspase that it directly affected. Given that caspase-8 would be inhibited after its initial activation, its inhibition would be to a lesser degree. In the caspase cleavage western blot, caspase-8 and caspase-3 displayed the same activation pattern (Fig 12). Thus, it is likely that the time difference in activation was not seen due to the time points chosen. TRAIL DISC formation occurs within minutes after stimulation, so in order to properly visualize the kinetics occurring, the assay would need to be performed using much earlier time points (Varfolomeev et al., 2005). An additional method to test this theory would be to use cell free extracts from the MDA-MB-231 vector and HspB2 expressing cell lines and analyze them for caspase activation following cytochrome c/dATP administration over time. In the vector cell extracts, there should be an activation of caspase-9, caspase-3, and caspase-7 followed by caspase-8. In extracts from HspB2 expressing cells, caspase-9 would show activation; however, caspase-3 and caspase-8 would not. Alternatively, a caspase-3 inhibitor could be administered to vector expressing cells treated with TRAIL. The resulting analysis of caspase cleavage should reflect the same pattern as TRAIL treated HspB2 expressing cells.

To support the hypothesis that HspB2 inhibits caspase-3 activation, the next step was to activate the mitochondria directly and look for inhibition of apoptosis. Active Bid (tBid) has the ability to induce apoptosis via Bax/Bak dependent release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria. Three concentrations of tBid or empty vector were transiently co-transfected with GFP into cells expressing or not expressing HspB2. Through measurement of apoptosis, inhibition by HspB2 was revealed, albeit by only one of the two clones (Fig 18). However, the clone that yielded apoptotic inhibition was also the one that expressed high levels of HspB2. There was a very low level of protein expression in the other clone suggesting that there was not enough HspB2 present to significantly affect apoptosis. This effect could be confirmed through the use of an inducible HspB2 system to demonstrate a dose dependent effect on tBid-induced apoptosis.

In an effort to provide more evidence for a possible caspase-3 inhibition of apoptosis by HspB2, chemotherapy drug-induced stimulation of the intrinsic pathway was used. Protein kinase C inhibitor, staurosporine, and topoisomerase II inhibitors etoposide and doxorubicin all activate the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. HspB2 overexpressing MDA-MB-231 cells were subjected to treatment with etoposide and the levels of apoptosis compared with vector expressing cells was determined by nuclear morphology. HspB2 overexpression was unable to prevent apoptosis in response to etoposide showing both vector and HspB2 cell lines dying at the same rate (Fig 13). When doxorubicin was used to initiate apoptosis in the same cell lines, no

apoptotic protection was found (Fig 14). To provide further confirmation, MDA-MB-231 cells overexpressing HspB2 or vector alone were treated with staurosporine and apoptosis levels were measured. Again, HspB2 expression did not cause resistance to staurosporine-induced apoptosis (Fig 15).

These results are the only evidence that contradict the hypothesis that HspB2 inhibits apoptosis downstream of mitochondrial activation. Conceivably, this contradictory phenomenon had to do with the cells used for the experiment. It is formally possible that the HspB2 stable cell lines used for the chemotherapy experiments had lost their resistance to apoptosis while still maintaining expression of the protein. These experiments were performed quite a bit later than those in the rest of the study and the cells were not tested for apoptotic resistance to TRAIL prior to use. A similar occurrence was observed when an effort to create new stable pools of MDA-MB-231 HspB2 expressing cells by retroviral infection resulted in cells that expressed the HspB2 protein, but were unable to protect against TRAIL-induced apoptosis. In addition, this could explain why HspB2 expressing cells had higher levels of apoptosis compared to vector when treated with doxorubicin. Perhaps the phenotype had changed in these cells making them more sensitive to doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. Given these explanations, the fact that HspB2 could not confer apoptotic protection against chemotherapeutic agents does not discount the hypothesis of caspase-3 inhibition by this protein.

Another explanation for these findings is that studies have revealed the ability of chemotherapy agents to induce apoptosis in the absence of caspase-3 (Benjamin et al., 1998;

Boehrer et al., 2002; Clarke et al., 2005; Cuvillier et al., 2001; Mooney et al., 2002; Xue et al., 2003). These studies used MCF-7 cells, a breast cancer cell line that lacks endogenous expression of caspase-3. Using protease activity assays and analysis of PARP cleavage in etoposide-induced MCF-7 cells, it was shown that caspases were active and apoptosis was still induced in the absence of caspase-3 (Benjamin et al., 1998). Additionally, use of zVAD-FMK, a broad caspase inhibitor, abrogated apoptosis, suggesting that this apoptosis was indeed caspase dependent. Experiments in HeLa cells produced similar results and showed that caspase-7 was being activated following treatment with etoposide in the absence caspase-3 (Clarke et al., 2005). Identical results were shown by another group following treatment with doxorubicin (Cuvillier et al., 2001). Boehrer et al. provided evidence of caspase-7 activation by doxorubicin in Jurkat cells treated with a caspase-3 inhibitor (Boehrer et al., 2002). In the previous studies the reconstitution of caspase-3 in the MCF-7 line restored the normal pathway of apoptosis; however, this gives evidence that apoptosis can occur through caspase-7 when caspase-3 is unavailable. Staurosporine has also been found to activate apoptosis in the absence of caspase-3 (Mooney et al., 2002). This group demonstrated that breast cancer cells MCF-7 and T47D, which express endogenous caspase-3, showed a release of cytochrome c as well as apoptosis in the absence of caspase activity. Another study implicated staurosporine in caspase independent apoptosis in melanoma cells treated with TRAIL (Zhang et al., 2004). Caspase independent apoptosis was also seen in response to staurosporine by Annexin-V and nuclear morphology assays in renal proximal tubule cells (RPTC) (Cummings et al., 2004). Finally, staurosporine and etoposide demonstrated caspase independent cell death in acute lymphoid leukemia cells (Belmokhtar et al., 2001). Together these studies show that etoposide, doxorubicin, and

staurosporine, all have the ability to activate apoptosis in the absence of caspase-3. This can be through caspase-7 or in a caspase independent manner; thus providing another explanation for the conflicting results seen in the HspB2 expressing MDA-MB-231 cell experiments.

Given the controversial data obtained by chemotherapy drug-induced apoptosis, an alternative method of apoptotic induction could be utilized. Recombinant active caspase-9 could be used to activate caspase-3 apoptosis. The DEVD-AFC caspase-3 activity assay could be used along with apoptotic nuclear morphology analysis to determine the effects of HspB2 on apoptosis without using chemotherapy drugs. Recently, Lakhani and colleagues have published results from a new caspase-3/caspase-7 double knockout mouse (DKO) (Lakhani et al., 2006). Surprisingly, they have found that both caspase-3 and caspase-7 are necessary for mitochondrial apoptosis. Deletion of caspase-7 in addition to HspB2 inhibition of caspase-3 should prevent apoptosis induced by chemotherapy drugs in these cells. They should yield a similar pattern of apoptotic inhibition as the MEFs (murine embryonic fibroblasts) from the caspase-3/caspase-7 null mice. These MEFs also showed only a delay in Bax translocation and cytochrome c release given that caspase-9 activity was still functional (Lakhani et al., 2006). Therefore, if HspB2 inhibits caspase-3 activity, its concomitant expression in caspase-7 null MEFs should exhibit a similar pattern of caspase activation when compared to the DKO MEFs in response to UV irradiation or chemotherapy drugs.

Validating the HiMap prediction of a physical interaction between HspB2 and caspase-3 is a key next step. Using the MDA-MB-231 system established here, immunoprecipitation of

HspB2 could be utilized to look for association with caspase-3. One factor to consider is the previous lack of success with the immunoprecipitation experiments performed in this study. It is important to note that successful demonstration of interactions between heat shock proteins and other proteins, such as those between Hsp90 with Akt and Hsp27 with caspase-3, have been shown (Pandey et al., 2000a; Sato et al., 2000). The only commercially available antibody for HspB2 cannot be used for immunoprecipitation; therefore previous efforts were performed using a Flag antibody and Flag-tagged constructs. The creation of an antibody against HspB2 that can be used for immunoprecipitation would greatly enable efforts to establish a physiological interaction both in artificial and endogenous expressing systems. Efforts to establish an interaction by immunofluorescence were also unsuccessful as the antibody for HspB2 did not yield a clear signal and had very high background which made it impossible to determine localization. If the transient nature of chaperone protein-protein interactions is hindering experiments, a chemical crosslinker, such as dimethylsuberimidate (DMS) which as been shown to be effective for Hsp20, could be used (Chernik et al., 2007). In addition, a yeast two hybrid assay could be performed as this helped identify Beacon as a binding partner of HspB2 (Kantham et al., 2003). An artificial system of recombinant HspB2 or wild type caspase-3 in a GST-pull down could be used and protein-protein interactions could be seen by immunoblotting. An added control would be an NH₂ terminal truncation of caspase-3 that has no binding capabilities.

One factor to consider is that aB-crystallin binds to caspase-3 to exert its anti-apoptotic effects and when α B-crystallin expressing cells are treated with etoposide they are resistant to apoptosis (Kamradt et al., 2001). If αB-crystallin and HspB2 have similar mechanisms of apoptosis inhibition, then HspB2 should be able to inhibit apoptosis induced by etoposide. As stated earlier, it is likely that the HspB2 expressing MDA-MB-231 cells had lost their phenotype in these experiments. However, it is possible that α B-crystallin and HspB2 while having a similar mechanism of apoptotic inhibition also have specialized functions. Injection of aBcrystallin expressing MDA-MB-231 cells caused a significantly increased rate of tumor growth over vector control cells (Kamradt et al., 2005). Conversely, untreated HspB2 tumors grew at the same rate as untreated vector tumors (Fig 7). This suggests that α B-crystallin may have stronger anti-apoptotic effects than HspB2 and a different mechanism. To elucidate this possibility, a side by side comparison of α B-crystallin and HspB2 would provide helpful information. MDA-MB-231 cells made null for caspase-3 by shRNA or immunodepletion and wild type cells would be transfected with either α B-crystallin or HspB2. These cells would be treated with etoposide and the activation of caspases and other apoptotic regulators could be analyzed. Naturally it would be ideal to use MCF-7 cells since they already lack caspase-3; however, these cells also express both aB-crystallin and HspB2 so both would either have to be silenced or another cell line lacking both proteins and caspase-3 would need to be found. If both proteins function only to inhibit caspase-3 activity, then experiments with either protein would

yield similar findings. However, if the results are different, then these cells could be further analyzed to define their specialized functions.

To examine the expression levels of HspB2 in other types of cancer cells lines, lysates or cell lines from various sources were obtained and subjected to western analysis on SDS-PAGE gels by probing for either tubulin as a loading control, or HspB2 antibody (Fig 20). There was no evidence of HspB2 protein expression in breast cancer cell lines BT474, DY36T2, LCC6, or 2LMP. In addition, there was no expression of HspB2 in colon cancer cell lines COLO205, HT29, or SW948; pancreatic cancer cell lines BxPC3, MIAPaCa2, or PANC-1; prostate cancer cell line PC3; lung cancer cell line NCI H35; or glioma line LG11. There was HspB2 protein expression in a number of lung cancer cell lines A549, NCI H226, NCI 1299, and NCI 2122; gliomas U87MG, D54MG, U373, U251, and DiNTC. Expression levels were high in the majority of these lines with the exception of gliomas U251 and DiNTC which had very low levels of expression.

Unpublished data determined both α B-crystallin expression status and TRAIL sensitivity in these lines. HspB2 and α B-crystallin are simultaneously expressed in TRAIL-resistant cancer cell lines A549, U87MG, U373, U251, and DiNTC. They are also differentially expressed in intermediately resistant lines such as BT474, DY36T2, NCI H226, NCI 1299, and DU145. Analysis of the caspase cleavage in cell lines expressing either or both of the proteins, in addition to study of the protein complexes that HspB2 and α B-crystallin form, may shed some light on possible compensatory actions of these proteins. Although, they have been shown to form



Figure 20: Endogenous expression of HspB2 in cancer cell lines.

The endogenous expression levels of HspB2 were analyzed in various cancer cell lines. Equal concentration of whole cell lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis and probed for HspB2 and Tubulin expression.

separate complexes, HiMap did show a hypothetical interaction (Fig 19) (Suzuki et al., 1998). The lack of a HspB2- α B-crystallin complex was only shown in muscle cells, therefore it is possible that in a cancer cell, an entirely different complex is formed. The two proteins may function cooperatively to inhibit apoptosis when they are both expressed, and in situations where only one protein is available, they may compensate for each other.

4.6 POTENTIAL ALTERNATIVE MECHANISMS FOR HSpB2 IN APOPTOSIS

4.6.1 UPSTREAM APOPTOTIC INHIBITION BY HSPB2

The majority of the data presented here suggests a downstream caspase inhibition by HspB2. Similar results have been shown using small heat shock proteins α B-crystallin and Hsp27 (Kamradt et al., 2001; Pandey et al., 2000a). Using DNA fragmentation and cell death dectection ELISA, Hansen and colleagues demonstrated an inhibition of doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing Hsp27 (Hansen et al., 1999). α B-crystallin confers apoptotic resistance to etoposide and staurosporine (Kamradt et al., 2001; Mao et al., 2004). In the presence of staurosporine treatment, α B-crystallin as well as α A-crystallin inhibit Bax and Bcl-X_s translocation to the mitochondria in retinal fibroblasts (Mao et al., 2004). In the traditional model, initiator caspases-8 and -10 activate either caspase-3 directly or activate Bid to induce mitochondrial activation of caspase-3. According to this, if HspB2 inhibited caspase-3 then stimulation of the intrinsic pathway by the aforementioned chemotherapy drugs would have resulted in a decrease in apoptosis in cells expressing HspB2. Instead, the results from this experiment would suggest an inhibitory act upstream of the mitochondria even if most of the evidence points to the contrary. Still, this is easily rationalized by a phenotypic change in the MDA-MB-231 HspB2 system due to age. However, it is still possible that this data is valid, therefore advocating an upstream apoptotic inhibition.

Like *a*B-crystallin, HspB2 inhibited caspase-3 cleavage and activation; however, it also inhibited the cleavage of the initiator caspases and Bid (Fig. 3). As both caspase-8 and caspase-10 cleavage are inhibited, it is tempting to speculate that HspB2 inhibits the complete formation of the TRAIL DISC. Several efforts were exerted in order to determine if HspB2 associated with TRAIL DISC proteins to prevent full formation. Thorough attempts at immunoprecipitation of TRAIL ligand were unable to pull down the DISC. This protocol involved various amount of antibody and many different time points; however they unsuccessful. Attempts to pull down individual proteins such as HspB2, DR4, DR5, caspase-8, and FADD were also unsuccessful. Thus, as earlier stated, no definite conclusions could be drawn from this experiment and the above suggested experiments would need to be performed in order to delineate a binding partner for HspB2.

If in fact HspB2 inhibits apoptosis upstream in the extrinsic pathway and not at caspase-3, then the results from the cytochrome c release assays and tBid experiments disagree with this hypothesis. It could be that the time points chosen for the cytochrome c release western analysis and ELISA were too late to detect any inhibitory effects by HspB2. Therefore, a shorter time points should be used possibly along with a different method of analysis such as fluorescent labeling and flow cytometry. It is also possible that HspB2 can inhibit apoptosis at different points in the caspase cascade depending on the stimulus. Perhaps TRAIL, chemotherapy drugs, or tBid incite different mechanisms of HspB2 inhibition.

4.6.2 DIFFERENTIAL INHIBITION OF APOPTOSIS BY HSPB2 IN RESPONSE TO VARIOUS STIMULI

Members of the heat shock protein family have a variety of functions instigated by different stimuli. They are active in cancer and other diseases, usually to maintain proteins necessary for disease progression. Some heat shock proteins inhibit the apoptotic pathway; however this is mostly at the level of the mitochondria. There is little evidence showing heat shock proteins inhibit apoptosis at the beginning of the extrinsic pathway. Hsp90 and Hsp70 can sequester Apaf-1 and preventing apoptosome formation resulting in failure to activate downstream caspases (Pandey et al., 2000b; Zhao and Wang, 2004). Hsp90 is also able to inhibit Bid cleavage and release of cytochrome c (Zhao and Wang, 2004). Hsp70 binds to BAG-1 which binds to the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 thereby inhibiting apoptosis (Takayama et al., 1997; Takayama et al., 1995). Small heat shock protein, Hsp27, also inhibits the mitochondrial pathway in response to etoposide treatment by both cell free and leukemia and cervical cancer cell systems by binding cytochrome c following release from the mitochondria preventing apoptosome formation and subsequent activation of downstream caspases (Bruey et al., 2000). In contrast, in human leukemia and fibroblasts and murine fibroblasts, Hsp27 has no effect of apoptosome formation and inhibits apoptosis by binding to caspase-3 (Pandey et al., 2000a). It is also postulated that Hsp27 binds to and stabilizes F-actin filaments thereby preventing

translocation of Bid to the mitochondrial membrane (Paul et al., 2002). In response to both TNF α and etoposide treatment, α B-crystallin overexpression resulted in a marked reduction in apoptosis (Kamradt et al., 2001). Unlike Hsp27 and Hsp70 that inhibit caspase-9 cleavage, α B-crystallin did not. Instead, α B crystallin inhibits caspase-3 cleavage by binding to the intermediate p24 form of caspase-3 and preventing its maturation to the active state following treatment with TNF α or etoposide (Kamradt et al., 2001). Furthermore, α B-crystallin was able to inhibit apoptosis induced by TRAIL in breast cancer cells via the same mechanism (Kamradt et al., 2005).

HspB2 could have different anti-apoptotic functions in response to different stimuli and in different cell lines. To determine this, HspB2 overexpressing cells could be treated with various stimuli such as UV radiation, chemotherapy drugs, TRAIL, TNF α , and Fas and caspase activation could be studies as well as analysis of cytochrome c release. There may be differing patterns of caspase inhibition seen with each stimulus. Conversely, HspB2 could be acting at different locations in response to a single stimulus. Individual caspases and other apoptotic proteins would need to be deleted to determine if the anti-apoptotic effects of HspB2 are still visible.

4.6.3 HSPB2 INHIBITION OF CASPASE-2

If HspB2 does not inhibit caspase-3 or upstream caspase activation at the DISC, it is possible that HspB2 may also bind to another initiator caspase, caspase-2. It could also bind to

caspase-2 in addition to other anti-apoptotic functions. Caspase-2 forms a protein complex through its CARD domain similar to the apoptosome called the PIDDosome in apoptosis (Tinel and Tschopp, 2004). In the presence of caspase-8, caspase-2 associates with the Fas DISC to induce apoptosis. Through caspase activation analysis, Lavrik and colleagues have shown that caspase-2, in addition to caspase-8, is active in CD95 stimulated apoptosis (Lavrik et al., 2006). Furthermore, immunoprecipitation of the CD95 DISC showed recruitment of caspase-2; however caspase activation did not occur in the absence of caspase-8. Caspase-2 has also been implicated in TRAIL-induced apoptosis. It has been demonstrated that caspase-2 activity is dependent of levels of PKCK2 (protein kinase CK2) (Shin et al., 2005). High levels of PKCK2 inhibit the activity of caspase-2 in TRAIL treated cancer cells. When PKCK2 levels are lowered, caspase-2 processes caspase-8 thereby initiating apoptosis. In addition, caspase-2 has been linked to the activation of Bid in TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Using siRNA against caspase-2, Wagner and coworkers showed that optimal levels of Bid activity are dependent on caspase-2 activity in some cell types (Wagner et al., 2004). Interestingly, the activity of caspase-2 was found to be connected to caspase-8 and Bid activity where cleavage was absent upon caspase-8 knockdown. These studies provide evidence that caspase-2 functions upstream prior to caspase-8 activation. This would support HspB2 working to inhibit the initiator caspases; however, the majority of the data presented in this work supports inhibition of caspase-3. It has been shown that caspase-2 activation occurs after release of cytochrome c has taken place (Li et al., 1997; Mhaidat et al., 2007; O'Reilly et al., 2002; Paroni et al., 2001; Slee et al., 1999). Using MCF-7 cells with or without caspase-3, cell cycle analysis, caspase cleavage by western blotting, and recombinant caspase in vitro proteolytic assays, were used to analyze caspase-2 activation and apoptosis

induction following treatment with either UV-irradiation or TNFa (Paroni et al., 2001). Results from this study revealed that caspase-2 required caspase-9 and caspase-3 activation. They also demonstrated that caspase-7 had the ability to activate caspase-2. In Apaf-1 or caspase-9 null mouse thymocytes treated with γ -irradiation, caspase-2 activity was diminished compared to wild type cells (O'Reilly et al., 2002). Additionally, in caspase-3 immunodepleted Jurkat cells, caspase-2 activation was severely effected shown by [³⁵S]-labeled caspase activation assays (Slee et al., 1999). In these cases, caspase-2 inhibition could lead to inhibition of other caspases through a negative feedback loop. Consequently, experiments with melanoma cells treated with docetaxel showed that caspase-2 can activate caspase-3 and caspase-9 which induce caspase-8 activation, so inhibition of caspase-2 by HspB2 could directly affect caspase activation without a feed back loop (Mhaidat et al., 2007). Preliminary work demonstrated that HspB2 overexpression could inhibit cleavage of caspase-2 in response to TRAIL. Immunoprecipitation studies would need to be performed to determine if there is a physical interaction between HspB2 and caspase-2. Taken together, data exists to support the hypothesis that HspB2 could regulate apoptosis through interaction with caspase-2, and by inhibiting caspase-3 or caspase-8 cleavage.

4.6.4 PHOSPHORYLATION OF HSPB2 AND THE P38/JNK PATHWAY

It is also possible that HspB2 could have differing mechanisms of action depending on phosphorylation status. Both Hsp27 and α B-crystallin have altered functions depending on their phosphorylation state. It has been shown that Hsp27 can inhibit apoptosis upstream by binding

to Daxx which is a key protein in Fas-induced apoptosis (Yang et al., 1997). Fas binds to Daxx and activates the p38/JNK kinase cascade through apoptosis signal regulating kinase-1 (Ask-1) and induces apoptosis (Chang et al., 1998; Khelifi et al., 2005; Xia et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1997). When phosphorylated, Hsp27 binds to Daxx thereby preventing activation of JNK (Chang et al., 1998; Charette et al., 2000). α B-crystallin also has different functions depending on phosphorylation status. α B-crystallin displays inhibition of apoptosis in response to a variety of stimulants (Kamradt et al., 2001; Kamradt et al., 2002; Kamradt et al., 2005). Interestingly, when two mutant forms, R120G which is thought to cause desmin-related myopathy (DRM), and a pseudophosphorylation form 3XSE, were over expressed this apoptotic inhibition was eliminated (Kamradt et al., 2005).

Small heat shock protein, Hsp22/HspB8/H11, has many unique functions including plasma membrane association, disruption of αB-crystallin-amyloid aggregates DRM, as well as apoptotic activities (Chowdary et al., 2007; Gober et al., 2003; Sanbe et al., 2007). In contrast to other small heat shock proteins, expression of Hsp22 was found to induce apoptosis instead of inhibiting it (Gober et al., 2003). Although the actions of Hsp22 may be contrary to fellow family members, the pathways affected by it are not. Hsp22 induces apoptosis through caspases and the p38MAP kinase pathway (Gober et al., 2003). Hsp22 has been shown to have autophosphorylation capabilities and may have protein kinase activity, although this characteristic has been disputed (Gober et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2004a; Kim et al., 2004b). Additionally, another small heat shock protein, Hsp20 has been shown to inhibit apoptosis by a phosphorylation dependent block of caspase-3 activation and by stabilizing the actin

cytoskeleton in cardiomyocytes (Brophy et al., 1999; Fan et al., 2004). Hsp20 levels are increase upon beta adrenergic pathway activation and this increase protects against cardiac remodeling. Of late, this same group has linked the anti-apoptotic function of Hsp20 to Ask-1 and the p38/JNK pathway (Fan et al., 2006). This is the same pathway in which Hsp27 acts in leukemia and 293 cells (Chang et al., 1998; Khelifi et al., 2005; Schepers et al., 2005; Yang et al., 1997).

It is highly likely that HspB2 also has phosphorylation dependent functions. Mutation of the three serines in HspB2 corresponding to previous targeted serines in α B-crystallin have been designed as well one with the corresponding arginine mutation. It would be interesting to determine if these mutations in HspB2 affect its anti-apoptotic activities, and to what capacity this effect is seen. Interestingly, a PowerBlot analysis by BD Biosciences showed that the p38 pathway was also affected by HspB2 (Fig 21). The PowerBlot is a large scale western array analysis that screens, measures, and quantifies increasing and decreasing levels of proteins in submitted samples. Protein level analysis revealed that HspB2 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells caused a 3-fold increase in p38 expression compared to vector control. Furthermore, HspB2 expression yielded a 2-fold increase in p38 expression levels compared to α B-crystallin expressing cells. These results suggest that HspB2 could also affect the p38 pathway to induce apoptosis.



А

Level 10 - Changes greater than 2 fold in all 9 comparisons that are from good quality signals and pass a a visual inspection

Figure 21: Expression of HspB2 Increases Protein Expression of p38.

A Immunoblot for protein expression of MDA-MB-231 cells stably transfected with empty vector, aB crystallin, or HspB2.

B BD PowerBlot summary showing HspB2-induced protein expression of p38 compared to empty vector or aB crystallin.

Recently, Milleron and Bratton provided evidence that there may be an additional apical protease that activates apoptosis. In response to heat shock, cells deficient in caspase-8, caspase-2, or both, were still able to activate and cleave caspase-3. Additionally, this occurred without the formation of the apoptosome (Milleron and Bratton, 2006). If efforts to establish a direct interaction with caspase-3, the TRAIL DISC, or caspase-2 fail, it is possible that there exists another apical protease similar to the one described by Milleron and Bratton. Our data strongly suggests that HspB2 renders cells resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by associating with caspase-3.

4.7 Silencing HspB2

Aside from the issues and experiments proposed above, an important limitation of this study is that all of the data presented here was performed using MDA-MB-231 stably transfected cell lines. Supplementary support of the results should be performed in other cancer cell lines. It has been determined that the breast carcinoma cell lines used here, either endogenously express HspB2 or have ectopically over expressed HspB2, displayed resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Using one or more of the TRAIL sensitive cancer cell lines screened previously, cell lines that are negative for HspB2 expression should be used as a template for new stable lines to show that the results presented here are also valid in other cancer cell lines.

After solidifying the mechanism of HspB2 in apoptosis, it would be of interest to determine if deletion of HspB2 in an endogenously expressing cell line would create sensitivity to TRAIL treatment. The beginnings of this experiment have already been performed. High HspB2 expressing T47D breast carcinoma cell line was chosen and shRNA oligomers designed against HspB2 and scrambled target sequence oligomers were ligated into the pSUPER.RETRO.PURO.GFP vector. These constructs were retrovirally infected into T47D cells using the Phoenix packaging cell line. Following transfection, GFP positive cells were selected by flow cytometry and grown in the presence of puromycin to form two representative pools for each construct. HspB2 expression in these cell lines was determined by western blot analysis (Fig 22). Two shRNA oligos designed to inhibit HspB2 and surprisingly one scrambled control oligo successfully reduced expression of HspB2 protein levels. Unfortunately it was also discovered that although the sequences were specific for the HspB2 gene, they also knocked down α B-crystallin. As stated earlier, α B-crystallin and HspB2 are located adjacent to each other on the same chromosome. Since these cells could not be representative of the effects of HspB2 silencing alone, it was decided not to continue forward with subsequent experiments. A preliminary experiment was done where these cells were treated with increasing concentrations of TRAIL over the course of 4 hours. There was no increase in TRAIL sensitivity with the absence of both HspB2 and α B-crystallin. This result was unexpected, but other research has shown that T47D cells are resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis due to high expression levels of FLIP (Guseva et al., 2007; Hyer et al., 2005). Other shRNA constructs could be ordered through companies such as Dharmacon to further study the effects of inhibiting HspB2. Perhaps company made constructs would be able to knockdown HspB2 individually without affecting



Figure 22: Silencing of HspB2 in T47D breast cancer cells also causes deletion of αB-crystallin.

T47D breast carcinoma cells were retrovirally infected with shRNA constructs designed against HspB2. Empty vector controls and a scrambled sequence were also used. Lysates of infected cells were subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis using antibodies against HspB2, α B-crystallin, and tubulin.

 α B-crystallin expression. An additional approach could be immunodepletion of HspB2 from cell extracts to determine if its absence would have an effect on apoptosis.

4.8 CONCLUSION

In summary, the experiments presented here suggest an inhibitory role for HspB2 in apoptosis. Through analysis of apoptosis following treatment with TRAIL or TNF α through nuclear morphology assays and FACS, expression of HspB2 renders cells resistant to cell death in vivo confirmation of this effect was also shown through xenograft tumor growth analysis. Fluorogenic caspase activity assays show that both caspase-8 and caspase-3 activation are stunted by HspB2 expression. Furthermore, western blotting showed that there is a delay in cleavage of a wide spectrum of caspases in HspB2 transfected cells compared to vector controls. Cytochrome c release shown by two independent assays was not prevented in the presence of HspB2. Apoptosis induced by transfection of tBid was inhibited by HspB2. Taken together, these experiments propose a model whereby anti-apoptotic effects of HspB2 are due to inhibition of downstream caspases, most likely at the level of caspase-3 (Fig 23). Although contradicting evidence was also presented, proposed future studies will further delineate the mechanism. As a whole, HspB2 has an inhibitory role in apoptosis in breast cancer cells thus displaying a function separate from the role in muscular dystrophy, and shedding new light on the functions of small heat shock proteins.



Figure 23: A Proposed Mechanism for the Anti-apoptotic Activity of HspB2.

HspB2 inhibits activation of caspase-3 which causes subsequent inhibition of both the extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways through a feedback loop.

REFERENCES

Antonsson, B., Montessuit, S., Sanchez, B., and Martinou, J. C. (2001). Bax is present as a high molecular weight oligomer/complex in the mitochondrial membrane of apoptotic cells. J Biol Chem 276, 11615-11623.

Ashkenazi, A., and Dixit, V. M. (1998). Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science 281, 1305-1308.

Ashkenazi, A., and Dixit, V. M. (1999). Apoptosis control by death and decoy receptors. Curr Opin Cell Biol *11*, 255-260.

Ashkenazi, A., Pai, R. C., Fong, S., Leung, S., Lawrence, D. A., Marsters, S. A., Blackie, C., Chang, L., McMurtrey, A. E., Hebert, A., *et al.* (1999). Safety and antitumor activity of recombinant soluble Apo2 ligand. J Clin Invest *104*, 155-162.

Basha, E., Friedrich, K. L., and Vierling, E. (2006). The N-terminal arm of small heat shock proteins is important for both chaperone activity and substrate specificity. J Biol Chem 281, 39943-39952.

Beere, H. M., Wolf, B. B., Cain, K., Mosser, D. D., Mahboubi, A., Kuwana, T., Tailor, P., Morimoto, R. I., Cohen, G. M., and Green, D. R. (2000). Heat-shock protein 70 inhibits apoptosis by preventing recruitment of procaspase-9 to the Apaf-1 apoptosome. Nat Cell Biol 2, 469-475.

Belmokhtar, C. A., Hillion, J., and Segal-Bendirdjian, E. (2001). Staurosporine induces apoptosis through both caspase-dependent and caspase-independent mechanisms. Oncogene *20*, 3354-3362.

Benjamin, C. W., Hiebsch, R. R., and Jones, D. A. (1998). Caspase activation in MCF7 cells responding to etoposide treatment. Mol Pharmacol *53*, 446-450.

Bergeron, L., Perez, G. I., Macdonald, G., Shi, L., Sun, Y., Jurisicova, A., Varmuza, S., Latham, K. E., Flaws, J. A., Salter, J. C., *et al.* (1998). Defects in regulation of apoptosis in caspase-2-deficient mice. Genes Dev *12*, 1304-1314.

Boatright, K. M., Renatus, M., Scott, F. L., Sperandio, S., Shin, H., Pedersen, I. M., Ricci, J. E., Edris, W. A., Sutherlin, D. P., Green, D. R., and Salvesen, G. S. (2003). A unified model for apical caspase activation. Mol Cell *11*, 529-541.

Bodmer, J. L., Holler, N., Reynard, S., Vinciguerra, P., Schneider, P., Juo, P., Blenis, J., and Tschopp, J. (2000). TRAIL receptor-2 signals apoptosis through FADD and caspase-8. Nat Cell Biol 2, 241-243.

Boehrer, S., Chow, K. U., Beske, F., Kukoc-Zivojnov, N., Puccetti, E., Ruthardt, M., Baum, C., Rangnekar, V. M., Hoelzer, D., Mitrou, P. S., and Weidmann, E. (2002). In lymphatic cells par-4 sensitizes to apoptosis by down-regulating bcl-2 and promoting disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential and caspase activation. Cancer Res *62*, 1768-1775.

Brady, J. P., Garland, D. L., Green, D. E., Tamm, E. R., Giblin, F. J., and Wawrousek, E. F. (2001). AlphaB-crystallin in lens development and muscle integrity: a gene knockout approach. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci *42*, 2924-2934.

Brook, J. D., McCurrach, M. E., Harley, H. G., Buckler, A. J., Church, D., Aburatani, H., Hunter, K., Stanton, V. P., Thirion, J. P., Hudson, T., and et al. (1992). Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. Cell *68*, 799-808.

Brophy, C. M., Lamb, S., and Graham, A. (1999). The small heat shock-related protein-20 is an actin-associated protein. J Vasc Surg 29, 326-333.

Bruey, J. M., Ducasse, C., Bonniaud, P., Ravagnan, L., Susin, S. A., Diaz-Latoud, C., Gurbuxani, S., Arrigo, A. P., Kroemer, G., Solary, E., and Garrido, C. (2000). Hsp27 negatively regulates cell death by interacting with cytochrome c. Nat Cell Biol *2*, 645-652.

Cardone, M. H., Roy, N., Stennicke, H. R., Salvesen, G. S., Franke, T. F., Stanbridge, E., Frisch, S., and Reed, J. C. (1998). Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation. Science 282, 1318-1321.

Certo, M., Del Gaizo Moore, V., Nishino, M., Wei, G., Korsmeyer, S., Armstrong, S. A., and Letai, A. (2006). Mitochondria primed by death signals determine cellular addiction to antiapoptotic BCL-2 family members. Cancer Cell *9*, 351-365.

Cha, Y. J., Kim, H. S., Rhim, H., Kim, B. E., Jeong, S. W., and Kim, I. K. (2001). Activation of caspase-8 in 3-deazaadenosine-induced apoptosis of U-937 cells occurs downstream of caspase-3 and caspase-9 without Fas receptor-ligand interaction. Exp Mol Med *33*, 284-292.

Chang, D. W., Xing, Z., Capacio, V. L., Peter, M. E., and Yang, X. (2003). Interdimer processing mechanism of procaspase-8 activation. Embo J 22, 4132-4142.

Chang, H. Y., Nishitoh, H., Yang, X., Ichijo, H., and Baltimore, D. (1998). Activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) by the adapter protein Daxx. Science *281*, 1860-1863.

Charette, S. J., Lavoie, J. N., Lambert, H., and Landry, J. (2000). Inhibition of Daxx-mediated apoptosis by heat shock protein 27. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 7602-7612.

Chen, F., Arseven, O. K., and Cryns, V. L. (2004). Proteolysis of the mismatch repair protein MLH1 by caspase-3 promotes DNA damage-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 279, 27542-27548.

Chen, G., and Goeddel, D. V. (2002). TNF-R1 signaling: a beautiful pathway. Science 296, 1634-1635.

Chen, S., Sullivan, W. P., Toft, D. O., and Smith, D. F. (1998). Differential interactions of p23 and the TPR-containing proteins Hop, Cyp40, FKBP52 and FKBP51 with Hsp90 mutants. Cell Stress Chaperones *3*, 118-129.

Chen, Y., and Zhao, X. (1998). Shaping limbs by apoptosis. J Exp Zool 282, 691-702.

Chene, P. (2002). ATPases as drug targets: learning from their structure. Nat Rev Drug Discov 1, 665-673.

Chernik, I. S., Seit-Nebi, A. S., Marston, S. B., and Gusev, N. B. (2007). Small heat shock protein Hsp20 (HspB6) as a partner of 14-3-3gamma. Mol Cell Biochem 295, 9-17.

Chinnaiyan, A. M., Chaudhary, D., O'Rourke, K., Koonin, E. V., and Dixit, V. M. (1997a). Role of CED-4 in the activation of CED-3. Nature *388*, 728-729.

Chinnaiyan, A. M., O'Rourke, K., Lane, B. R., and Dixit, V. M. (1997b). Interaction of CED-4 with CED-3 and CED-9: a molecular framework for cell death. Science *275*, 1122-1126.

Chiosis, G. (2006). Targeting chaperones in transformed systems--a focus on Hsp90 and cancer. Expert Opin Ther Targets *10*, 37-50.

Chowdary, T. K., Raman, B., Ramakrishna, T., and Rao Ch, M. (2007). Interaction of mammalian Hsp22 with lipid membranes. Biochem J *401*, 437-445.

Clancy, L., Mruk, K., Archer, K., Woelfel, M., Mongkolsapaya, J., Screaton, G., Lenardo, M. J., and Chan, F. K. (2005). Preligand assembly domain-mediated ligand-independent association between TRAIL receptor 4 (TR4) and TR2 regulates TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 18099-18104.

Clarke, C. A., Bennett, L. N., and Clarke, P. R. (2005). Cleavage of claspin by caspase-7 during apoptosis inhibits the Chk1 pathway. J Biol Chem 280, 35337-35345.

Collier, G. R., McMillan, J. S., Windmill, K., Walder, K., Tenne-Brown, J., de Silva, A., Trevaskis, J., Jones, S., Morton, G. J., Lee, S., *et al.* (2000). Beacon: a novel gene involved in the regulation of energy balance. Diabetes *49*, 1766-1771.

Conradt, B., and Horvitz, H. R. (1998). The C. elegans protein EGL-1 is required for programmed cell death and interacts with the Bcl-2-like protein CED-9. Cell 93, 519-529.

Cummings, B. S., Kinsey, G. R., Bolchoz, L. J., and Schnellmann, R. G. (2004). Identification of caspase-independent apoptosis in epithelial and cancer cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *310*, 126-134.

Cuvillier, O., Nava, V. E., Murthy, S. K., Edsall, L. C., Levade, T., Milstien, S., and Spiegel, S. (2001). Sphingosine generation, cytochrome c release, and activation of caspase-7 in doxorubicin-induced apoptosis of MCF7 breast adenocarcinoma cells. Cell Death Differ *8*, 162-171.

Danial, N. N., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2004). Cell death: critical control points. Cell 116, 205-219.

de Jong, W. W., Caspers, G. J., and Leunissen, J. A. (1998). Genealogy of the alpha-crystallin-small heat-shock protein superfamily. Int J Biol Macromol 22, 151-162.

Debel, K., Sierralta, W. D., Braun, H. P., Schmitz, U. K., and Kloppstech, K. (1997). The 23kDa light-stress-regulated heat-shock protein of chenopodium rubrum L. is located in the mitochondria. Planta *201*, 326-333.

Degli-Esposti, M. A., Dougall, W. C., Smolak, P. J., Waugh, J. Y., Smith, C. A., and Goodwin, R. G. (1997a). The novel receptor TRAIL-R4 induces NF-kappaB and protects against TRAIL-mediated apoptosis, yet retains an incomplete death domain. Immunity *7*, 813-820.

Degli-Esposti, M. A., Smolak, P. J., Walczak, H., Waugh, J., Huang, C. P., DuBose, R. F., Goodwin, R. G., and Smith, C. A. (1997b). Cloning and characterization of TRAIL-R3, a novel member of the emerging TRAIL receptor family. J Exp Med *186*, 1165-1170.

Deveraux, Q. L., Leo, E., Stennicke, H. R., Welsh, K., Salvesen, G. S., and Reed, J. C. (1999). Cleavage of human inhibitor of apoptosis protein XIAP results in fragments with distinct specificities for caspases. Embo J *18*, 5242-5251.

Deveraux, Q. L., Roy, N., Stennicke, H. R., Van Arsdale, T., Zhou, Q., Srinivasula, S. M., Alnemri, E. S., Salvesen, G. S., and Reed, J. C. (1998). IAPs block apoptotic events induced by caspase-8 and cytochrome c by direct inhibition of distinct caspases. Embo J *17*, 2215-2223.

Deveraux, Q. L., Takahashi, R., Salvesen, G. S., and Reed, J. C. (1997). X-linked IAP is a direct inhibitor of cell-death proteases. Nature *388*, 300-304.

Djerbi, M., Darreh-Shori, T., Zhivotovsky, B., and Grandien, A. (2001). Characterization of the human FLICE-inhibitory protein locus and comparison of the anti-apoptotic activity of four different flip isoforms. Scand J Immunol *54*, 180-189.

Doerwald, L., van Rheede, T., Dirks, R. P., Madsen, O., Rexwinkel, R., van Genesen, S. T., Martens, G. J., de Jong, W. W., and Lubsen, N. H. (2004). Sequence and functional conservation of the intergenic region between the head-to-head genes encoding the small heat shock proteins alphaB-crystallin and HspB2 in the mammalian lineage. J Mol Evol *59*, 674-686.

Du, C., Fang, M., Li, Y., Li, L., and Wang, X. (2000). Smac, a mitochondrial protein that promotes cytochrome c-dependent caspase activation by eliminating IAP inhibition. Cell *102*, 33-42.

Ellis, H. M., and Horvitz, H. R. (1986). Genetic control of programmed cell death in the nematode C. elegans. Cell 44, 817-829.

Emery, J. G., McDonnell, P., Burke, M. B., Deen, K. C., Lyn, S., Silverman, C., Dul, E., Appelbaum, E. R., Eichman, C., DiPrinzio, R., *et al.* (1998). Osteoprotegerin is a receptor for the cytotoxic ligand TRAIL. J Biol Chem *273*, 14363-14367.

Enari, M., Sakahira, H., Yokoyama, H., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., and Nagata, S. (1998). A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. Nature *391*, 43-50.

Fan, C. Y., Lee, S., and Cyr, D. M. (2003). Mechanisms for regulation of Hsp70 function by Hsp40. Cell Stress Chaperones *8*, 309-316.

Fan, G. C., Chu, G., Mitton, B., Song, Q., Yuan, Q., and Kranias, E. G. (2004). Small heat-shock protein Hsp20 phosphorylation inhibits beta-agonist-induced cardiac apoptosis. Circ Res *94*, 1474-1482.

Fan, G. C., Yuan, Q., Song, G., Wang, Y., Chen, G., Qian, J., Zhou, X., Lee, Y. J., Ashraf, M., and Kranias, E. G. (2006). Small heat-shock protein Hsp20 attenuates beta-agonist-mediated cardiac remodeling through apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1. Circ Res *99*, 1233-1242.

Fontaine, J. M., Sun, X., Benndorf, R., and Welsh, M. J. (2005). Interactions of HSP22 (HSPB8) with HSP20, alphaB-crystallin, and HSPB3. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *337*, 1006-1011.

Fortugno, P., Beltrami, E., Plescia, J., Fontana, J., Pradhan, D., Marchisio, P. C., Sessa, W. C., and Altieri, D. C. (2003). Regulation of survivin function by Hsp90. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 13791-13796.

Freeman, B. C., Myers, M. P., Schumacher, R., and Morimoto, R. I. (1995). Identification of a regulatory motif in Hsp70 that affects ATPase activity, substrate binding and interaction with HDJ-1. Embo J *14*, 2281-2292.

Friedlander, R. M. (2003). Apoptosis and caspases in neurodegenerative diseases. N Engl J Med *348*, 1365-1375.

Fu, Y. H., Pizzuti, A., Fenwick, R. G., Jr., King, J., Rajnarayan, S., Dunne, P. W., Dubel, J., Nasser, G. A., Ashizawa, T., de Jong, P., and et al. (1992). An unstable triplet repeat in a gene related to myotonic muscular dystrophy. Science *255*, 1256-1258.

Gabai, V. L., Mabuchi, K., Mosser, D. D., and Sherman, M. Y. (2002). Hsp72 and stress kinase c-jun N-terminal kinase regulate the bid-dependent pathway in tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol *22*, 3415-3424.

Gaestel, M., Schroder, W., Benndorf, R., Lippmann, C., Buchner, K., Hucho, F., Erdmann, V. A., and Bielka, H. (1991). Identification of the phosphorylation sites of the murine small heat shock protein hsp25. J Biol Chem *266*, 14721-14724.

Gatchel, J. R., and Zoghbi, H. Y. (2005). Diseases of unstable repeat expansion: mechanisms and common principles. Nat Rev Genet *6*, 743-755.

Gazitt, Y. (1999). TRAIL is a potent inducer of apoptosis in myeloma cells derived from multiple myeloma patients and is not cytotoxic to hematopoietic stem cells. Leukemia *13*, 1817-1824.

Gazitt, Y., Shaughnessy, P., and Montgomery, W. (1999). Apoptosis-induced by TRAIL AND TNF-alpha in human multiple myeloma cells is not blocked by BCL-2. Cytokine *11*, 1010-1019.

Georgakis, G. V., Li, Y., Humphreys, R., Andreeff, M., O'Brien, S., Younes, M., Carbone, A., Albert, V., and Younes, A. (2005). Activity of selective fully human agonistic antibodies to the TRAIL death receptors TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2 in primary and cultured lymphoma cells: induction of apoptosis and enhancement of doxorubicin- and bortezomib-induced cell death. Br J Haematol *130*, 501-510.

Gibson, E. M., Henson, E. S., Haney, N., Villanueva, J., and Gibson, S. B. (2002). Epidermal growth factor protects epithelial-derived cells from tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by inhibiting cytochrome c release. Cancer Res *62*, 488-496.

Gober, M. D., Depre, C., and Aurelian, L. (2004). Correspondence regarding M.V. Kim et al. "Some properties of human small heat shock protein Hsp22 (H11 or HspB8)". Biochem Biophys Res Commun *321*, 267-268.

Gober, M. D., Smith, C. C., Ueda, K., Toretsky, J. A., and Aurelian, L. (2003). Forced expression of the H11 heat shock protein can be regulated by DNA methylation and trigger apoptosis in human cells. J Biol Chem 278, 37600-37609.

Golenhofen, N., Perng, M. D., Quinlan, R. A., and Drenckhahn, D. (2004). Comparison of the small heat shock proteins alphaB-crystallin, MKBP, HSP25, HSP20, and cvHSP in heart and skeletal muscle. Histochem Cell Biol *122*, 415-425.

Golks, A., Brenner, D., Fritsch, C., Krammer, P. H., and Lavrik, I. N. (2005). c-FLIPR, a new regulator of death receptor-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 280, 14507-14513.

Guseva, N. V., Rokhlin, O. W., Taghiyev, A. F., and Cohen, M. B. (2007). Unique resistance of breast carcinoma cell line T47D to TRAIL but not anti-Fas is linked to p43cFLIP(L). Breast Cancer Res Treat.

Hakem, R., Hakem, A., Duncan, G. S., Henderson, J. T., Woo, M., Soengas, M. S., Elia, A., de la Pompa, J. L., Kagi, D., Khoo, W., *et al.* (1998). Differential requirement for caspase 9 in apoptotic pathways in vivo. Cell *94*, 339-352.

Han, J., Goldstein, L. A., Gastman, B. R., and Rabinowich, H. (2006). Interrelated roles for Mcl-1 and BIM in regulation of TRAIL-mediated mitochondrial apoptosis. J Biol Chem 281, 10153-10163.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100, 57-70.

Hansen, R. K., Parra, I., Lemieux, P., Oesterreich, S., Hilsenbeck, S. G., and Fuqua, S. A. (1999). Hsp27 overexpression inhibits doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat *56*, 187-196.

Harper, N., Hughes, M., MacFarlane, M., and Cohen, G. M. (2003a). Fas-associated death domain protein and caspase-8 are not recruited to the tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 signaling complex during tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 278, 25534-25541.

Harper, N., Hughes, M. A., Farrow, S. N., Cohen, G. M., and MacFarlane, M. (2003b). Protein kinase C modulates tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by targeting the apical events of death receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 278, 44338-44347.

Helmbrecht, K., Zeise, E., and Rensing, L. (2000). Chaperones in cell cycle regulation and mitogenic signal transduction: a review. Cell Prolif *33*, 341-365.

Hengartner, M. O. (2000). The biochemistry of apoptosis. Nature 407, 770-776.

Hofmann-Radvanyi, H., Lavedan, C., Rabes, J. P., Savoy, D., Duros, C., Johnson, K., and Junien, C. (1993). Myotonic dystrophy: absence of CTG enlarged transcript in congenital forms, and low expression of the normal allele. Hum Mol Genet 2, 1263-1266.

Hyer, M. L., Croxton, R., Krajewska, M., Krajewski, S., Kress, C. L., Lu, M., Suh, N., Sporn, M. B., Cryns, V. L., Zapata, J. M., and Reed, J. C. (2005). Synthetic triterpenoids cooperate with tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand to induce apoptosis of breast cancer cells. Cancer Res *65*, 4799-4808.

Isaacs, J. S., Xu, W., and Neckers, L. (2003). Heat shock protein 90 as a molecular target for cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell *3*, 213-217.

Ito, H., Okamoto, K., Nakayama, H., Isobe, T., and Kato, K. (1997). Phosphorylation of alphaBcrystallin in response to various types of stress. J Biol Chem 272, 29934-29941.

Iwaki, A., Nagano, T., Nakagawa, M., Iwaki, T., and Fukumaki, Y. (1997). Identification and characterization of the gene encoding a new member of the alpha-crystallin/small hsp family, closely linked to the alphaB-crystallin gene in a head-to-head manner. Genomics *45*, 386-394.

Jaattela, M. (1999). Escaping cell death: survival proteins in cancer. Exp Cell Res 248, 30-43.

Jansen, G., Groenen, P. J., Bachner, D., Jap, P. H., Coerwinkel, M., Oerlemans, F., van den Broek, W., Gohlsch, B., Pette, D., Plomp, J. J., *et al.* (1996). Abnormal myotonic dystrophy protein kinase levels produce only mild myopathy in mice. Nat Genet *13*, 316-324.

Jeremias, I., Herr, I., Boehler, T., and Debatin, K. M. (1998). TRAIL/Apo-2-ligand-induced apoptosis in human T cells. Eur J Immunol 28, 143-152.

Jin, T. G., Kurakin, A., Benhaga, N., Abe, K., Mohseni, M., Sandra, F., Song, K., Kay, B. K., and Khosravi-Far, R. (2004). Fas-associated protein with death domain (FADD)-independent recruitment of c-FLIPL to death receptor 5. J Biol Chem 279, 55594-55601.

Joseph, J. T., Richards, C. S., Anthony, D. C., Upton, M., Perez-Atayde, A. R., and Greenstein, P. (1997). Congenital myotonic dystrophy pathology and somatic mosaicism. Neurology *49*, 1457-1460.

Kadono, T., Zhang, X. Q., Srinivasan, S., Ishida, H., Barry, W. H., and Benjamin, I. J. (2006). CRYAB and HSPB2 deficiency increases myocyte mitochondrial permeability transition and mitochondrial calcium uptake. J Mol Cell Cardiol *40*, 783-789.

Kamal, A., Thao, L., Sensintaffar, J., Zhang, L., Boehm, M. F., Fritz, L. C., and Burrows, F. J. (2003). A high-affinity conformation of Hsp90 confers tumour selectivity on Hsp90 inhibitors. Nature *425*, 407-410.

Kamradt, M. C., Chen, F., and Cryns, V. L. (2001). The small heat shock protein alpha Bcrystallin negatively regulates cytochrome c- and caspase-8-dependent activation of caspase-3 by inhibiting its autoproteolytic maturation. J Biol Chem 276, 16059-16063.

Kamradt, M. C., Chen, F., Sam, S., and Cryns, V. L. (2002). The small heat shock protein alpha B-crystallin negatively regulates apoptosis during myogenic differentiation by inhibiting caspase-3 activation. J Biol Chem 277, 38731-38736.

Kamradt, M. C., Lu, M., Werner, M. E., Kwan, T., Chen, F., Strohecker, A., Oshita, S., Wilkinson, J. C., Yu, C., Oliver, P. G., *et al.* (2005). The small heat shock protein alpha B-crystallin is a novel inhibitor of TRAIL-induced apoptosis that suppresses the activation of caspase-3. J Biol Chem 280, 11059-11066.

Kantham, L., Kerr-Bayles, L., Godde, N., Quick, M., Webb, R., Sunderland, T., Bond, J., Walder, K., Augert, G., and Collier, G. (2003). Beacon interacts with cdc2/cdc28-like kinases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *304*, 125-129.

Kappe, G., Franck, E., Verschuure, P., Boelens, W. C., Leunissen, J. A., and de Jong, W. W. (2003). The human genome encodes 10 alpha-crystallin-related small heat shock proteins: HspB1-10. Cell Stress Chaperones 8, 53-61.

Kato, K., Goto, S., Inaguma, Y., Hasegawa, K., Morishita, R., and Asano, T. (1994). Purification and characterization of a 20-kDa protein that is highly homologous to alpha B crystallin. J Biol Chem *269*, 15302-15309.

Kaufmann, S. H., Desnoyers, S., Ottaviano, Y., Davidson, N. E., and Poirier, G. G. (1993). Specific proteolytic cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase: an early marker of chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res *53*, 3976-3985.

Kaur, G., Belotti, D., Burger, A. M., Fisher-Nielson, K., Borsotti, P., Riccardi, E., Thillainathan, J., Hollingshead, M., Sausville, E. A., and Giavazzi, R. (2004). Antiangiogenic properties of 17-(dimethylamino)-17-demethoxygeldanamycin: an orally bioavailable heat shock protein 90 modulator. Clin Cancer Res *10*, 4813-4821.

Keane, M. M., Ettenberg, S. A., Nau, M. M., Russell, E. K., and Lipkowitz, S. (1999). Chemotherapy augments TRAIL-induced apoptosis in breast cell lines. Cancer Res *59*, 734-741.

Kelley, S. K., and Ashkenazi, A. (2004). Targeting death receptors in cancer with Apo2L/TRAIL. Curr Opin Pharmacol *4*, 333-339.

Khelifi, A. F., D'Alcontres, M. S., and Salomoni, P. (2005). Daxx is required for stress-induced cell death and JNK activation. Cell Death Differ *12*, 724-733.

Kim, H., Rafiuddin-Shah, M., Tu, H. C., Jeffers, J. R., Zambetti, G. P., Hsieh, J. J., and Cheng, E. H. (2006). Hierarchical regulation of mitochondrion-dependent apoptosis by BCL-2 subfamilies. Nat Cell Biol *8*, 1348-1358.

Kim, M. V., Seit-Nebi, A. S., and Gusev, N. B. (2004a). The problem of protein kinase activity of small heat shock protein Hsp22 (H11 or HspB8). Biochem Biophys Res Commun *325*, 649-652.

Kim, M. V., Seit-Nebi, A. S., Marston, S. B., and Gusev, N. B. (2004b). Some properties of human small heat shock protein Hsp22 (H11 or HspB8). Biochem Biophys Res Commun *315*, 796-801.

Kischkel, F. C., Lawrence, D. A., Chuntharapai, A., Schow, P., Kim, K. J., and Ashkenazi, A. (2000). Apo2L/TRAIL-dependent recruitment of endogenous FADD and caspase-8 to death receptors 4 and 5. Immunity *12*, 611-620.

Klesert, T. R., Cho, D. H., Clark, J. I., Maylie, J., Adelman, J., Snider, L., Yuen, E. C., Soriano, P., and Tapscott, S. J. (2000). Mice deficient in Six5 develop cataracts: implications for myotonic dystrophy. Nat Genet *25*, 105-109.

Klesert, T. R., Otten, A. D., Bird, T. D., and Tapscott, S. J. (1997). Trinucleotide repeat expansion at the myotonic dystrophy locus reduces expression of DMAHP. Nat Genet *16*, 402-406.

Kuida, K., Lippke, J. A., Ku, G., Harding, M. W., Livingston, D. J., Su, M. S., and Flavell, R. A. (1995). Altered cytokine export and apoptosis in mice deficient in interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. Science *267*, 2000-2003.

Kuida, K., Zheng, T. S., Na, S., Kuan, C., Yang, D., Karasuyama, H., Rakic, P., and Flavell, R. A. (1996). Decreased apoptosis in the brain and premature lethality in CPP32-deficient mice. Nature *384*, 368-372.

Kuwana, T., Bouchier-Hayes, L., Chipuk, J. E., Bonzon, C., Sullivan, B. A., Green, D. R., and Newmeyer, D. D. (2005). BH3 domains of BH3-only proteins differentially regulate Baxmediated mitochondrial membrane permeabilization both directly and indirectly. Mol Cell *17*, 525-535.

Kuwana, T., Mackey, M. R., Perkins, G., Ellisman, M. H., Latterich, M., Schneiter, R., Green, D. R., and Newmeyer, D. D. (2002). Bid, Bax, and lipids cooperate to form supramolecular openings in the outer mitochondrial membrane. Cell *111*, 331-342.

Lakhani, S. A., Masud, A., Kuida, K., Porter, G. A., Jr., Booth, C. J., Mehal, W. Z., Inayat, I., and Flavell, R. A. (2006). Caspases 3 and 7: key mediators of mitochondrial events of apoptosis. Science *311*, 847-851.

Lambert, H., Charette, S. J., Bernier, A. F., Guimond, A., and Landry, J. (1999). HSP27 multimerization mediated by phosphorylation-sensitive intermolecular interactions at the amino terminus. J Biol Chem 274, 9378-9385.

Landry, J., Chretien, P., Laszlo, A., and Lambert, H. (1991). Phosphorylation of HSP27 during development and decay of thermotolerance in Chinese hamster cells. J Cell Physiol *147*, 93-101.

Lavrik, I. N., Golks, A., Baumann, S., and Krammer, P. H. (2006). Caspase-2 is activated at the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex in the course of CD95-induced apoptosis. Blood *108*, 559-565.

LeBlanc, H., Lawrence, D., Varfolomeev, E., Totpal, K., Morlan, J., Schow, P., Fong, S., Schwall, R., Sinicropi, D., and Ashkenazi, A. (2002). Tumor-cell resistance to death receptor--induced apoptosis through mutational inactivation of the proapoptotic Bcl-2 homolog Bax. Nat Med 8, 274-281.

LeBlanc, H. N., and Ashkenazi, A. (2003). Apo2L/TRAIL and its death and decoy receptors. Cell Death Differ *10*, 66-75.

Lenne, C., Block, M. A., Garin, J., and Douce, R. (1995). Sequence and expression of the mRNA encoding HSP22, the mitochondrial small heat-shock protein in pea leaves. Biochem J *311 (Pt 3)*, 805-813.

Lewis, J., Devin, A., Miller, A., Lin, Y., Rodriguez, Y., Neckers, L., and Liu, Z. G. (2000). Disruption of hsp90 function results in degradation of the death domain kinase, receptor-

interacting protein (RIP), and blockage of tumor necrosis factor-induced nuclear factor-kappaB activation. J Biol Chem 275, 10519-10526.

Li, C. Y., Lee, J. S., Ko, Y. G., Kim, J. I., and Seo, J. S. (2000). Heat shock protein 70 inhibits apoptosis downstream of cytochrome c release and upstream of caspase-3 activation. J Biol Chem *275*, 25665-25671.

Li, H., Bergeron, L., Cryns, V., Pasternack, M. S., Zhu, H., Shi, L., Greenberg, A., and Yuan, J. (1997). Activation of caspase-2 in apoptosis. J Biol Chem 272, 21010-21017.

Li, H., Zhu, H., Xu, C. J., and Yuan, J. (1998). Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the Fas pathway of apoptosis. Cell *94*, 491-501.

Li, P., Allen, H., Banerjee, S., Franklin, S., Herzog, L., Johnston, C., McDowell, J., Paskind, M., Rodman, L., Salfeld, J., and et al. (1995). Mice deficient in IL-1 beta-converting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1 beta and resistant to endotoxic shock. Cell *80*, 401-411.

Liquori, C. L., Ricker, K., Moseley, M. L., Jacobsen, J. F., Kress, W., Naylor, S. L., Day, J. W., and Ranum, L. P. (2001). Myotonic dystrophy type 2 caused by a CCTG expansion in intron 1 of ZNF9. Science *293*, 864-867.

Liu, H., Chang, D. W., and Yang, X. (2005). Interdimer processing and linearity of procaspase-3 activation. A unifying mechanism for the activation of initiator and effector caspases. J Biol Chem 280, 11578-11582.

Liu, X., Kim, C. N., Yang, J., Jemmerson, R., and Wang, X. (1996). Induction of apoptotic program in cell-free extracts: requirement for dATP and cytochrome c. Cell *86*, 147-157.

Liu, Z., Sun, C., Olejniczak, E. T., Meadows, R. P., Betz, S. F., Oost, T., Herrmann, J., Wu, J. C., and Fesik, S. W. (2000). Structural basis for binding of Smac/DIABLO to the XIAP BIR3 domain. Nature *408*, 1004-1008.

Lorenzo, H. K., Susin, S. A., Penninger, J., and Kroemer, G. (1999). Apoptosis inducing factor (AIF): a phylogenetically old, caspase-independent effector of cell death. Cell Death Differ *6*, 516-524.

Ludwig, S., Engel, K., Hoffmeyer, A., Sithanandam, G., Neufeld, B., Palm, D., Gaestel, M., and Rapp, U. R. (1996). 3pK, a novel mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase-activated protein kinase, is targeted by three MAP kinase pathways. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 6687-6697.

Mankodi, A., Logigian, E., Callahan, L., McClain, C., White, R., Henderson, D., Krym, M., and Thornton, C. A. (2000). Myotonic dystrophy in transgenic mice expressing an expanded CUG repeat. Science 289, 1769-1773.

Mankodi, A., and Thornton, C. A. (2002). Myotonic syndromes. Curr Opin Neurol 15, 545-552.

Mao, Y. W., Liu, J. P., Xiang, H., and Li, D. W. (2004). Human alphaA- and alphaBcrystallins bind to Bax and Bcl-X(S) to sequester their translocation during staurosporineinduced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ *11*, 512-526.

Marini, P., Denzinger, S., Schiller, D., Kauder, S., Welz, S., Humphreys, R., Daniel, P. T., Jendrossek, V., Budach, W., and Belka, C. (2006). Combined treatment of colorectal tumours with agonistic TRAIL receptor antibodies HGS-ETR1 and HGS-ETR2 and radiotherapy: enhanced effects in vitro and dose-dependent growth delay in vivo. Oncogene *25*, 5145-5154.

Marsters, S. A., Pitti, R. M., Donahue, C. J., Ruppert, S., Bauer, K. D., and Ashkenazi, A. (1996). Activation of apoptosis by Apo-2 ligand is independent of FADD but blocked by CrmA. Curr Biol *6*, 750-752.

Medema, J. P., Scaffidi, C., Kischkel, F. C., Shevchenko, A., Mann, M., Krammer, P. H., and Peter, M. E. (1997). FLICE is activated by association with the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). Embo J *16*, 2794-2804.

Meng, X. W., Heldebrant, M. P., and Kaufmann, S. H. (2002). Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate inhibits death receptor-mediated apoptosis in Jurkat cells by disrupting recruitment of Fas-associated polypeptide with death domain. J Biol Chem 277, 3776-3783.

Mhaidat, N. M., Wang, Y., Kiejda, K. A., Zhang, X. D., and Hersey, P. (2007). Docetaxelinduced apoptosis in melanoma cells is dependent on activation of caspase-2. Mol Cancer Ther *6*, 752-761.

Micheau, O., Thome, M., Schneider, P., Holler, N., Tschopp, J., Nicholson, D. W., Briand, C., and Grutter, M. G. (2002). The long form of FLIP is an activator of caspase-8 at the Fas death-inducing signaling complex. J Biol Chem 277, 45162-45171.

Milleron, R. S., and Bratton, S. B. (2006). Heat shock induces apoptosis independently of any known initiator caspase-activating complex. J Biol Chem 281, 16991-17000.

Mooney, L. M., Al-Sakkaf, K. A., Brown, B. L., and Dobson, P. R. (2002). Apoptotic mechanisms in T47D and MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Br J Cancer *87*, 909-917.

Morrison, L. E., Whittaker, R. J., Klepper, R. E., Wawrousek, E. F., and Glembotski, C. C. (2004). Roles for alphaB-crystallin and HSPB2 in protecting the myocardium from ischemia-reperfusion-induced damage in a KO mouse model. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 286, H847-855.

Morrow, G., Inaguma, Y., Kato, K., and Tanguay, R. M. (2000). The small heat shock protein Hsp22 of Drosophila melanogaster is a mitochondrial protein displaying oligomeric organization. J Biol Chem 275, 31204-31210.
Nakagawa, M., Tsujimoto, N., Nakagawa, H., Iwaki, T., Fukumaki, Y., and Iwaki, A. (2001). Association of HSPB2, a member of the small heat shock protein family, with mitochondria. Exp Cell Res *271*, 161-168.

Nakagawa, T., Zhu, H., Morishima, N., Li, E., Xu, J., Yankner, B. A., and Yuan, J. (2000). Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid-beta. Nature *403*, 98-103.

Neckers, L. (2002). Hsp90 inhibitors as novel cancer chemotherapeutic agents. Trends Mol Med 8, S55-61.

Neckers, L., and Ivy, S. P. (2003). Heat shock protein 90. Curr Opin Oncol 15, 419-424.

Neckers, L., Schulte, T. W., and Mimnaugh, E. (1999). Geldanamycin as a potential anti-cancer agent: its molecular target and biochemical activity. Invest New Drugs *17*, 361-373.

Nimmanapalli, R., O'Bryan, E., and Bhalla, K. (2001). Geldanamycin and its analogue 17allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin lowers Bcr-Abl levels and induces apoptosis and differentiation of Bcr-Abl-positive human leukemic blasts. Cancer Res *61*, 1799-1804.

Novelli, G., Gennarelli, M., Zelano, G., Pizzuti, A., Fattorini, C., Caskey, C. T., and Dallapiccola, B. (1993). Failure in detecting mRNA transcripts from the mutated allele in myotonic dystrophy muscle. Biochem Mol Biol Int *29*, 291-297.

O'Reilly, L. A., Ekert, P., Harvey, N., Marsden, V., Cullen, L., Vaux, D. L., Hacker, G., Magnusson, C., Pakusch, M., Cecconi, F., *et al.* (2002). Caspase-2 is not required for thymocyte or neuronal apoptosis even though cleavage of caspase-2 is dependent on both Apaf-1 and caspase-9. Cell Death Differ *9*, 832-841.

Ortiz-Ferron, G., Tait, S. W., Robledo, G., de Vries, E., Borst, J., and Lopez-Rivas, A. (2006). The mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway can inhibit TRAIL-induced apoptosis by prohibiting association of truncated Bid with mitochondria. Cell Death Differ.

Pan, G., O'Rourke, K., Chinnaiyan, A. M., Gentz, R., Ebner, R., Ni, J., and Dixit, V. M. (1997). The receptor for the cytotoxic ligand TRAIL. Science 276, 111-113.

Pandey, P., Farber, R., Nakazawa, A., Kumar, S., Bharti, A., Nalin, C., Weichselbaum, R., Kufe, D., and Kharbanda, S. (2000a). Hsp27 functions as a negative regulator of cytochrome c-dependent activation of procaspase-3. Oncogene *19*, 1975-1981.

Pandey, P., Saleh, A., Nakazawa, A., Kumar, S., Srinivasula, S. M., Kumar, V., Weichselbaum, R., Nalin, C., Alnemri, E. S., Kufe, D., and Kharbanda, S. (2000b). Negative regulation of cytochrome c-mediated oligomerization of Apaf-1 and activation of procaspase-9 by heat shock protein 90. Embo J *19*, 4310-4322.

Paroni, G., Henderson, C., Schneider, C., and Brancolini, C. (2001). Caspase-2-induced apoptosis is dependent on caspase-9, but its processing during UV- or tumor necrosis factor-dependent cell death requires caspase-3. J Biol Chem 276, 21907-21915.

Pattison, L. R., Kotter, M. R., Fraga, D., and Bonelli, R. M. (2006). Apoptotic cascades as possible targets for inhibiting cell death in Huntington's disease. J Neurol 253, 1137-1142.

Paul, C., Manero, F., Gonin, S., Kretz-Remy, C., Virot, S., and Arrigo, A. P. (2002). Hsp27 as a negative regulator of cytochrome C release. Mol Cell Biol 22, 816-834.

Pechan, P. M. (1991). Heat shock proteins and cell proliferation. FEBS Lett 280, 1-4.

Pennica, D., Nedwin, G. E., Hayflick, J. S., Seeburg, P. H., Derynck, R., Palladino, M. A., Kohr, W. J., Aggarwal, B. B., and Goeddel, D. V. (1984). Human tumour necrosis factor: precursor structure, expression and homology to lymphotoxin. Nature *312*, 724-729.

Pitti, R. M., Marsters, S. A., Ruppert, S., Donahue, C. J., Moore, A., and Ashkenazi, A. (1996). Induction of apoptosis by Apo-2 ligand, a new member of the tumor necrosis factor cytokine family. J Biol Chem 271, 12687-12690.

Plesofsky-Vig, N., and Brambl, R. (1990). Gene sequence and analysis of hsp30, a small heat shock protein of Neurospora crassa which associates with mitochondria. J Biol Chem 265, 15432-15440.

Pratt, W. B., Galigniana, M. D., Harrell, J. M., and DeFranco, D. B. (2004). Role of hsp90 and the hsp90-binding immunophilins in signalling protein movement. Cell Signal *16*, 857-872.

Pratt, W. B., and Toft, D. O. (2003). Regulation of signaling protein function and trafficking by the hsp90/hsp70-based chaperone machinery. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 228, 111-133.

Press, M. F., Bernstein, L., Thomas, P. A., Meisner, L. F., Zhou, J. Y., Ma, Y., Hung, G., Robinson, R. A., Harris, C., El-Naggar, A., *et al.* (1997). HER-2/neu gene amplification characterized by fluorescence in situ hybridization: poor prognosis in node-negative breast carcinomas. J Clin Oncol *15*, 2894-2904.

Prodromou, C., Roe, S. M., O'Brien, R., Ladbury, J. E., Piper, P. W., and Pearl, L. H. (1997). Identification and structural characterization of the ATP/ADP-binding site in the Hsp90 molecular chaperone. Cell *90*, 65-75.

Pukac, L., Kanakaraj, P., Humphreys, R., Alderson, R., Bloom, M., Sung, C., Riccobene, T., Johnson, R., Fiscella, M., Mahoney, A., *et al.* (2005). HGS-ETR1, a fully human TRAIL-receptor 1 monoclonal antibody, induces cell death in multiple tumour types in vitro and in vivo. Br J Cancer *92*, 1430-1441.

Qin, Z. S., McCue, L. A., Thompson, W., Mayerhofer, L., Lawrence, C. E., and Liu, J. S. (2003). Identification of co-regulated genes through Bayesian clustering of predicted regulatory binding sites. Nat Biotechnol *21*, 435-439.

Rane, M. J., Pan, Y., Singh, S., Powell, D. W., Wu, R., Cummins, T., Chen, Q., McLeish, K. R., and Klein, J. B. (2003). Heat shock protein 27 controls apoptosis by regulating Akt activation. J Biol Chem 278, 27828-27835.

Rasper, D. M., Vaillancourt, J. P., Hadano, S., Houtzager, V. M., Seiden, I., Keen, S. L., Tawa, P., Xanthoudakis, S., Nasir, J., Martindale, D., *et al.* (1998). Cell death attenuation by 'Usurpin', a mammalian DED-caspase homologue that precludes caspase-8 recruitment and activation by the CD-95 (Fas, APO-1) receptor complex. Cell Death Differ *5*, 271-288.

Ravagnan, L., Gurbuxani, S., Susin, S. A., Maisse, C., Daugas, E., Zamzami, N., Mak, T., Jaattela, M., Penninger, J. M., Garrido, C., and Kroemer, G. (2001). Heat-shock protein 70 antagonizes apoptosis-inducing factor. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 839-843.

Reddy, S., Smith, D. B., Rich, M. M., Leferovich, J. M., Reilly, P., Davis, B. M., Tran, K., Rayburn, H., Bronson, R., Cros, D., *et al.* (1996). Mice lacking the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase develop a late onset progressive myopathy. Nat Genet *13*, 325-335.

Reed, J. C. (2006). Proapoptotic multidomain Bcl-2/Bax-family proteins: mechanisms, physiological roles, and therapeutic opportunities. Cell Death Differ *13*, 1378-1386.

Rhodes, D. R., Tomlins, S. A., Varambally, S., Mahavisno, V., Barrette, T., Kalyana-Sundaram, S., Ghosh, D., Pandey, A., and Chinnaiyan, A. M. (2005). Probabilistic model of the human protein-protein interaction network. Nat Biotechnol *23*, 951-959.

Ricci, M. S., Kim, S. H., Ogi, K., Plastaras, J. P., Ling, J., Wang, W., Jin, Z., Liu, Y. Y., Dicker, D. T., Chiao, P. J., *et al.* (2007). Reduction of TRAIL-Induced Mcl-1 and cIAP2 by c-Myc or Sorafenib Sensitizes Resistant Human Cancer Cells to TRAIL-Induced Death. Cancer Cell *12*, 66-80.

Ries, L., Melbert, D, Krapcho, M, Mariotto, A, Miller, BA, Feuer, EJ, Clegg, L, Horner, MJ, Howlader, N, Eisner, MP, Reichman, M, Edwards, BK (eds). (2007). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2004, National Cancer Institute (Bethesda, MD).

Rogalla, T., Ehrnsperger, M., Preville, X., Kotlyarov, A., Lutsch, G., Ducasse, C., Paul, C., Wieske, M., Arrigo, A. P., Buchner, J., and Gaestel, M. (1999). Regulation of Hsp27 oligomerization, chaperone function, and protective activity against oxidative stress/tumor necrosis factor alpha by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 274, 18947-18956.

Saleh, A., Srinivasula, S. M., Balkir, L., Robbins, P. D., and Alnemri, E. S. (2000). Negative regulation of the Apaf-1 apoptosome by Hsp70. Nat Cell Biol 2, 476-483.

Salvesen, G. S., and Dixit, V. M. (1999). Caspase activation: the induced-proximity model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 10964-10967.

Sanbe, A., Yamauchi, J., Miyamoto, Y., Fujiwara, Y., Murabe, M., and Tanoue, A. (2007). Interruption of CryAB-amyloid oligomer formation by HSP22. J Biol Chem 282, 555-563.

Sarkar, P. S., Appukuttan, B., Han, J., Ito, Y., Ai, C., Tsai, W., Chai, Y., Stout, J. T., and Reddy, S. (2000). Heterozygous loss of Six5 in mice is sufficient to cause ocular cataracts. Nat Genet 25, 110-114.

Sato, S., Fujita, N., and Tsuruo, T. (2000). Modulation of Akt kinase activity by binding to Hsp90. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 10832-10837.

Schepers, H., Geugien, M., van der Toorn, M., Bryantsev, A. L., Kampinga, H. H., Eggen, B. J., and Vellenga, E. (2005). HSP27 protects AML cells against VP-16-induced apoptosis through modulation of p38 and c-Jun. Exp Hematol *33*, 660-670.

Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S., Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., Hartl, F. U., and Moarefi, I. (2000). Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70-Hsp90 multichaperone machine. Cell *101*, 199-210.

Schulte, T. W., Akinaga, S., Soga, S., Sullivan, W., Stensgard, B., Toft, D., and Neckers, L. M. (1998). Antibiotic radicicol binds to the N-terminal domain of Hsp90 and shares important biologic activities with geldanamycin. Cell Stress Chaperones *3*, 100-108.

Schultz, D. R., and Harrington, W. J., Jr. (2003). Apoptosis: programmed cell death at a molecular level. Semin Arthritis Rheum *32*, 345-369.

Schultz, J., Jones, T., Bork, P., Sheer, D., Blencke, S., Steyrer, S., Wellbrock, U., Bevec, D., Ullrich, A., and Wallasch, C. (2001). Molecular characterization of a cDNA encoding functional human CLK4 kinase and localization to chromosome 5q35 [correction of 4q35]. Genomics *71*, 368-370.

Scorrano, L., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2003). Mechanisms of cytochrome c release by proapoptotic BCL-2 family members. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *304*, 437-444.

Seol, D. W., Li, J., Seol, M. H., Park, S. Y., Talanian, R. V., and Billiar, T. R. (2001). Signaling events triggered by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL): caspase-8 is required for TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res *61*, 1138-1143.

Sharp, D. A., Lawrence, D. A., and Ashkenazi, A. (2005). Selective knockdown of the long variant of cellular FLICE inhibitory protein augments death receptor-mediated caspase-8 activation and apoptosis. J Biol Chem 280, 19401-19409.

Sheridan, J. P., Marsters, S. A., Pitti, R. M., Gurney, A., Skubatch, M., Baldwin, D., Ramakrishnan, L., Gray, C. L., Baker, K., Wood, W. I., *et al.* (1997). Control of TRAIL-induced apoptosis by a family of signaling and decoy receptors. Science *277*, 818-821.

Shi, Y. (2002). Mechanisms of caspase activation and inhibition during apoptosis. Mol Cell 9, 459-470.

Shin, S., Lee, Y., Kim, W., Ko, H., Choi, H., and Kim, K. (2005). Caspase-2 primes cancer cells for TRAIL-mediated apoptosis by processing procaspase-8. Embo J *24*, 3532-3542.

Slee, E. A., Harte, M. T., Kluck, R. M., Wolf, B. B., Casiano, C. A., Newmeyer, D. D., Wang, H. G., Reed, J. C., Nicholson, D. W., Alnemri, E. S., *et al.* (1999). Ordering the cytochrome c-initiated caspase cascade: hierarchical activation of caspases-2, -3, -6, -7, -8, and -10 in a caspase-9-dependent manner. J Cell Biol *144*, 281-292.

Soderstrom, T. S., Poukkula, M., Holmstrom, T. H., Heiskanen, K. M., and Eriksson, J. E. (2002). Mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling in activated T cells abrogates TRAIL-induced apoptosis upstream of the mitochondrial amplification loop and caspase-8. J Immunol *169*, 2851-2860.

Sohn, D., Schulze-Osthoff, K., and Janicke, R. U. (2005). Caspase-8 can be activated by interchain proteolysis without receptor-triggered dimerization during drug-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 280, 5267-5273.

Solit, D. B., Zheng, F. F., Drobnjak, M., Munster, P. N., Higgins, B., Verbel, D., Heller, G., Tong, W., Cordon-Cardo, C., Agus, D. B., *et al.* (2002). 17-Allylamino-17demethoxygeldanamycin induces the degradation of androgen receptor and HER-2/neu and inhibits the growth of prostate cancer xenografts. Clin Cancer Res *8*, 986-993.

Sprick, M. R., Rieser, E., Stahl, H., Grosse-Wilde, A., Weigand, M. A., and Walczak, H. (2002). Caspase-10 is recruited to and activated at the native TRAIL and CD95 death-inducing signalling complexes in a FADD-dependent manner but can not functionally substitute caspase-8. Embo J *21*, 4520-4530.

Stankiewicz, A. R., Lachapelle, G., Foo, C. P., Radicioni, S. M., and Mosser, D. D. (2005). Hsp70 inhibits heat-induced apoptosis upstream of mitochondria by preventing Bax translocation. J Biol Chem 280, 38729-38739.

Stebbins, C. E., Russo, A. A., Schneider, C., Rosen, N., Hartl, F. U., and Pavletich, N. P. (1997). Crystal structure of an Hsp90-geldanamycin complex: targeting of a protein chaperone by an antitumor agent. Cell *89*, 239-250.

Stokoe, D., Engel, K., Campbell, D. G., Cohen, P., and Gaestel, M. (1992). Identification of MAPKAP kinase 2 as a major enzyme responsible for the phosphorylation of the small mammalian heat shock proteins. FEBS Lett *313*, 307-313.

Strasser, A., O'Connor, L., and Dixit, V. M. (2000). Apoptosis signaling. Annu Rev Biochem 69, 217-245.

Sugiyama, Y., Suzuki, A., Kishikawa, M., Akutsu, R., Hirose, T., Waye, M. M., Tsui, S. K., Yoshida, S., and Ohno, S. (2000). Muscle develops a specific form of small heat shock protein complex composed of MKBP/HSPB2 and HSPB3 during myogenic differentiation. J Biol Chem 275, 1095-1104.

Susin, S. A., Lorenzo, H. K., Zamzami, N., Marzo, I., Snow, B. E., Brothers, G. M., Mangion, J., Jacotot, E., Costantini, P., Loeffler, M., *et al.* (1999). Molecular characterization of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor. Nature *397*, 441-446.

Susin, S. A., Zamzami, N., Castedo, M., Hirsch, T., Marchetti, P., Macho, A., Daugas, E., Geuskens, M., and Kroemer, G. (1996). Bcl-2 inhibits the mitochondrial release of an apoptogenic protease. J Exp Med *184*, 1331-1341.

Suzuki, A., Sugiyama, Y., Hayashi, Y., Nyu-i, N., Yoshida, M., Nonaka, I., Ishiura, S., Arahata, K., and Ohno, S. (1998). MKBP, a novel member of the small heat shock protein family, binds and activates the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase. J Cell Biol *140*, 1113-1124.

Swamynathan, S. K., and Piatigorsky, J. (2002). Orientation-dependent influence of an intergenic enhancer on the promoter activity of the divergently transcribed mouse Shsp/alpha B-crystallin and Mkbp/HspB2 genes. J Biol Chem 277, 49700-49706.

Takayama, S., Bimston, D. N., Matsuzawa, S., Freeman, B. C., Aime-Sempe, C., Xie, Z., Morimoto, R. I., and Reed, J. C. (1997). BAG-1 modulates the chaperone activity of Hsp70/Hsc70. Embo J *16*, 4887-4896.

Takayama, S., Sato, T., Krajewski, S., Kochel, K., Irie, S., Millan, J. A., and Reed, J. C. (1995). Cloning and functional analysis of BAG-1: a novel Bcl-2-binding protein with anti-cell death activity. Cell *80*, 279-284.

Tang, D., Lahti, J. M., and Kidd, V. J. (2000). Caspase-8 activation and bid cleavage contribute to MCF7 cellular execution in a caspase-3-dependent manner during staurosporine-mediated apoptosis. J Biol Chem *275*, 9303-9307.

Taylor, R. P., and Benjamin, I. J. (2005). Small heat shock proteins: a new classification scheme in mammals. J Mol Cell Cardiol *38*, 433-444.

Tewari, M., Quan, L. T., O'Rourke, K., Desnoyers, S., Zeng, Z., Beidler, D. R., Poirier, G. G., Salvesen, G. S., and Dixit, V. M. (1995). Yama/CPP32 beta, a mammalian homolog of CED-3, is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. Cell *81*, 801-809.

Thornton, C. A., Wymer, J. P., Simmons, Z., McClain, C., and Moxley, R. T., 3rd (1997). Expansion of the myotonic dystrophy CTG repeat reduces expression of the flanking DMAHP gene. Nat Genet *16*, 407-409.

Tibbetts, M. D., Zheng, L., and Lenardo, M. J. (2003). The death effector domain protein family: regulators of cellular homeostasis. Nat Immunol *4*, 404-409.

Tinel, A., and Tschopp, J. (2004). The PIDDosome, a protein complex implicated in activation of caspase-2 in response to genotoxic stress. Science *304*, 843-846.

Uren, R. T., Dewson, G., Chen, L., Coyne, S. C., Huang, D. C., Adams, J. M., and Kluck, R. M. (2007). Mitochondrial permeabilization relies on BH3 ligands engaging multiple prosurvival Bcl-2 relatives, not Bak. J Cell Biol *177*, 277-287.

Varfolomeev, E., Maecker, H., Sharp, D., Lawrence, D., Renz, M., Vucic, D., and Ashkenazi, A. (2005). Molecular determinants of kinase pathway activation by Apo2 ligand/tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. J Biol Chem *280*, 40599-40608.

Varfolomeev, E. E., Schuchmann, M., Luria, V., Chiannilkulchai, N., Beckmann, J. S., Mett, I. L., Rebrikov, D., Brodianski, V. M., Kemper, O. C., Kollet, O., *et al.* (1998). Targeted disruption of the mouse Caspase 8 gene ablates cell death induction by the TNF receptors, Fas/Apo1, and DR3 and is lethal prenatally. Immunity 9, 267-276.

Vaux, D. L., and Strasser, A. (1996). The molecular biology of apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 2239-2244.

Verhagen, A. M., Ekert, P. G., Pakusch, M., Silke, J., Connolly, L. M., Reid, G. E., Moritz, R. L., Simpson, R. J., and Vaux, D. L. (2000). Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein that promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins. Cell *102*, 43-53.

Vilenchik, M., Solit, D., Basso, A., Huezo, H., Lucas, B., He, H., Rosen, N., Spampinato, C., Modrich, P., and Chiosis, G. (2004). Targeting wide-range oncogenic transformation via PU24FCl, a specific inhibitor of tumor Hsp90. Chem Biol *11*, 787-797.

Viswanath, V., Wu, Y., Boonplueang, R., Chen, S., Stevenson, F. F., Yantiri, F., Yang, L., Beal, M. F., and Andersen, J. K. (2001). Caspase-9 activation results in downstream caspase-8 activation and bid cleavage in 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci *21*, 9519-9528.

Wagner, K. W., Engels, I. H., and Deveraux, Q. L. (2004). Caspase-2 can function upstream of bid cleavage in the TRAIL apoptosis pathway. J Biol Chem 279, 35047-35052.

Wajant, H. (2003). Targeting the FLICE Inhibitory Protein (FLIP) in cancer therapy. Mol Interv *3*, 124-127.

Walczak, H., Degli-Esposti, M. A., Johnson, R. S., Smolak, P. J., Waugh, J. Y., Boiani, N., Timour, M. S., Gerhart, M. J., Schooley, K. A., Smith, C. A., *et al.* (1997). TRAIL-R2: a novel apoptosis-mediating receptor for TRAIL. Embo J *16*, 5386-5397.

Walczak, H., Miller, R. E., Ariail, K., Gliniak, B., Griffith, T. S., Kubin, M., Chin, W., Jones, J., Woodward, A., Le, T., *et al.* (1999). Tumoricidal activity of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in vivo. Nat Med *5*, 157-163.

Wang, S., Miura, M., Jung, Y. K., Zhu, H., Li, E., and Yuan, J. (1998). Murine caspase-11, an ICE-interacting protease, is essential for the activation of ICE. Cell *92*, 501-509.

Wei, M. C., Lindsten, T., Mootha, V. K., Weiler, S., Gross, A., Ashiya, M., Thompson, C. B., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2000). tBID, a membrane-targeted death ligand, oligomerizes BAK to release cytochrome c. Genes Dev *14*, 2060-2071.

Wiley, S. R., Schooley, K., Smolak, P. J., Din, W. S., Huang, C. P., Nicholl, J. K., Sutherland, G. R., Smith, T. D., Rauch, C., Smith, C. A., and et al. (1995). Identification and characterization of a new member of the TNF family that induces apoptosis. Immunity *3*, 673-682.

Williams, A. C., Smartt, H., AM, H. Z., Macfarlane, M., Paraskeva, C., and Collard, T. J. (2007). Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 (IGFBP-3) potentiates TRAIL-induced apoptosis of human colorectal carcinoma cells through inhibition of NF-kappaB. Cell Death Differ *14*, 137-145.

Willis, S. N., Fletcher, J. I., Kaufmann, T., van Delft, M. F., Chen, L., Czabotar, P. E., Ierino, H., Lee, E. F., Fairlie, W. D., Bouillet, P., *et al.* (2007). Apoptosis initiated when BH3 ligands engage multiple Bcl-2 homologs, not Bax or Bak. Science *315*, 856-859.

Wu, G., Chai, J., Suber, T. L., Wu, J. W., Du, C., Wang, X., and Shi, Y. (2000). Structural basis of IAP recognition by Smac/DIABLO. Nature 408, 1008-1012.

Xia, Z., Dickens, M., Raingeaud, J., Davis, R. J., and Greenberg, M. E. (1995). Opposing effects of ERK and JNK-p38 MAP kinases on apoptosis. Science 270, 1326-1331.

Xue, L. Y., Chiu, S. M., and Oleinick, N. L. (2003). Staurosporine-induced death of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells: a distinction between caspase-3-dependent steps of apoptosis and the critical lethal lesions. Exp Cell Res *283*, 135-145.

Yang, Q. H., Church-Hajduk, R., Ren, J., Newton, M. L., and Du, C. (2003). Omi/HtrA2 catalytic cleavage of inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) irreversibly inactivates IAPs and facilitates caspase activity in apoptosis. Genes Dev *17*, 1487-1496.

Yang, S., Thor, A. D., Edgerton, S., and Yang, X. (2006). Caspase-3 mediated feedback activation of apical caspases in doxorubicin and TNF-alpha induced apoptosis. Apoptosis *11*, 1987-1997.

Yang, X., Khosravi-Far, R., Chang, H. Y., and Baltimore, D. (1997). Daxx, a novel Fasbinding protein that activates JNK and apoptosis. Cell 89, 1067-1076.

Yuan, J., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S., Ellis, H. M., and Horvitz, H. R. (1993). The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme. Cell *75*, 641-652.

Zaarur, N., Gabai, V. L., Porco, J. A., Jr., Calderwood, S., and Sherman, M. Y. (2006). Targeting heat shock response to sensitize cancer cells to proteasome and Hsp90 inhibitors. Cancer Res *66*, 1783-1791.

Zantema, A., Verlaan-De Vries, M., Maasdam, D., Bol, S., and van der Eb, A. (1992). Heat shock protein 27 and alpha B-crystallin can form a complex, which dissociates by heat shock. J Biol Chem 267, 12936-12941.

Zhang, X. D., Borrow, J. M., Zhang, X. Y., Nguyen, T., and Hersey, P. (2003). Activation of ERK1/2 protects melanoma cells from TRAIL-induced apoptosis by inhibiting Smac/DIABLO release from mitochondria. Oncogene *22*, 2869-2881.

Zhang, X. D., Gillespie, S. K., and Hersey, P. (2004). Staurosporine induces apoptosis of melanoma by both caspase-dependent and -independent apoptotic pathways. Mol Cancer Ther *3*, 187-197.

Zhao, C., and Wang, E. (2004). Heat shock protein 90 suppresses tumor necrosis factor alpha induced apoptosis by preventing the cleavage of Bid in NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Cell Signal *16*, 313-321.

Zheng, T. S., Hunot, S., Kuida, K., Momoi, T., Srinivasan, A., Nicholson, D. W., Lazebnik, Y., and Flavell, R. A. (2000). Deficiency in caspase-9 or caspase-3 induces compensatory caspase activation. Nat Med *6*, 1241-1247.

Zou, H., Li, Y., Liu, X., and Wang, X. (1999). An APAF-1.cytochrome c multimeric complex is a functional apoptosome that activates procaspase-9. J Biol Chem 274, 11549-11556.